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ABOUT CHINA GAS

China Gas Holdings Limited (“China Gas”, stock code: 384)
is a natural gas services operator, principally engaged
in the investment, construction and management of city
gas pipeline infrastructure, distribution of natural gas
and LPG to residential, industrial and commercial users,
construction and operation of oil stations and gas stations,
and development and application of oil, natural gas and
LPG related technologies.
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FY2009

FY2002 Entered into the
LPG industry

Establ ished Having identified a large population in
‘ . . China who resided in the suburban and
China Gas was estaplished in 2002 and rural areas and would not have access

embarked on a rapid growth of natural to natural gas supply, China Gas
ezselses lyCulzt entered into the LPG industry with the

ambition of becoming a leading vertically
integrated LPG supplier in China.
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FY2010

FY2012

Natural gas business
emerged into

organic growth

With the most number of city gas
concessions in its portfolio, China
Gas’ natural gas business emerged
into organic growth, leading to reduced

capital expenditure and increased
connections and gas sale in its cities.

To strengthen
natural gas organic
growth and achieve
LPG integration

In this FY2012, China Gas will further
strengthen the organic growth of its
existing city gas portfolio through its new
"Hub-Satellite” investment initiatives and
also its enhanced CNG/LNG refuelling
rollout. China Gas will enter into the LPG
retail market this year, and achieve its
LPG business integration in China.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Performance 2011 2010 (restated) Change
for the year ended 31 March HK$’000 HK$’000
Turnover 15,861,880 10,211,959 55.33%
Gross profit 2,910,472 2,116,292 37.53%
Profit for the year 781,322 1,015,501 —23.06%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 625,896 875,636 -28.52%
Basic EPS (in HK cents) 16.31 26.19 -37.72%
Core earnings* 827,405 590,085 40.22%
Core earnings attributable to owners of 671,979 450,220 49.26%

the Company
Core basic EPS (in HK cents) 17.51 13.46 30.09%
Total assets 30,886,528 22,997,594 34.30%
Cash and bank balance 6,729,033 4,361,419 54.29%
Shareholders’ equity 8,764,676 4,123,022 112.58%
Final dividend per share (in HK cents) 2.2 1.7 29.41%
EBIT 1,778,150 1,270,881 39.91%
EBITDA 2,426,116 1,765,568 37.41%
*Note: excluding non-cash and non-operating items
Key Financial Indicators
for the year ended 31 March 2011 2010
Average finance costs 4.2% 4.3%
Current ratio (times) 1.17 1.10
Gross profit margin 18.3% 20.7%
Net gearing ratio 0.48 1.24
Net profit margin 4.9% 9.9%
Payout ratio (%) 13.5% 6.5%
Return on average equity 9.7% 23.8%
Turnover Breakdown

Definitions:

14.8%

3.1%

40.1%
42.0%

Debt Maturity Profile

23.0%

5.0%

32.0%
40.0%

© Connection fee
® Sale of Piped gas
® Sale of LPG

® Other Sales

©® Less than one year
@ From first year to second year

® From second year to fifth year
o More than five years
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e Average finance costs
Interest expenses/average borrowing for the year

e Current ratio
Current assets/Current liabilities

e Gross profit margin
Gross profit/Turnover

* Net gearing ratio
Net borrowing/Shareholders’ funds, excluding LPG trade
finance related facilities

e Net profit margin
Net profit for the year/Turnover

e Payout ratio
Dividend per share/Earnings per share

e Return on average equity
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company/
Average equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company




OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Operational Performance

for the year ended 31 March 2011 2010 Change
million m3 million m?®

Gas sales volume
Natural gas 4,452.4 3,380.0 31.73%
Coal gas & LPG 162.4 212.4 —23.52%

Sales of piped natural gas
Residential 568.7 3921 45.04%
Industrial 3,011.1 2,408.2 25.30%
Commerical 492.8 338.0 45.80%
CNG stations 379.8 246.7 53.95%

New Connections

for the year ended 31 March 2011 2010 Change
Residential 901,982 657,907 37.1%
Industrial 254 323 -21.4%
Commerical 3,680 3,825 -3.8%
CNG stations 14 31 -54.8%

Customers (No. of users)

for the year ended 31 March 2011 2010 Change
Residential 6,078,806 4,837,436 25.66%
Industrial 1,270 810 56.79%
Commerical 37,470 33,476 11.93%
CNG stations 105 91 15.38%

Urban population covered 59,165,950 55,918,375 5.81%

Penetration rate (%) 33.40% 30.30% 10.23%

Average connection fees (RMB) 2,454 2,368 3.63%

Average tariffs (ex-tax)

for the year ended 31 March 2011 2010 Change

RMB RMB

Residential 2.15 1.88 14.36%
Industrial 2.29 2.09 9.57%
Commerical 2.35 213 10.33%
CNG stations 2,72 217 25.35%
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

Operational Connectable| Accumulated| Accumulated| Accumulated Length of Pipelines (km) Operational Total Urban| Connectable Length of Pipelines (km)
Location { Domestic Connected Connected Connected Location Population|  Population Domestic Connected Connected
Households Domestic Industrial Commercial Total Length Leng?h Households Domestic Industrial Commercial Total Length
Households Customers Customers of Mid Households Customers Customers
Pressure
pipelines
City Gas  aulylll Wuhu 2,304,000 1,050,000 313,000 267,881 90 671 1,974 49 558 194 1,174 Gansu Lingtai County 230,000 105,000 32,813
Huainan 2,065,000 1,500,000 469,000 146,712 6 232 1117 31 162 302 622 Hubei Yichang 3,990,000 1,209,000 378,000 144,123 22 653 1,245 26 377 234 608
Sl @auiy ace.00o L=0.000 GRS G - g 2 0 L L L Xiaogan 883,000 230,000 72,000 70,398 19 208 555 0 71 226 258
Suzhou 5,707,000 425,000 133,000 84,621 2 152 647 9 114 238 286
Hanchuan 1,061,000 173,000 54,000 27,882 77 106 268 0 37 97 134
Wuhu County 394,000 80,000 25,000 11,179 22 59 120 0 43 52 25
Yingcheng 669,000 175,000 55,000 31,783 6 156 362 0 43 203 116
Nanling County 540,000 125,000 39,000 13,758 - 4 130 0 20 71 39
e Eauy 365,000 80,000 32,000 3,478 _ 4 08 0 14 10 4 Yunmeng 579,000 117,000 37,000 19,887 5 136 184 0 22 63 99
Fegi @auiy 580,000 90,000 28,000 9,072 _ s 77 0 16 29 20 Suizhou 2,580,000 782,000 244,000 52,375 14 124 512 3 86 190 234
Wuwei 1,400,000 180,000 56,000 6,945 - - 90 0 28 41 21 Tianmen 1,621,000 200,000 63,000 17,068 2 82 163 0 36 68 59
Xiuning 270,000 21,000 7,000 Dangyang 560,000 140,000 44,000 4,964 8 i 67 0 22 31 15
Maoji Development 132,000 25,000 7,813 Wuhan Qingshan 453,000 192,000 60,000
Zone
Huogiu 1,650,000 612,000 191,250 Hunan Yiyang 4,600,000 860,000 269,000 72,618 € 133 786 0 118 230 438
Chongaing  Yubei 920,000 877,000 274,000 89,981 24 5,879 856 0 198 74 585 You County 760,000 246,000 76,875
Fujian 29 cities/regions 4,000,000 4,000,000 1,200,000 254,978 89 263 18,035 94 738 751 16,451 Zhangjiajie 1,630,000 422,000 120,000 1,469 - 9 108 0 57 47 4
Guangxi Yulin 5,990,000 677,000 188,000 28,637 2 68 232 0 68 78 86 Hebei Cangzhou 6,670,000 470,000 147,000 2,405 18 3 36 0 15 14 7
Zhuang :
Autonomous Qinzhou 3,260,000 400,000 125,000 22,425 = 73 184 0 4 76 67 Nanpi County 760,000 52,000 16,000 24,047 4 6 75 5 23 31 15
REg@n Liuzhou 3,580,000 1,300,000 406,000 125,718 1 427 1,193 0 527 289 377 !
Qinghe County 340,000 72,000 23,000 1,815 = i 12 0 6 1 5
Fangchenggang 718,000 200,000 63,000 4,937 1 8 60 0 28 17 15
Wangdu 230,000 32,000 10,000 4,447 11 33 71 1 42 16 13
Nanning ASEAN 200,000 200,000 62,500
Development Tangshan Nanpu 170,000 72,000 23,000 16,351 6 41 142 8 22 64 49
Zone
Leting County, Xinle, 4,320,000 788,000 246,000 87,090 96 145 785 23 185 308 269
Laibin 2,450,000 250,000 78,125 213 = = 40 0 9 24 7 Gaocheng,

Pingshan County,
Fengnan District
Bobai 1,820,000 210,000 70,000 of Tangshan,
Neigiu County

Baise 3,730,000 330,000 103,125 1 21 0 16 5 =

Nanning 6,850,000 2,600,000 740,000 281,796 3 799 1,665 0 372 448 845

Bohai New Zone 750,000 750,000 234,000 = 1 1 31 29 0 3 =
Wuxuan 430,000 100,000 31,250

Guangdong  Maoming 6,700,000 1,200,000 375,000 11,353 - 5 97 0 25 38 34 G fgcen ol i1
Development

Conghua 630,000 300,000 94,000 13,700 2 16 141 0 30 70 41 Zone
Meizhou 1,237,000 886,000 250,000 6,579 1 18 98 0 38 M 20 Tang County 515,000 310,000 96,875 588 = 3 22 11 6 3 2
Yunfu 2,600,000 260,000 100,000 2,116 14 42 0 18 16 8 Henan Zhongyu Gas's 8 11,939,600 2,517,625 707,198 289,566
Shanwei 3,150,000 350,000 109,000 1,609 - 1 27 0 9 13 5 Cities
Xinxing|Gounty 450,000 80,000 30,000 165 _ 2 9 _ 8 1 _ Heilongjiang  Harbin 10,000,000 5,000,000 1,562,000 277,913 68 4176 5,671 81 1,083 1,167 3,341
Fengshun County 650,000 208,000 70,000 Jiamusi 2,480,000 820,000 256,250 65,341 1 164 530 0 108 207 196
Pingyuan County 250,000 50,000 15,000 Shuangcheng 900,000 250,000 78,125
Dz Gy BRI TeEi{D B &7 Mudanjiang 2,750,000 800,000 200,000 23,321 1 100 281 0 56 124 101
Wuhua County 1,275,800 489,000 152,813

Jiagedagi 550,000 160,000 50,000

Huazhou 1,304,564 580,000 181,250
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

Operational Connectable| Accumulated Length of Pipelines (km) Operational Urban| Connectable| Accumulated| Accumulated| Accumulated Length of Pipelines (km)
Location Domestic Connected Connected Location Population Domestic Connected Connected Connected
Households Domestic Industrial|  Commercial| Total Length Households Domestic Industrial|  Commercial| Ttal Length|  Length
Households Customers Customers Households Customers Customers aif sl
Pressure
pipelines
Inner Hohhot 2,580,000 1,700,000 531,000 384,062 74 4,800 2,043 65 356 628 993 Linghai 620,000 210,000 65,625
Mongolia
Autonomous  Wushen Banner 95,000 30,000 9,000 9,307 - Pulandian 830,000 300,000 93,750 - = 3 6 0 6 0 =
Region
Baotou 2,100,000 1,300,000 406,000 186,644 72 587 1,576 97 478 421 579 Liaoyang Economic 86,848 63,200 19,750
Zone
Helingeer County 187,000 90,000 30,000
Jinzhou Longxiwan 29,000 13,000 4,063
Tuoketuo County 200,000 120,000 40,000 New Zone
Tuzuo Banner 350,000 95,000 31,667 Ningxia Hui ~ Zhongwei 1,060,000 560,000 175,000 9,008 2 15 206 62 34 70 39
Autonomous
Wuchuan County 180,000 60,000 20,000 Region
Alashan Meng 200,000 132,000 44,000 Shaanxi Baoji 3,720,000 1,020,000 319,000 251,876 55 700 1,567 43 425 344 756
Zuo Banner 13,000 5,800 1,933 Qishan County 458,000 150,000 47,000
Tenggeli
Industrial Zone Yulin 3,370,000 500,000 156,000
Jiangsu Pizhou 1,580,000 230,000 72,000 28,209 1 48 226 12 52 78 85 Linyou County 87,000 25,000 8,333
Yangzhong 273,000 88,000 28,000 28,713 13 243 423 0 94 243 86 Shandong  Dezhou 5,616,000 1,598,000 475,000 124,929 16 1,146 741 3 222 113 403
Jiangbei District, 1,200,000 1,200,000 375,000 146,088 15 51 1,077 36 196 350 496 Qingdao 7,560,000 2,790,000 940,000 628,776 1 2,434 3,573 31 1,508 197 1,836
Nanjing
Zhongyu Gas's 9,942,644 1,006,950 39,979 142,325
Pukou District, 500,000 340,000 106,250 19,387 58 0 0 0 58 3 Cities
Nanjing
Zhejiang Xiaoshan District, 1,157,000 1,157,000 362,000 14,790 63 25 382 9 239 92 42
Jiawang District, 500,000 180,000 56,000 7,566 - 12 70 0 19 28 23 Hangzhou
Xuzhou
Taizhou 600,000 600,000 160,000 27,333 5 145 257 0 89 2 166
Xinyi, Xuzhou 990,000 160,000 50,000 14,539 2 24 138 10 32 53 44
Jinhua 4,592,000 923,000 288,000 44,682 69 404 0.03 166 48 190
Yangzhou City 4,570,000 1,220,000 381,000 179,659 14 521 1,363 15 483 382 484
Hangzhou 312,000 220,000 68,750
Jiangxi Nanchang Wanli 84,000 37,000 10,000 1,450 = = 25 0 & 18 3 Jiangdong
Development
Xinfeng County 780,000 193,000 60,313 Zone
Liaoning Fushun 2,260,000 1,415,000 442,000 228,837 1 6,133 664 0 269 18 378 179,298,612| 58,764,375 4,794,920
Dalian 6,020,000 3,123,000 976,000 . ;
Chongaing  Chongaqing 1 134
Jinzhou Economic 80,000 80,000 25,000 31,142 - 113 78 0 28 22 28 i ]
. Hubei Xiaogan 1 202
Hi-Tech
Development
Zone Dangyang 1 58
Shenyang Sjiatun 430,000 430,000 112,000 30,074 1 35 340 0 51 152 137 G D
Dalian Jinzhou 830,000 450,000 140,625 17,464 = 16 121 0 54 15 52 Al AT 2 o
Development Inner Otog Banner 1 230
Zone Mongolia
Liaoyang 1,824,000 716,000 203,750 33,188 35 253 871 0 0 492 379 ::Egr?mws
Gaizhou 730,000 287,000 103,000 1,890 - 8 31 0 19 7 6 U T S ! s S
Zhuanghe 910,000 284,375 88,867 4,757 3 13 61 0 33 14 14 el e & &
Zhuanghe 97,000 69,000 21,563

Industrial Park



Tashkent

Xinjiang

Tibet

— | ong Distance Pipeline Project

Major National Natural Gas Pipelines

- \West-East Gas Pipeline No. 1

—— \West-East Gas Pipeline No. 2
Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline No. 2

—— Zhongwu Pipeline

—— Sichuan-East Gas Pipeline
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West Siberia

12. Inner Mongolia

16. Ningxia \/

Qinghai

6. Gansu 17. Shaanxi

Sichuan Yichz

2. Chongaing

/

Guizhou

4. Guangxi

.\
Nanning

Yunnan

Hain.
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11. Heilongjiang

Jilin
15. Liaoning
9. Hebei
Beijing
19. Tianjir
Shanxi
18. Shandong
10. Henan/ , Puyang
13. Jiangsu

Shn ai

7. Hubei 20. Zhejiang
14. Jiangxi
8. Huna 3. Fujian
5. Guangdong Tai
Guangzhou
Hong Kong

(not drawn to scale)

Anhui 10

Wuhu

Huainan

Shou County 1
Suzhou

Wuhu County

Nanling County

Huoshan County

Fengtai County

Wuwei

Xiuning 12
Maoji Development Zone

Huoqiu

Chongqing
Yubei

Fujian

29 cities/regions

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region

Yulin U
Qinzhou

Liuzhou

Fangchenggang

Nanning ASEAN Development Zone
Laibin

Baise

Bobai

Nanning

Wuxuan 14

Guangdong

Maoming
Conghua 15
Meizhou

Yunfu

Shanwei

Xinxing County
Fengshun County
Pingyuan County
Dapu County
Wuhua County
Huazhou

Gansu
Lingtai County

Hubei

Yichang
Xiaogan
Hanchuan
Yingcheng
Yunmeng
Suizhou 17
Tianmen

Dangyang

Wuhan Qingshan

16

Hunan

Yiyang 18
You County

Zhangjiajie

Hebei

Cangzhou 19
Nanpi County
Qinghe County 20
Wangdu
Tangshan Nanpu
Leting County, Xinle, Gaocheng,

Pingshan County, Fengnan

District of Tangshan, Neigiu County
Bohai New Zone
Cangzhou Development Zone
Tang County

Henan

Zhongyu Gas’s 8 Cities
Heilongjiang

Harbin

Jiamusi

Shuangcheng
Mudanjiang

Jiagedaqi

Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region

Hohhot

Wushen Banner

Baotou

Helingeer County

Tuoketuo County

Tuzuo Banner

Wuchuan County

Alashan Meng

Zuo Banner Tenggeli Industrial Zone

Jiangsu

Pizhou

Yangzhong

Jiangbei District, Nanjing
Pukou District, Nanjing
Jiawang District, Xuzhou
Xinyi, Xuzhou

Yangzhou City

Jiangxi

Nanchang Wanli

Xinfeng County

Liaoning

Fushun

Dalian

Jinzhou Economic Hi-Tech
Development Zone

Shenyang Sujiatun

Dalian Jinzhou Development Zone

Liaoyang

Gaizhou

Zhuanghe

Zhuanghe Industrial Park

Linghai

Pulandian

Liaoyang Economic Zone

Jinzhou Longxiwan New Zone

Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region

Zhongwei

Shaanxi

Baoji

Qishan County

Yulin

Linyou County

Shandong

Dezhou
Qingdao
Zhongyu Gas’s 3 Cities

Tianjin
Zhejiang

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
Taizhou

Jinhua

Hangzhou Jiangdong Development
Zone
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FY 2011 was another year of

significant growth of China Gas
poth operationally
and financially.

NATURAL GAS VOLUME REACHED

4.45 siiion «\

EXCLUSIVE CONCESSIONS' AT

148 cities

RESIDENTIAL CUSTO
EXCEEDED

5,078,000

RS
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NATURAL GAS

Arduous Effort, Fruitful Rewards
Natural Gas Business

With China accelerating the change in the mode of economic development, expediting
urbanisation and developing national strategies on clean energy, we entered into the ninth year
of rapid development. We devised new approaches to step up our efforts in the expansion
of city gas projects amid fierce competition in the PRC gas industry. With our geographical
advantages, taking major cities as the centre, and integrating our local professional resources,
we extended outwardly to the neighbouring satellite cities and kept on expanding the market
share of the piped gas business in China. We had coverage of amost 60 milion users
and over 6 milion connected customers of piped gas in the cities. Our projects with great
potential started to achieve organic growth with an increasing connecting rate. All these have
contributed to the upstream, midstream and downstream integration of our city gas business,
making us the mostimportant cross-national professional city gas operator and a key platform
for energy cooperation in Asia. Looking into the coming years, the Group will endeavor to
engage in integrated development and utilization of natural gas as a green energy and wil
be actively involved in the construction and development of city gas pipe network in China
with a view to becoming the most influential gas corporation with customers’ trust and social
respect, contributing to the country’s clean energy development and reform.

Keep Moving Ahead for Better
CUStomerS CO Vel’age No. of Concession Rights

CNG and LNG !
Automobile Refilling 1

Station Business o
As a clean, environmental friendly and economic
fuel, natural gas is now extensively used among ot

vehicles, presenting the Group with great
business prospects. We see our CNG/LNG
automobile refiling station business a new and
key growth driver of the Group in the future ~ No- of Residential Customers

and we have therefore commenced detailed (000)

planning and implementation of our CNG/LNG 6,000
automobile refiling business in China. We will ~ 6.000 ®
leverage on our competitive strengths such as 5,000
gas supply, route design, and equipment and site
selection in order to achieve optimal business
implementation. We will adopt the most suitable 3,000
organisational structure, technical standards and 2,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

4,000

management systems for our CNG automobile

o , . 1,000
refiling business. We use imported compressors o T
of high quality and provide staff trainings regularly 0

- . m 2005 2006 2007 2! 2009 2010 2011
to ensure efficient operations of our refiling o 008 e

stations. With buses and taxies as the starting

points of our CNG refiling business, we are now  Natural Gas Sales Volume
extending into LNG refiling business for long-  (million m?

distance transportation as our new profit driver 4 509

to continuously expand our automobile refiling 4 oo

business. In recent years, the Group has set 3,500

up and operated 105 CNG automobile refiling 3,000

stations in over 32 cities nationwide, providing 2,500

refiling services for approximately 50,000 public 2,000

vehicles and taxies in total. With this low carbon 1,500

vehicular fuel, we have succeeded in improving 1,000

the environment, lowering the costs of public 800 & o 9 T
transportation and gaining support from the local
govermments.

4,450
[ )

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
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Liquefied Petroleum Gas Business
Development of an Integrated Industry Chain

Since its entry into the LPG business about two years ago, the Group, leveraging on
its market position as the PRC'’s largest midstream LPG distributor, has successfully
consolidated the upstream supply of LPG, and enhanced the gross profit margins for
the existing midstream distribution business. With such midstream lead and upstream
consolidation, the Group began gradually to expand into the downstream market in
the previous fiscal year via acquisitions of retail LPG businesses in its existing markets
and their surrounding areas. Over the past year, the Group successfully integrated
part of the industry chain in the Pearl River Delta and Yangtze River Delta regions.

In March 2011, the Group announced its acquisition of Panva Gas, the biggest
domestic LPG retailer in China. The acquisition of Panva Gas enabled the construction
of an integrated industry chain of the LPG market including the coastal area of
southeast China as well as Yangtze River Basin. The “Regulation on the Administration
of Urban Gas” promulgated by the State Council in March 2011 further regulated
the operation of, and competition within, the industry, which is an opportunity for the
Group to begin the consolidation of the industry and the construction of an integrated
industry chain. In FY 2012, the Group will perfect the integration of the midstream
and downstream industry chains, as well as further consolidate the industry chains in
selected regions. With such integration, the Group will be able to optimise resource
allocations, phase out obsolete and surplus capacities, reduce unit operating costs
and at the same time improve sales volume and service quality and increase market
share without compromising the safety and quality of products and services. The
Group will adopt a unified brand strategy, increase brand investment, enhance brand
awareness and brand image of China Gas among LPG users in order to further
improve its competitiveness.

In the future, through further market integration, the Group will be able to enhance
the economy of scale and cost effectiveness of its LPG business, expand its market
share and sales, and improve its LPG profit margin, thereby rendering its LPG business
the second major business line of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 1 1
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Value-added Services for End Users

In the coming five vears, the Group will be supplying natural gas to more than
12,000,000 households, and LPG to more than 30,000,000 households, serving
over 150 million customers in total. This represents a big market for value-added
services to be provided to these customers in addition to the natural gas and LPG
that the Group is supplying to them.

The Group will be creating more value and profit for its shareholders by providing
services such as gas insurance, maintenance services, gas equipment improvement
services, sales and installation of gas appliances. This will be a new and important
source of revenue and income for the Group which does not require intensive capital
expenditures.

/

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 1 3




CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

e Turnover was HK$15,861,880,000, an increase of approximately 55.3%
over the same period last year.

e Accumulated connected domestic households, accumulated

connected industrial users and accumulated connected commercial

users were 6,078,806 users, 1,270 users and 37,470 users

respectively, an increase of approximately 25.7%, 56.8% and
11.9% over the same period last year.

e Natural gas sales volume amounted to 4,452,403,000 m?,
an increase of approximately 31.7% over the same period
last year.

e PG sales volume amounted to 984,600 tonnes.

Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, turnover of the
Group amounted to HK$15,861,880,000, significantly increased
by 55.3% over HK$10,211,959,000 in 2010; profit attributable
to shareholders reached HK$625,896,000, with earnings per
share of HK16.31 cents.

Final Dividend and Closure of Registrar
of Members

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.2 cents per share (2010: HK1.7 cents per share) for the
year ended 31 March 2011. The Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from 22 August 2011 to 23 August
2011 (both days inclusive). In order to quality for the proposed
final dividend, all transfer documents must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Rooms 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 August
2011. The final dividend, which is subject to the approval by the
shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on 16 August 2011, is expected to be paid to qualified
persons on or before 30 September 2011.

1 4 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED



Development of New Projects

For new projects development, the Group had secured 28
new city gas projects in 11 provinces, autonomous regions
and directly administered cities over the past year. The Group
invested in two city gas projects in Liaoning Province, one in
Heilongjiang Province, one in Gansu Province, one in Hebei
Province, one in Hubei Province, one in Jiangxi Province, two in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, three in Anhui Province
and five in Guangdong Province. In addition, the Group obtained
another three city gas projects in Shandong Province and eight
in Henan Province upon the acquisition of Zhongyu Gas.

In March 2011, the Group announced the acquisition of Panva
Gas, the largest LPG end retaller inthe PRC. The move remarkably
boosted the LPG end user base of the Group and LPG sales,
as well as enabled the Group to establish an integrated supply
chain for its LPG operation in the southeastern coastal regions
and the middle and downstream of Yangtze River.

Financing

In October 2010, the Group successfully raised HK$3,070,000,000
through the placing of 718,556,000 new shares to investors. The
fund-raising noticeably enhanced the Group’s liquidity, reduced
its gearing ratio and bettered its capital structure. | would like to
extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their constant
support.

Despite the austerity policy promulgated by the PRC government
as part of macro-control initiative against the backdrop of inflation,
the Group managed to continuously receive strong financial
support from China Development Bank and other large commercial
banks in the past financial year which provided loans and standby
credit facilities for the Group’s business development in various
fields, demonstrating the Group’s well-established credibility
in the banking industry and the widespread recognition of its
management, operation and prospects. | would like to tender
my special appreciation to China Development Bank for granting
a refinancing facility during the financial year of US$220 million

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

for a term of eight years, which assisted the Group in further
improving its debt structure.

Our Board of Directors

The last fiscal year has been challenging for the Group as there
has been relatively significant changes in the composition of the
board of directors of the Group.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui, the former managing director of the Group,
together with another senior executive of the Group, had
been detained for investigation by the Shenzhen police since
December 2010 for suspected “embezzlement of the assets of
an organization in which they have duties” (#5245 38) and they
were formally arrested in January 2011. The case remains under
investigation and no charges have been filed. As Mr. Liu was
unable to perform his duties as a managing director, his position
as the managing director was terminated by the board in January
2011 and his directorship was removed at the shareholders’
meeting on 26 April 2011.

On 8 March 2011, Mr. Li Xiao Yun and Mr. Xu Ying, the former
chairman and vice-chairman of the board, were removed from
office as the vast majority of the members of the board believed
that Mr. Li and Mr. Xu had not completely disclosed to the board
their knowledge of the incident in relation to Mr. Liu, and | was
appointed to serve as the chairperson of the board in the capacity
of an independent non-executive director. During the special
general meeting convened by the Group on 26 April 2011, Mr.
Li and Mr. Xu were removed from their office as directors of
the Group.

During the financial year, Mr. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric and Mr.
Pang Ying Xue have been appointed by the board as executive
directors and the joint managing directors. In March 2011, Mr.
R. K. Goel from GAIL (India) Limited resigned as a non-executive
director of the Company and Mr. P K JAIN was appointed to fill
his place as non-executive director of the Group. In April 2011,
Mr. Muham Al-darf from Oman Oil Company, S.A.O.C, a non-
executive director of the Group, appointed Mr. Mark Gelinas
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as his alternate director. |, on behalf of the board, would like
to express my sincere thanks to Mr. Goel for his service and
contribution during his tenure on the board and welcome the four
new directors for joining us. | am confident that the extensive
administrative experience of the four new directors in the energy
industry will enrich the insightful vision of the Group and thus

take our strength in management to new heights.

Prospects

The Group, through almost nine years of rapid development,
has established its project network nationwide and realised
economies of scale in city piped gas distribution, LPG distribution
and CNG vehicle gas businesses in spite of the difficulties and
challenges in the past financial year. The above core businesses
have generated ongoing net operating cashflow for the Group
to support our development. In addition, through the concerted
efforts of the board of directors and the management, our
shareholders, creditors, staff and the local governments of the
regions where the Group’s projects are located have built up
strong confidence in our capability of defying the temporary

hardship and maintaining sustainable development.

I'am optimistic about the core businesses of the Group. Looking
to the next financial year, the Group will spare no effort to secure
large quality projects in city piped gas distribution business with
upstream development as priority. By leveraging on diversified
strategies including cooperative operation with upstream
enterprises and capital injection, the Group is dedicated to
establish a stable and long-term relationship of demand and
supply between the upstream and downstream through a win-
win benefit chain. The move will address the concemn about
gas source for the Group'’s projects and assure the selected
projects of stable gas supply to expand business penetration.
The Group aims to reinforce its leading position in the market and

position itself as front-runner in the gas industry by way of positive

1 6 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

development. With respect to the LPG business, the Group
will step up mergers and acquisitions in the LPG market. Next,
the Group will intensify the consolidation of downstream end
markets. On top of completing the merger and acquisition of
Panva LPG as soon as practicable, the Group will also accelerate
the mergers and acquisitions of quality assets in regions where
the Group’s existing project companies are operated, in a bid to
swiftly transform those project companies into regional market
leaders. Besides, the Group will strive for the transition from “a
single operation-distributor” to “an operation-service provider”,
and research and introduce value-added services to the end
users by tapping into existing service network, management
platform and customer base. In the coming five years, it is
envisaged that the Group will supply natural gas to more than
12,000,000 households, and LPG to more than 30,000,000
households, serving over 150,000,000 customers in total. By
fully exploring the value of our customer network, the Group
will further expand profit generators, broaden profit sources and

enhance its profitability.

The Group will continue to establish and maintain long-term
collaboration with banks at home and abroad to support the
future business development plans of the Group. Moreover, the
Group will strengthen the managerial role of its headquarters
and exercise full-scale supervision and assessment on the
operation and financial management of each project company,
while also push forward the reform of management and control
of the same, with an aim to heightening management efficiency
and effectiveness and achieving the harmonious development
among employees, enterprises, society and nature. In addition,
the Group will endeavour to render quality social public services
and establish itself as a well-organised gas corporation which wins
the trust from customers, gains the respect from the community,

and creates values for the shareholders.



Lastly, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude for the
contribution and support from our fellow board members, as
well as for the enduring devotion and dedication of the entire staff
and management team, which enabled the Group to sharpen the
competitive edge. On behalf of the board of directors, | would
also like to thank our shareholders for their unswerving trust
and full support for our policy of value creation, and the banking
industry and investors for their confidence, encouragement and

recognition.

Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia
Chairperson

28 June 2011

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS

The Group is a gas operator and service
provider primarily engaged in the investment,
construction and operation of city gas pipeline
infrastructure facilities, gas terminals,
storage and transportation facilities, gas
P logistics systems, transmission of natural
gas and LPG to residential, industrial and
commercial users, construction and
operation of gasoline and CNG refilling
stations as well as the development
and application of technologies
relating to petroleum, natural gas

and LPG in China.
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Business Review

For the year ended 31 March 2011, turnover of the Group
amounted to HK$15,861,880,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2010: HK$10,211,959,000), increased by 55.3% over
last year. Gross profit amounted to HK$2,910,472,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2010: HK$2,116,292,000), increased by
37.5% over last year. Overall gross profit margin was 18.3%
(for the year ended 31 March 2010: 20.7%). Profit for the year
decreased by 23.1% year-on-year to HK$781,322,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2010: HK$1,015,501,000). Earnings per
share amounted to HK16.31 cents (for the year ended 31 March
2010: HK 26.19 cents). However, excluding non-cash and non-
operational income and expenses, the Group achieved core
earnings of HK$827,405,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2010:
HK$590,085,000), representing an actual growth of 40.2%.
Again, if non-cash and non-operational income and expenses
are excluded, core earnings per share, an increase of 30% over
that in financial year 2010, actually amounted to HK17.51 cents
(for the year ended 31 March 2010: HK13.46 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

New Projects Expansion

As of 31 March 2011, the Group has secured 148 city piped gas projects (with exclusive concession rights), 9 long-distance natural
gas pipeline projects, 105 CNG refilling stations for vehicles, 1 natural gas development project and 54 LPG distribution projects
in 20 provinces, autonomous regions and directly administered cities.

The Group secured an additional 28 city piped gas projects during the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 as set out
below:

Provinces/Autonomous Regions/Directly Administered Cities Municipalities/Districts
Gansu Province Lingtai County
Liaoning Province Liu'erbao Town Special Economic Zone, Zhuanghe Industrial Park
Heillongjiang Province Greater Khingan Mountains Area
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Bobai County, Wuxuan County
Anhui Province Xiuning County, Huogiu County, Maoji Development Zone
Hubei Province Qingshan District of Wuhan
Jiangxi Province Xinfeng County
Guangdong Province Fengshun County, Pingyuan County, Huazhou City, Dabu County, Wuhua County
Hebei Province Cangzhou High-tech Zone
Henan Province Sanmenxia City, Jiaozuo City, Luohe City, Xinmi City, Yongcheng City, Jiyuan City, Yanshi City, Xiuwu City
Shandong Province Linyi City, Linyi Development Zone, Linyi County

The above new projects cover a connectable city population of approximately 6,889,775 (approximately 2,067,834 households).
The connectable city population covered by the Group’s gas projects has increased to 59,165,950 (approximately 18,202,322
households) as of 31 March 2011, representing an increase of 5.8% over 2010.

Gas Business Review

The Group’s gas business is managed under two segments, namely natural gas and LPG, the customer bases and market strategies of
which are different from each other. The performance of each segment for the year ended 31 March 2011 is discussed below.

Natural Gas Business

As a major supplier and service provider specialized in natural gas, the Group has established its unique and well-fit operating and
management system in domestic gas industry after nine years of development, which plays a positive role in enhancing management
efficiency and operating results.

Construction of Piped Gas Networks

City piped gas networks construction is one of the principal businesses of the Group. By constructing urban arterial and branch
pipe networks, the Group connects natural gas pipelines to residential as well as industrial and commercial users, from whom
connection fees and gas usage fees are charged.

During the financial year, the Group had completed 25 processing stations, high-pressure gas pipelines of 206 km, city medium
and low-pressure gas pipelines of approximately 3,784 km and branch and customer pipeline network of 3,163 km.
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As at 31 March 2011, the Group accomplished piped gas supply in 112 cities, and had 112 processing stations, high-pressure
gas pipelines of approximately 1,684 km, city medium to low-pressure gas pipelines of approximately 21,383 km and branch and
customer pipeline network of 36,122 km constructed. Designed gas supply capacity of the processing stations reached 25,855,000
m? per day.

Natural Gas Users

Natural gas users of the Group mainly include residential users, industrial and commercial users and CNG refiling stations for
vehicles.

Residential Customers

During the financial year, the Group completed natural gas connections for 901,982 domestic households (2010: 657,907 domestic
households), an increase of approximately 37.1% over the same period last year. The average piped gas connection fee for residential
users was RMB2,454.

As at 31 March 2011, the accumulated connected residential users of the Group grew by approximately 25.7% over the same
period last year to 6,078,806 households (2010: 4,837,436 households), representing 33.4% of the total connectable domestic
households, well below the connection ratio of 80% in developed markets, indicating that the residential gas market still holds
considerable potential for our expansion in the future.

Industrial and Commercial Customers

During the financial year, the Group continued to focus on developing the industrial and commercial users markets by establishing
a “performance driven” incentive mechanism in order to achieve the best market development results. The Group made good
improvement in the development of industrial and commercial customers and further improved the customers structure. During
the financial year, the Group completed additional connections for 254 industrial users and 3,680 commercial and public welfare
users.

As at 31 March 20711, the accumulative acquired and connected industrial customers and commercial customers of the Group were
1,270 and 37,470 representing an increase of approximately 56.8% and 11.9% respectively as compared with those in the same
period last year. During the financial year, connection fee for industrial users was calculated on the basis of the contracted daily
gas volume at the average rate of RMB54 per m® and the average connection fee paid by commercial customers was RMB64,735
per customer.

During the financial year, the Group's gas connection income grew by approximately 60.5% over the same period last year to
HK$2,346,388,000 representing approximately 14.8% of the Group's total revenue for the year.

CNG Refilling Stations for Vehicles

During the financial year, the Group’s Vehicle Gas Development Department had laid a firm foundation for standard and efficient
operation of the refilling stations and made significant progress in the setup of technical specifications, project construction standards
and management system of refilling stations and the establishment of refilling stations project department of project companies.
The Group currently owns 105 CNG refilling stations for vehicles, with a daily capacity in excess of 1,500,000 m®, representing an
increase of 15.4% and 11.1% respectively as compared with those in the same period last year. Sales volume of CNG for vehicles
took up 8.5% of the Group’s total sales volume of natural gas during the financial year.

The shortage of natural gas supply in recent years has greatly hindered the development of CNG refilling stations for vehicles.
In the next five years, the business of refilling stations for vehicles will have an even more promising outlook, and natural gas,
as clean energy, will be a key choice for vehicle fuels given the continuous implementation of the PRC government's policies of
energy conservation and emission reduction and easing the shortage of natural gas supply. As such, the Group will continue to
step up the acquisition and construction of refilling station projects to strengthen its profitability. The Group will also push ahead
the construction of LNG (liquefied natural gas) refilling stations with an aim to providing vehicles for long-distance passenger and
cargo transport with clean fuel.
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Sale of Natural Gas

The operating revenue of natural gas is generated from connection fee and sales of gas. Connection fee is an one-off income, and
the sales income of gas is the ultimate generator of the Group's profit.

During the financial year, the Group sold a total of 4,452,403,000 m® of natural gas, an increase of 31.7% as compared to the
same period last year, of which 568,689,000 m® was sold to residential users, 3,011,087,000 m® to industrial users (including
1,740,000,000 m® natural gas sold directly to industrial users through long-distance pipeline) and 492,850,000 m® to commercial
and public welfare users and 379,777,000 m® to CNG vehicle drivers.

During the financial year, gas sold to industrial users accounted for approximately 67.6% of the total natural gas volume sold,
commercial users approximately 11.1%, residential users approximately 12.8% and CNG vehicle drivers approximately 8.5%. With
a large proportion of industrial users in the customer mix, the Group enjoys enormous potential in its future gas sales. In addition,
the relaxed tariff imposed by the government on gas for industrial and commercial use enabled the Group to pass through the
fluctuation in upstream prices more easily. Upon the adjustment to the benchmark wellhead price of onshore gas initiated by the
National Development and Reform Commission on 31 May 2010, the Group managed to pass on the cost hikes in natural gas for
most of the city gas projects to the downstream industrial and commercial users.

During the financial year, the Group’s natural gas sales income grew by approximately 66.0% over the same period last year to
HK$6,359,041,000, representing approximately 40.1% of the Group's total revenue for the year.

As at 31 March 2011, the daily natural gas supply capacity of the Group reached 13,900,000 m®, increased by approximately
33.5% over the same period last year, of which the actual domestic usage was approximately 1,775,396 m?/day, actual industrial
usage approximately 9,400,342 m®/day, actual commercial usage approximately 1,538,633 m®/day, and actual CNG vehicles usage
approximately 1,185,629 mé/day.

The Group's average selling price (pre tax) of natural gas was RMB2.15 per m® for residential users, RMB2.29 per m® for industrial
users, RMB2.35 per m? for commercial users, and RMB2.72 per m® for CNG vehicle drivers for the past financial year.

The core business of the Group is piped natural gas supply. However, for some projects in areas such as Fushun, Liuzhou and
Mudanjiang where piped natural gas is not yet accessible, piped coal gas or LPG blended with air is sold as a transitional fuel. A
total of 162,398,680 m® piped coal gas and LPG blended with air were sold during the financial year, of which coal gas sale was
169,255,872 m® and LPG blended with air sale was 3,142,808 me. With the introduction of upstream natural gas into such cities,
the operation of transitional fuels of the Group has been scaling down.

According to the construction and production schedules of the natural gas pipelines projects in the PRC, the nationwide onshore
gas pipeline system will be gradually improved and the overall supply of the onshore natural gas will be significantly increased, which
is conducive to mitigating the short-term imbalance between demand and supply, and thus will eventually satisfy the increasing
demand in China for natural gas. Capitalising on this opportunity, the Group will continue to reinforce its business relationship with
upstream suppliers by securing supply contracts so as to explore new market.
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Liquefied Petroleum Gas Business

In terms of the domestic energy sector, the LPG consumer market still holds extensive room for development in the PRC. Sales of
LPG in China during 2011 reached 23.65 million tons, representing a growth of 5.4%. With the continuous price hike of refined ail,
natural gas, coal and other energy resources in the PRC, the competitive edge of LPG has gradually sharpened. The deepening
of the urbanisation process and the improvement of living standard in rural areas of the PRC will also drive the demand for LPG
as clean energy in various small towns and rural-urban fringe zones. Moreover, industrial application of LPG in the PRC is still not
as popular and extensive as in other developed economies in the world. At present, the demand for LPG in non-ferrous metal
smelting, industrial furnace firing, chemical feedstock and fuel cells has begun rising with huge potential, helping the continuous
growth in industrial applications of LPG.

Following the establishment of new refineries and capacity expansion of existing ones in the PRC, the supply of domestic LPG has
been increasing, creating a safe haven for stablising the supply and demand of the LPG market and mitigating price fluctuation. In
addition, the import tariff of LPG has been reduced to 2% from 5% this year, which is in tune with the government's policy direction
in encouraging the import of LPG as energy products. The continuous appreciation of Renminbi exchange rate will further reduce
the import cost of LPG, thus stimulating the growth of import and consumption volume of LPG.

Group’s LPG Business Review

The financial year 2011 has been challenging for the LPG wholesale market. During the first half of the financial year, the Group’s LPG
business suffered from a loss due to the unusual volatility of the global LPG price. As the LPG price gradually resumed normalcy,
the Group'’s LPG business returned to profitability in the second half of the financial year. A total of 984,600 tons of natural gas was
sold by the Group during the financial year. Income generated from principal businesses amounted to HK$6,654,797,000. Due to
the impact of the first half of the financial year, our LPG business had an operating loss of HK$22,435,000 in total.

In the past year, the Group stepped up its efforts in regulating its operations, continued to improve its management systems and
working procedures and implemented a standardised management mechanism. Breakthrough was achieved in the establishment of
its information technology system, facilitating centralised financial management and the integration of logistics, capital flow, document
flow and human resources as well as information sharing. The Group also improved its operating and management structure for the
LPG wholesale and retail chain operation so as to strengthen its LPG wholesale and retail operating system. The Group implemented
the performance target responsibility system to motivate our employees through target allocation, accomplishment and evaluation.
The Group also initiated various new businesses such as terminal storage, chemicals trading and refined oil operation to elevate
the utilisation of assets and widen the scope of operation.

Integration of Upstream, Midstream and Downstream Operations

During the financial year of 2011, the Group fully utilised the scale and geographical advantages of its storage, terminal and
logistics operations and integrated its upstream and downstream resources. The Group maintained close relationship with various
upstream companies such as Kunlun Gas, Zhenhai Refining & Chemical, Keyuan Petrochemicals (Bt 1t) and WEPEC (Ki&#h
X), and signed cooperation agreements with them to ensure a stable supply of upstream resources. The Group has also made
significant efforts in the integration of end-users markets through the acquisition of Panva Group. Other projects completed included
the establishment of Wuhu Zhongran Energy Co., Ltd. EMAHIREEIRAB R A 7)) and Changshu Zhongran Energy Co., Ltd. (B %4
FRRREIR B PR A 7)), the acquisition of 100% interest in Changshu Huarun LPG Co., Ltd., (B E BRI RABR A F]) and the joint
establishment of Changshu Zhongran Gangcheng Energy Co., Ltd. (B2 IREHEEIRAB PR /AF]) and Foshan Zhongran Huanan
Energy Co., Ltd. (BILARAZEERTRE TR B PR 2 |)). There were in total 4 investment projects completed in financial year 20711, which
involved 3 different regions and 13 class Ill stations representing a market volume of 50,000 tons per annum. In addition, there are
7 projects in progress in 11 regions and 34 class lll stations, representing estimated total sales of 130,000 tons per annum. There
are another 10 reserve projects in 10 regions and 50 class Il stations, with estimated total sales of 200,000 tons per annum.
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In financial year 2012, the Group will speed up mergers and acquisitions in the LPG sector. To date, the Group has jointly
established Guangdong Qingyuan Puhua Energy Investment Company Limited (BR /& & EELERIRE AR A A)), Yixing Zhongran
Energy Company Limited (BB #REERAR A F]) and Hangzhou Zhongyou Gaosheng Energy Co., Ltd (Fi/N el S a2 R A R
A A]). Moving on to the next stage, the Group will step up its effort in integrating the retail markets by completing the merger and
acquisition and consolidation of Panva. Meanwhile, the Group will intensify the consolidation of the retail markets in regions such
as Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Anhui, Fujian and Guangxi, and accelerate the merger and acquisition of quality assets in regions where the
Group’s existing project companies are situated, in a bid to transform those project companies into regional market leaders which
will boost the Group’s distribution capability for 150,000 tons a year. The consolidation of the retail market is conducive in rapidly
expanding the Group's customer network, raising sales, lowering unit operation cost, lifting profit margin of retailing and generating
synergy through the vertical integration of the upstream, midstream and downstream market segments. More importantly, as LPG
sold in the retail market comes primarily from domestic oil refineries, volatility of upstream price can be transmitted to the retall
market with relative ease, thus significantly reducing the risk stemming from the difference between selling price and purchasing
cost of LPG.

Value-added services for end users

In the coming five years, the Group will be supplying natural gas to more than 12,000,000 households, and LPG to more than
30,000,000 households, serving over 150 million customers in total. Leveraging on our existing service network, management
platform and customers clusters, the Group aims to maximise the value of our customer network by providing various forms of
extended services and proactively developing value-added services to meet customers’ needs. Such measures are expected to
expand significantly the room for profit growth, widen the conduits to achieve such growth as well as to improve our profitability.

The Group will facilitate growth by providing value-added services as a measure to enhance our customers average unit spending.
For existing and potential customers, the Group will create value and profit by providing gas insurance services, maintenance
services, gas equipment improvement services, sales and installation of gas appliances and other forms of services. The Group
will also commence retail business by using gas stations as a distribution channel to create additional revenue sources. The Group
will also take real measures such as door-to-door delivery services to facilitate brand-building and enhance brand effect, hence
improving the Group’s profitability.

Human Resources

A team of excellent employees is vital to the success of a corporation. The Group adheres to the management concept of “people
come first”. During this financial year, the Group continued to upgrade the professionalism and competence of its staff at all levels
through the establishment of a sound recruitment and internal training mechanism. The Group created a platform for knowledge
exchange and sharing of experience among its staff, and also recruited and retained capable personnel by enhancing job satisfaction
and providing attractive remuneration packages.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had approximately 19,808 employees, an increase of approximately 14% over last year. More
than 99.9% of the Group’s employees are stationed in the PRC. Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification and
experience of the staff concerned and according to the prevailing industry practice in the respective regions in which it operates. Apart
from basic salary and pension fund contribution, certain employees may be rewarded with discretionary bonuses, merit payments
and share options depending on the Group’s operating results and the performance of such individual employees.
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Corporate Management

It has been the Group’s long-standing tradition to adhere to a “systemised, standardised, institutionalised” management philosophy with
respect to enhancing the level of management and operation. During this financial year, the Group consummated a robust production
and operation management system, which laid the foundation for the Group’s systemised production management policies as well
as its standardised operation. By bringing the construction management system online, control and regulation over construction
procedures were enhanced, enabling the Group to perform construction management with a high degree of transparency. By
promoting a “standardised financial department”, the competence of financial management personnel was improved, thus, financial
risks were effectively avoided and the level of financial management as a whole was raised. By establishing an in house tutoring
mechanism, the Group’s employee training system was reinforced, which in turn improved the professional skills and management
competency of managerial staff. The Group strengthened the establishment of a performance assessment system by pushing
forward the deployment of an Electronic Human Resource (EHR) system, which provided comprehensive performance assessment
coverage of employees and safeguarded the rapid expansion of the Group. Meanwhile, to ensure the effective implementation of
the management systems, the Group conducted monitoring work through self-evaluation and cross-evaluation, guaranteeing the
establishment of systemised, standardised and institutionalised management systems.

In addition, to further improve the management efficiency of the Group so as to ensure a more systemized, efficient and safe
operation, the Group will, starting from the new fiscal year, implement a group-wide authority delegation system. Through a more
concise approval procedure, the implementation of this authority delegation system, as well as the strengthening of our monitor
mechanism, the management efficiency of the Group will continue to improve.

Strengthening Corporate Governance

During the financial year, two former senior executives of the Group had been detained for investigation by the Shenzhen Police
since December 20710 for suspected “embezzlement of the assets of an organization in which they have duties” E#%1=148) and
was formally arrested in January 2011. In order to eliminate the negative impacts caused by the crisis and ensure the resumption
of normal operation of business, the board of directors took decisive measures to protect, to the greatest extent possible, the
interest of the shareholders as a whole.

First and foremost, it was of paramount importance to maintain stability during turbulent times. The Group succeeded in stabilising
internal management and resolving issues such as capital adequacy though the appointment of provisional managing directors (acting)
and the establishment of an ad hoc management committee. On the other hand, the Group engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers
to conduct a review on its bank accounts from 1 April 2010 to the occurrence of the said incident, which confirmed that no
material and unusual matters were identified. Another step taken by the Group was to seek development while maintaining stability.
Subsequent to the removal of the ex-chairman and ex-vice chairman and another member of the board, and the appointment of the
new joint managing directors, our board affirmed the senior management of the Group which oversaw the continuous development
of its business, plotted a new development course and mapped out the specific implementation plans. Leveraging on a stabilised
internal management, the Group was able to follow its established developmental strategy and rolled out its new “hub-satellite cities”
investment strategy to continuously acquire exclusive rights to new natural gas projects in various cities. Meanwhile, the Group
successfully entered into an equity transfer agreement with Panva Gas Holdings Limited on 10 March 2011, which opened the door
for the Group to realise a speedy entry into the LPG retail market in China, and paved the way for further integration of midstream
wholesaling and downstream retail businesses in the LPG market in China.

Under the proper guidance of the board of directors and the direct leadership of the senior management team, the Group will,

through collaboration with our entire staff, transform itself into a corporation with emphasis on better unity, more transparency and
higher efficiency.
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Financial Review
Liquidity
In face of the prevailing economic conditions, it is essential for any company to maintain sufficient liquidity. The Group has a steady

cashflow for its principal business. Coupled with an effective and well-established capital management system, the Group is able
to maintain stable operations under the prevailing pressure of credit crunch.

As at 31 March 2011, the total assets of the Group was HK$30,886,528,000, increased by approximately 34.3% as compared to
that as at 31 March 2010. Cash on hand was HK$6,729,033,000 (31 March 2010: HK$4,361,419,000). The Group had a current
ratio of approximately 0.85 (31 March 2010: 0.79). After deducting the import letter of credit and trust receipt loan of Shanghai
Zhongyou amounting to HK$3,333,668,000, the Group's current ratio was approximately 1.17. The net gearing ratio was 0.48 (31
March 2010: 1.24), as calculated based on the net borrowings of HK$4,970,463,000 (total borrowings of HK$15,033,164,000
less the acceptance bills and trust receipts of Shanghai Zhongyou amounting to HK$3,333,668,000 and bank balances and cash
of HK$6,729,033,000) and net assets of HK$10,338,156,000 as at 31 March 2011.

The Group has always been adopting a prudent financial management policy. The majority of the cash available were deposited
with credible banks as demand and time deposits.

Financial Resources

In October 2010, the Group completed a placement of 718,566,000 new shares to investors and raised HK$3,070,523,000 which
substantially increased the Group’s liquidity and greatly decreased the Group’s gearing ratio, strengthening the Group’s capital
structure.

The Group has always been seeking a long-standing relationship with Chinese (including Hong Kong) and foreign banks. As the
Group'’s principal cooperating bank, China Development Bank (CDB) provided the Group with a facility of US$220 million under a
term of eight years, which further improved the Group’s debt structure. Besides, the Group entered into a long-term loan facility
agreement amounting up to US$200 million in total with the Asian Development Bank (ADB) to finance its ‘hub-satellites cities”
investment strategy mentioned above. Apart from the continuous financing provided by CDB and ADB, the principal commercial
banks in China also provided credit support to the Group, including the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, China Construction
Bank, Postal Savings Bank of China, Bank of Communications, Agricultural Bank of China and China Citic Bank. As at June 2011,
there were over 20 banks which have extended syndicated loans and credit facilities to the Group and most syndicated loans have
terms longer than five years with an average maturity of nine years. Bank loans are generally used as the working and investment
capital of the Group.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group'’s portfolio of bank loans and other loans is as follows:

2011 2010

HK$’000 'HK$S'000

LLess than one year 7,312,837 5,332,060
After one year but not more than two years 503,059 662,620
After two years but not more than five years 3,500,997 3,025,857
After five years 3,716,271 4,295,669
15,033,164 13,316,106

* of these, the acceptance bills and trust receipts of Shanghai Zhongyou amounted to HK$3,333,668,000 (2010: HK$2,255,659,000)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had bank loans and other loans amounting to HK$15,033,164,000, representing an increase of
12.9% over that of 2010, of which HK$3,333,668,000 belonged to trade finances relating to the short-term import letter of credit
of Shanghai Zhongyou.

The operating and capital expenditures of the Group are financed by operating cash income, subscription moneys from strategic investors
and bank loans. The Group has sufficient funding to satisfy its future capital expenditures and working capital requirements.

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate

No significant foreign exchange risk is expected as the Group’s cash, borrowings, income and expenses are settled in Hong Kong
dollars, RMB and US dollars.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2011, the Group pledged certain properties, plants and equipment and prepaid lease payments with net carrying
value of HK$307,859,000 and HK$42,394,000 (31 March 2010: HK$318,543,000 and HK$18,575,000) respectively, investment
properties with net carrying value of HK$41,980,000 (31 March 2010: HK$27,220,000), trade receivables with net carrying value
of HK$40,012,000 (31 March 2010: HK$86,817,000), inventories with net carrying value of HK$127,041,000 (31 March 2010:
HK$138,729,000) and pledged bank deposits of HK$1,647,444,000 (31 March 2010: HK$489,103,000) and certain subsidiaries
pledged their equity investments in other subsidiaries to banks to secure loan facilities.

Capital Commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction materials
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements as at 31 March 2011 amounting to HK$219,208,000 (31 March 2010:
HK$146,754,000) and HK$28,157,000 (31 March 2010: HK$140,194,000) respectively, and such commitments would require the
Group’s present cash and external borrowings. The Group has undertaken to acquire shares in some Chinese enterprises and set
up Sino-foreign joint ventures in China.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2011, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (31 March 2010: nil).

LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric
Joint Managing Director

28 June 2011
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We believe only by combining our own core value, corporate responsibilities and
the implementation of social responsibilities in an organic and reasonable way, and
insisting on it, can the sustainable development and continuous contribution to
the society be achieved. Therefore, while we are striving for superior performance
and growth, we are implementing our social responsibilities seriously in various
aspects so as to enable the Group to establish a more stable and long term
value for our shareholders, employees, customers and the society in the course
of going towards our strategic goals.

¢ In respect of business ethics, we set standards

¢ In respect of employee relations, we provide security

¢ |n respect of health and safety, we keep improving

e |n respect of customer relations, we achieve mutual benefits

¢ In respect of environmental protection, we strive for the best

Business ethics

As an energy supplier engaged in the utility sector, we endeavor to maintain high standard of business ethics in our operation
consistently and persistently. The Group requires each employee to adhere to the code of conduct and integrity in providing services
to clients, colleagues, the Company and the public while seeking to build good personal and corporate reputation.

We are committed to providing efficient, safe and clean energy supply to our clients with a strong awareness of service in every
business aspect. We insist on observance of integrity in our interaction within the Company and with our business partners, suppliers
and clients while keeping our confidential information and trade secrets in strict confidence. We treat our employees, shareholders,
business partners, clients and suppliers with fairmess and always welcome and value any opinions and feedback from them. We
remain in compliance with all prevailing laws, regulations and policies and maintain a high standard of code of conduct. We observe
the laws and regulations of the countries and regions where our businesses are located and advocate for environmental protection,
and seek to improve and enhance the quality of life of the public through our services.
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Employee Relations

Employees are the most precious resources and assets of a corporation. The Group always upholds a people-oriented,
equality-advocating and non-discriminating employment policy. We are committed to safeguarding the life, health and safety of our
employees. We respect and protect our employees’ legal rights, and ensure that our employees have a safe, secure and fuffilling
working environment that allows them to develop their potential.

The Group has approximately 20,000 employees in 20 provinces all around China. Through systematic training programmes, we have
provided a platform for our employees to improve themselves. In the past year, the Group provided over 100 training programmes
in various levels covering areas in general management, production safety, market development strategy, customer service, financial
management and application of information technology. In particular, the on-job training programmes provided by Gas Technology
Research Institute of China Gas and Management Institute of China Gas helped to foster the all round development of our employees
and allow them to have personal growth, both at work and at home. Furthermore, the Group organised face-to-face review meetings,
annual conferences, democratic appraisal system, regular tea gatherings and seminars for our employees in order to allow them
to have a better understanding of our corporate strategies and objectives, as well as to enhance integration of the Group, develop
leadership skills, and encourage further career development.

Besides, the Group is enhancing the application of human resources management system in all aspects including the transparency
of our human resources management, standardisation of efficient operations, improvement of our compensation and benefits system,
strengthening our junior staff structure, through ways like elite billboard rewarding the best performance teams and individuals,
providing our employees with attractive promotion opportunities, and encouraged them to express their career aspirations during
their annual performance review. In the meantime, the Group also conducts researches and reviews of the career planning and
working environment for our employees to ensure their diversified needs in respect of working conditions, working style, cultural
background, position requirement and personal life are satisfied. Also, we continue to extend the use of our intranet system to
dispatch industry policies and news so as to enhance internal information disclosure. The e-learning system and monthly in-house
magazine are also effective channels for employees’” communications.

We believe that the integration of employee value and corporate value is an organic process. The Group will continue to share the
results of its pioneering development with its employees and establish a harmonious working relationship with them.

Environmental Protection

To protect the natural environment which human beings live on is one of our crucial missions. Apart from being a clean energy
supplier and contributing to reduce environmental pollution, the Group is also devoted to becoming the model of our employees
and others in protecting the environment.

Over the past financial year, the Group sold approximately 4.4 billion cubic meters of natural gas in aggregate, equivalent to
approximately 7.48 million tonnes of raw coal in terms of calorific value with a corresponding reduction of carbon dioxide emission
of approximately 4.97 million tonnes, which is equivalent to 460,000 hectares of willow planted. In respect of energy saving, we
seek to reduce electricity consumption through maintaining an optimal indoor temperature in offices, thereby reducing the emission
of carbon dioxide. Besides, we have replaced all incandescent light bulbs by compact fluorescent lights as this can help to
reduce energy usage. In respect of waste management, we strive to minimise the generation of waste from daily operation and
encourage our employees to reuse unwanted paper, and have established special arrangements with recycled-paper producers
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for them to make use of our overdue in-house magazines and packaging waste for conversion into recycled fibers. Through the
above measures, paper usage was reduced in the amount of approximately 20 tonnes. In the meantime, the Group also imposes
environmental protection criteria when screening suppliers of products and materials, requiring them to meet the environmental
protection requirements stipulated by the state and the Group and minimise the negative impact of their products on the society
and environment in the course of materials selection, production and design.

We are also actively promoting paper-free delivery of information as well as holding video or audio conferences instead of physical
meetings in order to reduce carbon-intensive travel.

Health and Safety

We are committed to protecting the health of our people at the workplace and to this end, we organise regular medical examination
annually, provide health and disease prevention consultancy and hold activities for caring female health to allow each employee to
have proper knowledge and concern about personal health. Regular activities such as hiking competitions, badminton and basketball
competitions are organised from time to time to enhance the awareness for sports. The Group also developed an online library with
a view to improving the professionalism and enriching the leisure and cultural life of our employees.

To ensure safe production is always the Group’s primary commitment to all employees. We strictly implement and follow the guiding
principles of “Safety First, Take Caution” in order to achieve “Zero Harm, Zero Pollution and Zero Accident”. We develop effective
safety procedures, identify areas of responsibility and assign these responsibilities to appropriate individuals in each business
location. We encourage our employees to be aware of the safety rules, operating procedures as well as potential hazards on all
sites in order to avoid unnecessary risks. We also assist all employees to understand their responsibilities and statutory obligations,
in particular to take reasonable care of themselves, people around them and those affected by their actions. In terms of engineering
safety, we fully adopt systematic engineering management through the application of information technology and strictly implement
the screening system for contractors of engineering construction. We also establish and improve the regulations and procedures
for project bidding, construction and supervision. Such system ensures a fair, just and open process in the selection of contractors,
and the reinforcement of construction quality. We attach great importance to the communications and coordination with contractors.
We are committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment for contractors and strengthening the security measures
and emergency relief networks. We also carry out emergency drills jointly with contractors on a regular basis. By enforcing the
supervisions on contractors, the lives and properties of their employees can be secured.

In terms of safety awareness in local communities, our operating units from time to time educate natural gas users on the correct
use of gas appliances and basic safety knowledge by holding talks, communicating through radio, television and newspapers, and
distributing promotional materials. We also provide free gas appliances inspection and maintenance services to our customers and
perform fire drills in collaboration with local fire departments.
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Connecting with the Communities

Corporate wealth should be returned to society, from which it originates, in active support of public welfare, so as to enhance
social development by means of corporate development. We believe that it is our responsibility to support the local community in
terms of providing employment opportunities, procuring goods and offering services. We have encouraged all of our business units
to render support to the communities in their respective regions by making donations to charitable organisations and community
projects, paying regular visits to the communities and participating in community construction. We have provided caring services for
“‘empty-nest elderly people” and launched promotion and education activities on safety and environmental protection, and we have
made commitments to our long-term support. Our employees have actively taken part in public welfare activities in Hong Kong and
the PRC, including the Casual Wearing Day which raised funds for the Community Chest for Hong Kong, the fund-raising activities
for the earthquake-damaged areas in the PRC, sponsoring rescue hotlines in our places of business and giving support to some
of the minority groups in difficulty, thus pushing forward the construction of a harmonious society.

Our Relationships with Suppliers and Customers

As a reliable energy products provider, we are well aware that the quality and safety of the products from our suppliers are of utmost
importance. In our selection of suppliers, apart from the prices, we also consider the trustworthiness, reliability, quality and after-sale
services of particular suppliers against the quality standards of our Group. We have established a professional procurement website
to improve information disclosure, enabling over 300 suppliers across the country to publish information about their products and
services and relevant terms. We treat our suppliers with trust, respect, fairess and honesty and share our management experience
and technological standards in order to build up long-term cooperative relations with them. Customer satisfaction is highly important
for the future development of a corporation as a provider of public utilities. As the sole gas provider in the region, we have never
taken this status for granted and overlooked our customers’ opinions. We conduct surveys on customer satisfaction and launch
consumer-caring activities regularly in order to monitor as well as to upgrade our customer service standard. Customer feedback
collected through such activities are handled in a timely and appropriate manner.
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We are committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. We
recognise that good governance helps the business to deliver our strategy
and safeguard shareholders’ long-term interests. We believe that the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) provides a useful guide from which
to review corporate governance within the Group. We strive to ensure that:

e our shareholders could get satisfactory and sustainable returns;
e our customers are delivered with high-quality services;

e our assets are safeguarded;

¢ risks and opportunities are identified and suitably handled; and

¢ high standards of ethics are maintained.

Compliance with the Code

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the financial year
ended 31 March 2011 other than the term of the appointment of non-executive directors.

The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) regards the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value as
its primary role. It is responsible for setting overall strategy for the Group, overseeing the businesses and affairs of the Group and
monitoring the performance of the management.

Board Composition

The Board comprises four executive directors, eight non-executive directors, including three independent non-executive directors.
With over half of the Board being non-executive and two-third not participating into the management of the Company, the Board is
able to exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide the management with a diverse and objective perspective
on issues.

On 31 March 2011, Mr. P K JAIN was nominated by GAIL (India) Limited and appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company
to replace Mr. R.K. GOEL who resigned on 28 February 2011. Mr. Mark D. GELINAS was nominated by Mr. Mulham AL-JARF, also
a non-executive director, as his alternate taking effect from 20 April 2011,

Details of the directors are disclosed under the “Biographical Details of Directors” of the 2011 annual report and on our website
(www.chinagasholdings.com.hk). Members of the Board have a complimentary range of energy, financial, operational, legal and
entrepreneurial experience that ensures a balance of viewpoints in the Board. There is no financial, business, family and other
relevant relationship among members of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has provided an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company pursuant
to the requirement of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of the independent non-executive directors to be independent.
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Chairperson and Joint Managing Directors

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairperson and Joint Managing Directors are clearly separated and the positions are held
by three different members of the Board. The Chairperson of the Board is Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia who is an independent
non-executive director and does not participate in the daily operations of the Group. The Joint Managing Directors Mr. LEUNG
Wing Cheong, Eric and Mr. PANG Yingxue have executive responsibilities for the operations, results and strategic development of
the Group, Mr. LEUNG is the chief financial officer of the Company and has been with the Group for over six years, whereas Mr.
PANG is the Vice President and Chief Executive of Shanghai Zhongyou Energy Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, he has been with the Group for over nine years and is now in charge of the Group's LPG business. Clear divisions of
accountability and responsibility exist and operate effectively for these positions.

Operation of the Board

All the directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major development of the Group’s businesses. Directors meet with other senior
management and staff of the Group occasionally, have access to advice from the Company Secretary and may take independent
legal or other professional advice at the Company's expense as and when it is considered necessary for the proper discharge of
their duties as Directors. The Company provides insurance cover and indemnities for its Directors and officers.

Regular Board meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all
Directors adequate time to plan their schedules to attend. At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular meeting.
Meeting agenda of board meetings or committee meetings is generally distributed at least seven business days before the meeting
date. The relevant board papers are generally distributed in writing to the directors at least three days in advance of the meetings
for review by the directors. Sensitive subject matters may be discussed at the meeting without written materials being distributed
in advance or at the meeting. Minutes are taken for each meeting of the Board and its committees and any significant concerns
raised by any director are recorded in the minutes. Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board minutes and final
version of Board minutes is placed on record within a reasonable time after the Board meeting.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an
independent Board Committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To provide a more manageable process and better control, certain power of the Board’s has been delegated to committees. There
are four primary committees at present namely executive committee, audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee and the Company Secretary is the secretary of all the committees. Other ad-hoc committees maybe formed from time
to time to look into specific areas as and when the need arises.

Responsibilities of Directors

Newly appointed directors will receive related materials and documents about the Group so as to ensure proper understanding of
his/her duties as a director of a Hong Kong listed company and of the operations of the Group.

Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Model Code is sent to each
Director of the Company. A reminder is also sent to all Directors one month before the date of the Board meetings to approve the
Group’s half-yearly and annual results reminding them that they cannot deal in the securities of the Company until such results
have been published.

The Board confirmed that for the financial year ended 31 March 2011, all of the Directors of the Company have complied with the
Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ interests as at 31 March 2011 in the shares and options of the Company during the financial year are shown as
follows:

Attendance rate of individual directors at Board meetings

The Board meet every quarter and additional meetings would be arranged if and when necessary. Four regular meetings were held
during the financial year ended 31 March 2011 and the Board reviewed matters including business development of the Group, the
Company’s annual and interim financial statements and notifiable transactions of the Company.

The attendance record of each member of the Board in respect of the Board meetings is set out in the table below.

/
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Notes:

Removed as Chairman on 3 March 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Removed as Vice Chairman on 3 March 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Terminated as Managing Director on 25 January 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Appointed on 23 December 2010

Appointed on 28 January 2011

Resigned on 28 February 2011

Appointed on 3 March 2011

Resigned on 13 April 2010

Appointed on 13 April 2010

0. Resigned on 13 April 2010

1. Appointed on 13 April 2010
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Operational Management of the Group

The Board delegates the operational management of the Group to the Joint Managing Directors and Executive Directors (except
the Chairman of the Board who is not involved in the daily operations of the Group). The Executive Directors maintain day-to-day
contact and meet regularly face-to-face or via video conferences with non-board senior management both in the head office and our
operating units. The Group currently has over 200 operating units located in 20 provinces/autonomous regions/directly-administrated
cities in China and each operating unit is headed by a general manager who is responsible for the day-to-day performance of the
operating unit.

Directors and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Company’s directors and officers when
they discharge their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The principal committees of the Board are the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of all the committees have been approved by the Board and details of their respective
responsibilities and the works performed during the financial year were described as follows:

1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee provides overall strategic direction to the management; monitors the operations of all operating units
and ensures that funding is adequate for the Group’s investment projects.

As set out in the terms of reference, the duties and authorities of the Executive Committee mainly include:

(i) to review the financial information of the Company;

(i) to discuss and make decisions on matters relating to the management and operations of the Company;

(i) to assess whether the proposed transaction to be entered into is a notifiable transaction in accordance to the Listing
Rules and make recommendations to the Board thereof; and

(iv) to review and discuss any other matters, as may from time to time be delegated by the Board

The Committee met as and when required to discuss the daily operations and affairs of the Group, it reviewed and approved
major investments recommended by the management. Besides, a committee comprising any two of the executive directors
has been set up to approve the issue and allotment of shares under the share option scheme of the Company when exercise
of share options arose and conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds.

In order to further assist the Executive Committee, sub-committees are formed for the purpose of performing detailed due diligence

reviews on proposed investment projects. Members of sub-committees include Executive Directors and senior management
members in different key operational and functional areas and they report to the Joint Managing Directors regularly.

34 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Managing Director. The
Committee would seek support from external and internal services so as to ensure that overall packages of executive Directors,
other Directors and senior management are competitive and appropriate for the requirement of the business of the Group.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, (i) to recommend to the Board on policy and structure
for remuneration of all directors and senior management and to establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration; (i) to determine specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior management;
(ii) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors; (iv) to ensure appropriate disclosure
in relation to remuneration issues in accordance to the Listing Rules for inclusion in annual report, financial statements and
other relevant documents; and (v) to approve all services agreements made between the Company and Executive Directors.
Directors are abstained from discussing and voting in relation to their own remuneration packages.

Remuneration packages for Executive Directors (except the Chairperson) consist of (i) fixed part (basic salary and benefits)
and/or (i) performance related bonus and/or (i) Share-based payments such as Shares options.

For Non-Executive Directors’ fee structure, their remuneration packages consist of director’'s fee of HK$240,000 per annum
and committee membership fee for whether he/she is the member(s) of the board committees. At present, the chairman of the
board committee would receive HK$120,000 per annum and members of the board committee would receive HK$60,000 per
annum. The Non-Executive Directors received no other compensation from the Group except for the fees disclosed above nor
do they participate in any bonus. Non-Executive Director’s fee is determined with reference to his/her duties and responsibilities
of the Company and the prevailing market conditions and payable quarterly.

Total emoluments of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2011 are summarized in below table:

Performance related Contribution to
incentive/Share- retirement benefits
Name Fee/Salary based payments scheme Total
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011
'000 000 '000 '000 '000 '000

LI Xiaoyun (Note 1) 3,000 3,000 2,208 1,428 - - 5,208 4,428
XU Ying (Note 2) 7,200 7,188 - 2,679 12 12 7,212 9,879
LIU Minghui (Note 3) 7,200 7,188 - 5,358 12 12 7,212 12,658
LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric

(Note 4) 648 = 525 = 3 = 1,176 =
PANG Yingxue (Note 5) 80 = 40 = - - 120 -
ZHU Weiwei 480 468 2,454 1,192 12 12 2,946 1,672
MA Jinlong 300 300 1,794 1,082 - - 2,094 1,332
FENG Zhuozhi 240 120 1,345 774 - - 1,585 894
R.K. GOEL (Note 6) - - 1,231 774 - - 1,231 774
P K JAIN (Note 7) - = - = - = - =
Jo YAMAGATA 240 120 1,345 774 - - 1,585 894
William H. RACKETS (Note 8) - 124 48 774 - - 48 898
Mulham AL-JARF (Note 9) 230 - - - - - 230 -
KIM Joong Ho (Note 10) 4 120 48 774 - - 52 894
MOON Duk Kyu (Note 11) 230 - - - - - 230 -
ZHAO Yuhua 480 240 1,345 774 - = 1,825 1,014
MAO Erwan 480 240 1,345 774 - - 1,825 1,014
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 480 240 1,345 774 - - 1,825 1,014

Remuneration of each member of the Board for the financial year ended 31 March 2011 (All figures are in HKS)
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Notes:

Removed as Chairman on 3 March 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Removed as Vice Chairman on 3 March 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Terminated as managing director from office on 25 January 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011
Appointed on 23 December 2010

Appointed on 28 January 2011

Resigned on 28 February 2011

Appointed on 3 March 2011

Resigned on 13 April 2010

. Appointed on 13 April 2010

0. Resigned on 13 April 2010

1. Appointed on 13 April 2010
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The Committee believes that efforts of all staff and directors should be rewarded with appropriate remuneration packages
since a motivated workforce is a key element of the Group's performance and it recognizes that Executive Directors bear
the most responsibility for delivering corporate strategy that underpins long-term sustainable performance. As part of the
remuneration package for all staff and directors, the Company also grants share option to staff and directors under the share
option scheme of the Company to ensure that an appropriate balance of reward for responsibilities, motivation, retention and
share participation.

The interests of Directors who have options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company, together with movements during
the financial year are shown as below:

Batch Exercise Price (HK$) Exercise Period

1 0.80 1 September 2004 to 8 January 2014

2a 0.71 20 March 2005 to 5 October 2014

2b 0.71 22 November 2004 to 5 October 2014 (Note 1)
3 1.50 20 October 2010 to 19 October 2015

5 2.32 19 September 2008 to 22 August 2017

7a 2.10 3 August 2009 to 2 August 2019 (Note 2)

7b 2.10 3 August 2011 to 2 August 2014

8 2.60 17 September 2012 to 16 September 2014

Note 1: The exercise of options will be subject to the condition that the consolidated net asset value of the Group which shall
be certified by the auditors appointed by the Company as at the date of exercise of the options being not less than
HK$1 billion.

Note 2: The exercise of options will be subject to the condition that profit after taxation of the Group as stated in the latest audited
report of the Company shall not less than HK$1.5 billion.
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Granted/ Exercised/ As at

As at transferred lapsed 31 March

Batch 1 April 2010  during year  during year 2011

LI Xiaoyun (Note 1) 1 5,000,000 = 5,000,000 =
3 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

7b 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

XU Ying (Note 1) 1 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -
2b 90,000,000 - 90,000,000 -

7a 100,000,000 - 100,000,000 -

LIU Minghui 1 5,000,000 = = 5,000,000
2b 130,000,000 - - 130,000,000

7a 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000

LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric (Note 2) 3 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
9 - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

8b = 2,000,000 = 2,000,000

PANG Yingxue (Note 3) = = = = =
ZHU Weiwei 1 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
2a 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 -

7o 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000

MA Jinlong 1 5,940,711 - 5,940,711 -
7o 4,000,000 = = 4,000,000

FENG Zhouzhi 7b 3,000,000 = = 3,000,000
R.K. GOEL (Note 4) 7o 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 -
P K JAIN (Note 5) - - - - -
Jo YAMAGATA 7o 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Wiliam H. RACKETS (Note 6) 7b 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 -
Mulham AL-JARF (Note 7) - - - - -
KIM Joong Ho (Note 8) 7b 3,000,000 = 3,000,000 =
MOON Duk Kyu (Note 9) - - - - -
ZHAQO Yuhua 1 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -
2C 700,000 - 700,000 -

7o 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000

MAO Erwan 1 1,000,000 = 1,000,000 =
7o 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000

WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 7o 3,000,000 = - 3,000,000

Interest of each member of the Board in share options for the financial year ended 31 March 2011

Notes:

1.

© ®» N oA WN

Mr. Li and Mr. Xu sought to exercise all their respective options (except those which were granted at the exercise price of HK$2.1)
on 24 March 2011. The Company takes the view that all the relevant options (including those which were granted at the exercise
price of HK$2.1) have lapsed prior to the purported exercise of options by Mr. Li and Mr. Xu on 24 March 2011 or that Mr. Li and
Mr. Xu did not validly exercise their respective options. The entitlement of Mr. Li and Mr. Xu to exercise the options are currently
being litigated in Court.

Appointed on 23 December 2010, his options entittements were transferred from employee to director

Appointed on 28 January 2011

Resigned on 28 February 2011, option lapsed

Appointed on 3 March 2011

Resigned on 13 April 2010, option lapsed

Appointed on 13 April 2010

Resigned on 13 April 2010, option lapsed

Appointed on 13 April 2010

/
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The Human Resources Department provides administrative support and implements the approved remuneration packages and
other human resources related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee.

The Committee met once during the financial year to review and approve the remuneration packages for the Executive Directors
and the discretionary bonus to be paid to the senior management. The attendance record of each member of the Committee
in respect of the Committee meetings are set out in the table below.

Meetings for the
financial year ended

Name of Members 31 March 2011 Attendance rate(%)
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia (Chairperson) 11 100
ZHAO Yuhua 1/1 100
MAO Erwan 11 100
LIU Minghui 1/1 100

3. Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of five members with the three Independent Non-Executive Directors and two Executive
Directors.

As set out in its terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to (i) review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes that are
deemed necessary; (i) identify and nominate candidates to fill Board vacancies for the Board's approval; and (i) review and
recommend to the Board those directors who are retired but eligible and presenting themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting ("AGM”).

Pursuant to the existing bye-laws of the Company, at each AGM, one-third of the directors shall retire from the office. The retired
directors should be those who have been the longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment. New director
appointed by the Board during the year shall hold office until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. The newly appointed director shall not be taken into account in determining the number of directors who are
to retire by rotation at that AGM. All retiring directors are eligible for re-election at each AGM of the Company.

At present, both Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors are not appointed for a fixed term and this
deviates from the code provisions of the Code. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM following
their appointment and subject to rotation at least once every three years in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Directors who are retiring and who, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM, are named below:

Name of Directors Date of first Appointment Date of last re-election
LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric 23 December 2010 =

PANG Yingxue 28 January 20711 =

ZHU Weiwei 5 September 2002 26 August 2008

Jo YAMAGATA 20 October 2006 27 July 2009

P K JAIN 3 March 2011 —

ZHAO Yuhua 20 November 2002 26 August 2008
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The Committee met once during the financial year to review and recommend to the Board those directors who are presenting
themselves for election at the last AGM. The attendance record of each member of the Committee in respect of the Committee
meetings is set out in the table below.

Meetings for the
financial year ended

Name of Members 31 March 2011 Attendance rate(%)
MAQO Erwan (Chairman) 1/1 100
ZHAO Yuhua 11 100
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 1/1 100
XU Ying 0/1 0
LIU Minghui 0/1 0

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the three Independent Non-Executive Directors. All members of the Committee have significant
relevant financial expertise and are appropriately qualified to undertake their duties as Audit Committee members.

The main responsibility of the Audit Committee is to review, with the external auditors and the management, the Company’s
general policies and internal financial control procedures. It also reviews half-yearly and annual results announcements as
well as the financial statements of the Group before they are submitted to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee also
reviews and monitors external auditors’ independence and effectiveness of audit process and recommends the appointment
and re-appointment of the external auditors.

The work performed by the Audit Committee in the past financial year included:

Vi,

Vil

Vil

review of the Company's annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010, and recommendation thereof to
the Board for approval;

recommendation to the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditors of the Company for the financial
year 2011 pending shareholders approval at the 2010 AGM,;

review of the Company’s interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2010, and recommendation
thereof to the Board for approval;

review of the report and the management letter submitted by the external auditors for the matters arising from their audit
on the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010;

review and approval of the appointment of external consultant to carry out risk assessment and to examine the Group’s
internal control system and evaluate the work conducted by the external consultant;

consider the annual and interim reports of the Group’s internal audit and the 2011 internal audit plan;

review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and related issues; and

approval of the annual audit fee.
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The committee met four times during the financial year 2011 and the attendance record of each of member of the committee
is set out below:

Meetings for the
financial year ended

Name of Members 31 March 2011 Attendance rate (%)
ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman) 3/4 75
MAQO Erwan 4/4 100
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 4/4 100

The Audit Committee has reviewed the amount of remuneration paid and payable in connection with the audit services provided
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the last financial year.

Audit Services Amount HK$
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2011 (to be agreed) 6,000,000
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2010 5,330,000

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities to establish, maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control to ensure that shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets are safeguarded. Accordingly, the Group has established
a risk management and internal control system for such purposes, and the management is charged with the responsibility to
implement it.

During the financial year, two senior executives of the Group had been detained for investigation by the Shenzhen Police since
December 2010 for suspected “embezzlement of assets of an organisation in which they have duties”. In order to eliminate the
negative impacts caused by the crisis and ensure the resumption of normal operation of business, the board of directors took decisive
countermeasures to protect, to the greatest extent possible, the interest of the shareholders as a whole. A new management team
was swiftly established to ensure stability of the Group's daily operations and internal control and management. In addition, the
Group engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) to conduct a review on its bank accounts for the period from 1 April 2010 to the
occurrence of the said incident, and such review confirmed that no significant unusual items have come to its attention in its review.
In respect of the high level review of related key internal controls of the Group, PwC did not identify any specific irregularities in its
23 February 2011 report which are likely to have resulted in a material misstatement of the accounts. However, they did identify
certain areas where internal controls could be improved for future purposes. Subsequent to such report, the Group established a
task force comprised of seven functional departments to conduct a thorough study of these areas of improvements, and this task
force has since come up with action plans to rectify them. Such action plan is well in progress and is expected to be completed
by September 2011.

Way forward

As a continuous effort to improve the Group’s system of internal control, the following initiatives will remain an important part of the
Group's corporate governance focus:

further enhance the authority of its Internal Audit Department to independently monitor the effectiveness of internal control
across the Group, including its management members and project companies;

ii. strengthen its risk management framework to enable the Group to handle uncertainties and associated risks and opportunities
effectively; and

iil. conduct risk assessment at operating units such that major risks are identified and managed properly.
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Communication

The Board and the senior management recognize the importance of maintaining good relations and communications with all its
shareholders.

Shareholders and Investors

The Board reports to shareholders on the performance of the Company through the publication of interim and final results each
year. Information is also communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through corporate announcements and circulars. All of
the circulars and the announcements, including the annual reports and interim reports can be easily accessed from the Company’s
website (www.chinagasholdings.com.hk) and hard copies are available upon request to the Company Secretary.

The Board also recognises the importance of establishing a good relationship with analysts and investors. Our Investors Relations
Department, headed by the Chief Financial Officer, is dedicated for communication with institutional investors and analysts. In the
last financial year, the Investors Relations Department conducted over a hundred meetings with analysts and investors in Hong
Kong, four analyst briefings, attending six intemational investors conferences and five overseas roadshows.

Besides, the Board also acknowledges the importance to be readily accessible by the public and retail investors. From time to time
press conference is held so that the public can be informed of recent business development of the Group. The Company sees this
as an effective channel to pass public corporate information to the community of general investors.

All investors and public are welcome to give their comments and make their enquiries through the Company's website (www.
chinagasholdings.com.hk) or by email at investor@chinagasholdings.com.hk.

The Annual General Meeting

Shareholders’ meeting provides a principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. The Board encourages shareholders to attend
and welcomes their participation. For the AGM, notice of the meeting and the related circular are dispatched to the shareholders of
the Company at least 20 business days before the meeting. Separate resolution for each substantial issue, including the election
of director, is proposed at the AGM and details of the poll voting procedures and rights of shareholders to demand a poll are
included in the related circular. Poll results in respect of each resolution proposed at the AGM would be published by way of an
announcement after the closure of the meeting.

The most recent AGM was held on 19 August 2010. The agenda items of that AGM were:

o Receiving the report of the Directors and the audited accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010

o Declaration of final dividends

° Re-electing of Directors and authorised the Directors to fix the Directors’ remuneration

o Re-appointing the auditors and authorising the Directors to fix their remuneration

o A general mandate authorising the Directors to make share repurchases

. A general mandate authorising the Directors to allot and issue shares up to 20% of the then issued share capital

All resolutions put to shareholders were duly passed at the meeting and the Managing Director and senior management of the
Company were available at the meeting to answer questions.
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Share Capital and Shareholders Information

The Company provides a regular update on information relating to the Company’s share capital and other movements in its securities
to the Stock Exchange (in both Chinese and English versions) within five business days next following the end of each calendar
month and the same can be found in the Company’s website (www.chinagasholdings.com.hk).

As at 31 March 2011, the issued share capital of the Company was 4,383,055,098 shares.

The following table details the location of our shareholders as of 31 March 2011:

Location of Number of % of the issued
Shareholders (Note 1) shares held share capital
Hong Kong 3,575,104,905 81.57
(Note 2)

China 210,383,133 4.80
India 210,000,000 4.79
Oman 237,567,060 5.42
Philippines 150,000,000 3.42
Total 4,383,055,098 100.00
Notes:

1. The location of shareholders is prepared according to the addresses of shareholders registered in the register of members of the

Company.

2. These shares include 3,215,306,045 shares registered in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited which may hold these shares
on behalf of its clients in or outside of Hong Kong.

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the financial statements and ensure that the financial statements are
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the Auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tonmatsu, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Auditor’s report of the Financial Statements section of the 2011 Annual Report.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group recognizes the importance of corporate social responsibility and has made considerable efforts to participate in different
forms of community activities. Details of these activities are set out in our Corporate Social Responsibility Report of the 2011 Annual
Report.

Continuous Improvement

The Company will continue to improve the corporate governance practices in view of the regulatory requirements and in line with
the international development. The Company will take further steps that can embed risk assessment and internal control further into
the Group’s operations, and will deal with areas for improvement which come to the Board's attention from time to time.
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Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in October 2003.
Ms. WONG is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited and is responsible
for finance. Ms. WONG holds a MBA degree. She held various senior positions at reputable international investment banks including
Societe Generale, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Samuel Montague and Bear Stearns Asia for over 15 years during which period she
had advised more than 50 companies in Greater China and Asia in their equity, equity finance or equity-related activities.

Mr LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric, aged 50, is currently the Joint Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
He is responsible for the business operations as well as financial, financing, international business development and investor
relations activities of the Company. Mr. Leung joined the Company in early 2005 after a 13-year career in investment banking,
during which he helped numerous companies in Greater China raise debt and equity capital, especially for energy and infrastructure
projects. Investment banks he has served include Lehman Brothers, Jardine Fleming, Barclays Capital, Prudential Securities and
UFJ Securities. Mr. Leung is a lawyer by training, and is qualified to practice law in Hong Kong, England & Wales and Australia and
he holds bachelor degrees from the University of Hong Kong and University of London, and a master degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. PANG Yingxue, aged 56, is currently the Joint Managing Director of the Company and Chief Executive of Shanghai Zhongyou
Energy Holdings Limited (/&7 BREEIRIZAR AR AF]) © a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Pang joined the Group in
2002 and was responsible for the management and operation of natural gas business. From 2008 onwards, Mr. Pang was in charge
of the Group’s LPG business. He has substantial experiences in corporate management, engineering and financial management.

Mr. ZHU Weiwei, aged 38, is a Director of the Company since September 2002. Mr. ZHU received his Master degree in Finance
from Zhong-nan University of Finance & Economic. Mr. ZHU has substantial experiences in financing and project management.

Mr. MA Jinlong, aged 44, is a Director of the Company since September 2002. Mr. MA received his Degree in Economics from
Hebei University and EMBA from University of International Business and Economics. He has substantial experiences in financial
management. Mr. MA is the President of Beijing Zhongran Xiangke Oil Gas Technology Company Limited.

Mr. FENG Zhuozhi, aged 55, is a non-executive Director of the Company since May 2005. Mr. FENG graduated from FH B A
RERNE B EHEIEZ20T (Artillery College of the People’s Liberation Army), he was the General Manager of Haixia Economy and
Technology Cooperation Centre under Taiwan Affairs Office of the State Council of China, at present he is the Routine Director of
China Enterprises Investment Association.

Mr. P K JAIN, aged 56, possess substantial experiences in corporate finance and internal audit. He obtained his MBA (Finance)
from University of Hull, UK and is a Chartered Accountant in India. He joined GAIL (India) Limited in 1986. His last position in GAIL
was an Executive Director of Internal Audit and was appointed as the Director (Finance) of GAIL in 1 March 2011,

Mr. Jo YAMAGATA, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in October 2006. He received a master
degree in Management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and is specialized in international management and finance
and is currently a Deputy Director General of Private Sector Operations Department of Asian Development Bank. Prior joining Asian
Development Bank in 1994, Mr. YAMAGATA has been working in Toshiba Corporation, Tokyo, Japan for 15 years.
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Mr. Mulham Basheer Abdullah AL-JARF, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in April 2010
and was a graduate of International Business & Finance from Marymount University and a registered Barrister at the Bar of England
& Wales. He is currently the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of OOC. He has substantial experience in the energy sector. Mr. AL-
JARF was previously Head of Project & Structured Finance at OOC, Legal Counsel at OOC, Legal Officer at Oman Gas Company
S.A.0.C., and Legal Researcher at the Ministry of Oil & Gas. Prior to that he was a Business Planning Officer and then Legal
Researcher at GTO (now Omantel), and also worked at INTESLAT in Washington DC.

Mr. MOON Duk Kyu, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in April 2010. He graduated from
Korea University and is currently the Representative Director of SK E&S, a subsidiary of SK Group which is specializing in city gas
distribution, power generation and energy-related business and services. Mr. MOON joined SK Group since 1975 and has substantial
experiences in international financial management.

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in November 2002. Mr.
ZHAO graduated from Institute of International Economy, Nankai University and holds a master degree in economics. He joined J&A
Securities Company in 1993, engaging in corporate financing and advisory business.

Dr. MAO Erwan, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in January 2003. Dr. MAO
graduated from Mathematics and System Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences and holds a Doctor Degree. He was the Chief
Economist of Da Cheng Fund Management Co. Ltd. He is currently a deputy professor of School of International Business, Beijing
Foreign Studies University, a committee member of China Institute of Finance, Financial Engineering, deputy director of Financial
and Securities Institute of BFSU and deputy director of Financial Quantity Analysis & Computation Committee.

Mr. Mark D. GELINAS, aged 43, graduated from the College of the Holy Cross with a bachelor degree in economics in 1989
and obtained a Juris Doctor degree from New England School of Law in 1993. He was admitted to the bar of the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts in 1994. Mr. GELINAS is currently the chief legal officer and head of legal department of Oman Oil Company
S.A.0.C.. He is an energy lawyer with considerable experience in coordinating and leading cross-border teams of lawyers on large-
scale transactions in the energy and energy related sectors. Prior to joining Oman Qil in 2004, Mr. GELINAS worked at Clifford
Chance, an international law firm, for over seven years.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011,

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its associates, jointly controlled entities and principal subsidiaries
are set out in notes 20, 21 and 53, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2011.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

of the Financial Report 2011.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK2.2 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2011 to the holders
of ordinary shares of the Company whose names appear on the Registrar of Members of the Company on 22 August 2011 subject
to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders, is expected to be payable on or about 30 September 2011,

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out in the Financial
Report 2011.

Investment Properties and Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year end date. The net increase in fair value of investment properties,
which has been credited to statement of comprehensive income, amounting to HK$47,057,000.

Detalls of these and other movements during the year in investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2011 respectively.

Major Properties

Details of the major properties of the Group at 31 March 2011 are set out in the Financial Report 2011.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Financial Report 2011.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2011 comprised the accumulated profits of
HK$178,623,000.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. LI Xiaoyun (removed on 26 April 2011)

Mr. XU Ying (removed on 26 April 2011)

Mr. LIU Minghui (removed on 26 April 2011)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric (appointed on 23 December 2010)
Mr. PANG Yingxue (appointed on 28 January 2011)

Mr. MA Jinlong

Mr. Zhu Weiwei

Non-executive directors

Mr. FENG Zhuozhi

Mr. Jo YAMAGATA

Mr. R K GOEL (resigned on 28 February 2011)

Mr. P K JAIN (appointed on 3 March 2011)

Mr. KIM Joong Ho (resigned on 13 April 2010)

Mr. William RACKETS (resigned on 13 April 2010)
Mr. MOON Duk Kyu (appointed on 13 April 2010)
Mr. Mulham AL-JARF (appointed on 13 April 2010)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Dr. MAO Erwan

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. ZHU Weiwei, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Mr. Jo YAMAGATA, Mr. LEUNG
Wing Cheong, Eric, Mr. PANG Yingxue and Mr. P K JAIN shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive or independent non-executive director is the period up to his/her retirement by rotation in
accordance with the above clause of the Company’s Bye-laws.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Retirement Benefits Scheme

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements set out in the
Financial Report 2011.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests In Shares

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance ("SFQO") which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”), were as follows:

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Approximate
percentage or

Number of attributable

Nature attributable number percentage of

Name of directors of interest of Shares held shareholdings (%)
LIU Minghui (Note) Personal 353,624,000 8.06
LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric Personal 2,622,000 0.06
PANG Yingxue Personal 400,000 0.009
MA Jinlong Personal 1,062,711 0.02
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia Personal 1,000,000 0.02

Note:  Terminated as Managing Director on 25 January 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011

(b) Share Options

Approximate

percentage

No. of to issued

Name of Directors No. of options Nature of Interest underlying shares share capital (%)
LIU Minghui (Note) 235,000,000 Beneficial 235,000,000 5.36
LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric 11,000,000 Beneficial 11,000,000 0.25
ZHU Weiwei 8,000,000 Beneficial 8,000,000 0.18
MA Jinlong 4,000,000 Beneficial 4,000,000 0.09
FENG Zhuozhi 3,000,000 Beneficial 3,000,000 0.07
Jo YAMAGATA 3,000,000 Beneficial 3,000,000 0.07
ZHAO Yuhua 3,000,000 Beneficial 3,000,000 0.07
MAO Erwan 3,000,000 Beneficial 3,000,000 0.07
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 3,000,000 Beneficial 3,000,000 0.07

Note: Terminated as Managing Director on 25 January 2011 and removed from office as director on 26 April 2011

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011 none of the directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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Share Options

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme and details of movements in the share options under the share option scheme
during the year are set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2011.

No. of No. of No. of
options options options
transferred exercised lapsed No. of
No. of during during during options
Options the financial the financial the financial outstanding
Exercise as at year ended year ended year ended as at
Name Exercise period Price 1 April 2010 31 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2011
(HKS)

Directors
LI Xiaoyun 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 = = (5,000,000) =
20 Oct 201010 19 Qct 2015 15 5,000,000 = = (5,000,000) =
3 Aug 2011 10 2 Aug 2014 2.1 5,000,000 = = (6,000,000) =
XU'Ying 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 = = (6,000,000) =
22 Nov 2004 to 5 Qct 2014 0.7 90,000,000 = = (90,000,000) =
3 Aug 2009 o 2 Aug 2019 2.1 100,000,000 = = (100,000,000) =
LIU Minghui 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 = = = 5,000,000
22 Nov 2004 to 5 Qct 2014 0.7 130,000,000 = = = 130,000,000
3 Aug 2009 to 2 Aug 2019 2.1 100,000,000 - - = 100,000,000
LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric 20 Oct 2010 10 19 Oct 2015 1.5 = 6,000,000 = = 6,000,000
19 Sept 2008 to 22 Aug 2017 2.32 = 3,000,000 = = 3,000,000
17 Sept 2012 to 16 Sept 2014 26 = 2,000,000 = = 2,000,000
PANG Yingxue - - - - - - -
ZHU Weiwei 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 4,000,000 - - = 4,000,000
20 Mar 2005 to 5 Oct 2014 0.7 6,000,000 = (6,000,000) = =
3 Aug 2011 10 2 Aug 2014 2.1 4,000,000 = = = 4,000,000
MA Jinlong 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,940,711 = (6,940,711) = =
3 Aug 2011 10 2 Aug 2014 2.1 4,000,000 = = = 4,000,000
FENG Zhuozhi 3 Aug 2011 t0 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 - = = 3,000,000
RK. GOEL 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = (3,000,000) =
Wiliam RACKETS 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = (3,000,000) =
Jo YAMAGATA 3 Aug 2011 10 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = = 3,000,000
KIM Joong Ho 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = (3,000,000) =
ZHAO Yuhua 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 1,000,000 = (1,000,000) = =
1 Jan 2006 to 5 Qct 2014 0.7 700,000 = (700,000) = =
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = = 3,000,000
MAO Erwan 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 1,000,000 = (1,000,000) = =
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = = 3,000,000
WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 3,000,000 = = = 3,000,000
Sub-total 495,640,711 11,000,000 (14,640,711) (219,000,000) 273,000,000
Other Employees 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 36,880,000 - (83,970,000) - 2,910,000
20 Mar 2005 to 5 Qct 2014 0.1 86,000,000 = (61,000,000) = 34,000,000
20 Oct 2010 o 19 Oct 2015 1.5 151,800,000 (6,000,000) (21,800, OOO) = 124,000,000
27 Jan 2011 t0 26 Jan 2016 1,02 6,500,000 = = 6,500,000
19 Sept 2008 to 22 Aug 2017 2.3 3,000,000 (3,000,000) = = =
3 Sept 2009 to 6 Aug 2018 .77 1,500,000 = (1,500,000) = =
3 Sept 201010 6 Aug 2018 .1 1,500,000 = (1,600,000) = =
3 Aug 2009 o 2 Aug 2019 2.1 100,000,000 = = = 100,000,000
3 Aug 2011 10 2 Aug 2014 2.1 58,394,000 - - = 58,394,000
14 Qct 2009 to 16 Sept 2014 26 5,000,000 = (3,500,000) = 1,500,000
17 Sept 2012 to 16 Sept 2014 2.6 5,000,000 2,000,000) = = 3,000,000
Sub-total 449,574,000 (11,000,000) (113,270,000) - 325,304,000
Total 945,214,711 - (127,910,711) (219,000,000) 598,304,000
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As at 31 March 2011 so far as was known to the directors and the chief executives of the Company, the following persons (not
being directors or chief executive of the Company), had or was deemed to have, an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group:

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of

Name of shareholders Note Nature of interest Total shareholdings (%)
LIU Minghui Beneficial interest 588,624,000 13.43
Oman Oil Company S.A.O.C. Beneficial interest 237,567,060 5.42
CHEY Taewon 1 Beneficial interest 227,329,000 5.19
SK C&C Co., Ld 1 Interest of controlled corporation 227,329,000 5.19
SK Holdings Co. Ltd 1 Interest of controlled corporation 227,329,000 5.19
Note:
1. According to the relevant DI forms received by the Company in 9 November 2010, Mr. CHEY Taewon (‘Mr. CHEY”) held 44.5%

interest in SK C&C Co. Ltd which in turn held 36.92% interest in SK Holdings Co. Ltd (“SK Holdings”). SK Holdings in turn held
52.88% interest in SK Gas Co. Ltd (*SK Gas”) and 67.54% interest in SK E&S Co. Ltd (“SK E&S’") respectively. SK E&S in turn held
43.99% interest in Pusan City Gas Co. Ltd (‘Pusan City Gas”).

According to the relevant DI forms received by the Company on 9 November 2010, Pusan City Gas held 73,008,000 Shares, SK
E&S held 154,321,000 Shares and SK Gas held 196,919,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. CHEY was indirectly interested in a total
of 424,248,000 Shares, representing 9.68% of the issued share capital of the Company as of 30 November 2010.

On 30 December 2010, the Company was notified by Mr. CHEY that SK Gas was transferred by SK Holdings to SK Chemicals
Co. Ltd, another subsidiary of SK Group due to internal restructuring of SK Group. Accordingly, Mr. CHEY’s indirect shareholding

reduced from 424,248,000 Shares to 227,329,000 Shares, representing 5.19% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2011 the directors and the chief executives of the Company were not aware of any person
(other than the directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interest or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Other than those set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of significances, to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue. The five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group'’s total purchase.

At no time during the year did any director, any associate of a director, or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of the directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Emolument Policy
The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is
set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2011.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive director, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

50 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2011,

Post Balance Sheet Events

Details of the significant events occurring after the balance sheet date are set out in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Financial Report 2011.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric
Joint Managing Director

28 June 2011

/
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Deloitte.
=€)

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
B RIER B R A A
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 3 to 162, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

HHPERRERERARFIMCRKRR
BRI AR AR
(RERZEAMALZ BRAAF)

AR BETTE 2R B E0E 1628 F B EMA
2RARAF(EAR)RANBAR( HIE#
S8 |) 2 BAMBRE - LEAHBERRRER =
T-—F=A=t-ANEANERLE  BEX
AILFEZ R 2ERARE  SAREEHRR
HARSRER  ARTERHREBERAfH
SERRTE -

BERRESARBERBERBETMAGRMNES
P mE LR REB(RRRPDH R BEREREER
EMAFIROGAMBEEHRER  LHEEERRE
MEH) BB - ARERAR A MR RE T
R IR S E M E AR -

AT EERRBEAITOEZEES M BRERFEH
BR - URIBARERREFOKEREREAE
BHOBRR®RE - TAREEMLAR - AT TSR
AHRESHARHEMEMALTAESARERE
T ATERBEESIHMASRANE BRI L
APETTERZ - BLEREBHATETERRE - I
REINATERZ WA EREEHSRAMBERRE
BNEAEAERBRRAL



An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2011, and of the
Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

June 28, 2011

ERERPITEFAEDREBRAM BRI ED
BRBEBEERNEZEE - MEENREFIURRZ
SRR BT - R ANGEFRERME RS
MBBREEERERBANER - EFHEZER
BRI RBENEBEZARRHEEEM A TR
MER A MR BB RMES - ARPEENRE
ZiEF - B AY A BRI ABRHERIRNREEERE
R BRNEREFEEEMRANSTHENEE
ERFERNEFHET AR - URFHESRAM
BmARMEBRSIHA N

RITRR AITEEZERERENCDEE AR
TTHEZE RIRHEER -

ARBEITARGEVBERRIOERBEE BN KR
SHENEERAFHRR EXER_FT——F=
A=Z+—AZMBRAE BEREREZALFE
MRS RE - WEIRREE R RGD 2 #5E
BERRERERS

EE e MERS ST
HEGETE
BB

—E——FXAZ+N\H



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e EEBARRE

For the year ended March 31, 2011 & Z =

F——FZA=+—ALEE

2011 2010
—B——-F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
Revenue WA 6 15,861,880 10,211,959
Cost of sales SHE AR (12,951,408) (8,095,667)
Gross profit EF 2,910,472 2,116,292
Other income EbUA 8 236,937 273,885
Other gains and losses E b e M B8 9 15,497 472,192
Selling and distribution costs SHE K SHAK AR (600,495) (445,012)
Administrative expenses THRFAX (846,200) (606,658)
Finance costs % E R 10 (635,029) (522,677)
Share of results of associates JEIRER L NP 2 $E4E 20 15,856 (114,402)
Profit before taxation B 5 A g A 1,097,038 1,173,620
Taxation I8 M (315,716) (158,119)
Profit for the year INEE 5 ) 12 781,322 1,015,501
Other comprehensive income HEm2mBA
Increase in fair value on A E 2R E QT EIE N
available-for-sale investments 2,678 7,958
Exchange difference arising MEEA IENERE
on translation 262,444 1,240
Other comprehensive income AEFHMEEUYA
for the year 265,122 9,198
Total comprehensive income FE2ERALRE
for the year 1,046,444 1,024,699
Profit for the year attributable to: FERAGES
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIET ¥ =N 625,896 875,636
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R 155,426 139,865
781,322 1,015,501
Total comprehensive income 2EWVABEEES
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIETZ =N 821,928 884,834
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R 224,516 139,865
1,046,444 1,024,699
Eamnings per share HRAEF 16
Basic HA HK16.31 cents &1l  HK26.19 cents &1l
Diluted B HK14.60 cents 71l  HK23.13 cents &1l
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At March 31, 2011 R=F——F=HA=+—H

3.31.2010 4.1.2009
—T-TF —TTHhE
=B=+—H MmA—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&%)
Non-current assets EMEBEE
Investment properties EYE 17 343,158 295127
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 18 11,084,805 9,154,271
Prepaid lease payments TEfHERIE 19 938,713 848,607
Investments in associates REEE RN ZI8E 20 957,709 1,000,966
Available-for-sale investments AREEZRE 22 82,838 41,995
Derivative financial instrument THEemIA 29 9,759 —~
Goodwill EES 23 900,577 684,467
Other intangible assets Hivfmp&E 24 1,254,675 320,297
Deposits for acquisition of WHEZE - B&E
property, plant and equipment MEBES 254,751 276,197
Amount due from an associate JE B & N B 3R 30 - 68,966
Deposits for acquisition of g1 AN
associate and a subsidiary LB AR 2IES 46 - 63,218
Deferred tax assets RIEFIHE = 39 88,155 56,890
15,915,140 12,811,001
Current assets mBNEE
Inventories rE 26 564,163 540,898
Amounts due from customers ElERFZ
for contract work AH TR 27 108,265 219,993
Trade and other receivables ﬁ%ﬁéﬂﬁ(ﬁﬁw
Hth FEUL BRI 28 1,871,067 1,285,698
Derivative financial instruments PTHEERIA 29 2,909 1,261
Amounts due from associates JE B & N B 3R 30 138,236 243,250
Prepaid lease payments T ERIA 19 25,933 14,647
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 31 15,468 11,544
Pledged bank deposits EHEIBIRITHER 32 489,103 847,759
Bank balances and cash RITHETFRRE 32 3,872,316 2,048,698
7,082,454 5,218,748
Current liabilities mEIAaE
Trade and other payables E S ENER R
HAh fEARIA 33 3,182,020 2,603,313
Derivative financial instruments PTEemMTA 29 - 782
Amounts due to customers ERNEPZ2A#HITERKIA
for contract work 27 239,316 121,743
Taxation Bi1E 146,162 51,733
Amounts due to associates Vﬁﬂ’é’ﬁ%@ FRIA 30 23,867 -
Amount due to a non-controlling FEHTE A
interest of a subsidiary FEHE H%***”IE 37 - -
Bank and other borrowings — due RITREMEER
within one year —R—F NI 34 5,332,060 3,218,798
8,923,425 5,996,369
Net current liabilities mENBEFE (1,840,971) (782,621)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBDARG 14,074,169 12,028,380
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At March 31, 2011 R=F——F=HA=+—H

3.31.2010 4.1.2009
—T-TF —ZTTHHF
=—A=+—H mA—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FET
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&%)
Equity s
Share capital % 35 33,610 33,336
Reserves G 4,089,412 3,189,934
Equity attributable to owners BEANAIEA A
of the Company 4,123,022 3,223,270
Non-controlling interests FEVERR 2 1,107,215 758,858
Total equity T4 5,230,237 3,982,128
Non-current liabilities EREAaE
Derivative financial instruments THEemITA 29 - 360,087
Amount due to a non-controlling FETHT B A 7
interest of a subsidiary FE1E AR 5 SRR 37 356,591 356,591
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE
due after one year —R—F1EEE 34 7,984,046 7,079,124
Convertible bonds MR ES 38 - 14,823
Deferred taxation RIERIA 39 503,295 235,627
8,843,932 8,046,252
14,074,169 12,028,380

The consolidated financial statements on pages 3 to 162 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on June 28, 2011 and

are signed on its behalf by:

LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric
RXKE

Joint Managing Director

B B F AR AT

RERE -

PANG Yingxue

BERZE

Joint Managing Director
S E FARETE

FRERICCEZAMBRERECHESTTIN _Z
—— XA TN\ BIERRERTERTIES



For the year ended March 31, 2011 B EZ =&

At A 1, 2009

Other comprenensive income
for the year
Proft for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-setfled
share-based payments
Exercise of share options
Issue of new ordnary shares
Acquistions of subsidiaries
Acquisttions of adaifonal inferest
0of subsidries
Transfer to accumulated
profts upon disposal of
jointly controled entiies
Trensfer to accumulated profts
Upon disposal of a Subsidary
Disposal of a Subsidiary (note 43)
Capttl contrbution from
non-controling interests of
Subsiolaries
Commitment to acquire a
non-controling interest
note: 401AY0)
Dividends paid by subsidiaries fo
non-controling interests
Dividends paid
Transfer

AtMarch 31, 2010

R-FRNELA-A
FERAEEYA

i
FRENE

BLARIEH BTN

RHERRAHRRERARTEN

RHERRDARRAZ:H A

Eftka
g

R-5-F£=f=1-A

——FZASt-ALEE

Share
capital

L
HKS000
AL

33,33

3610

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRALAEEA
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties Non-
Share compensation ~ Translation  revaluation revaluation  Special  Statutory Accumulated controlling
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve funds ~ profits Total interests
L) REERE  DRER E2
BiiE SHEE ENER ] B GHRE %EER  EHEA it B8
HGO00  HABOO0  HKB000  HKBOO0  HKBO00  HKBO00  HKFO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
Tain i TR TR TR TR TRt TR TR TEn
[note 36)  (note 36) (otel) (ol
(o) (Wass) (W) ()
191564 56314 285583 - 1601 1600 11910 78130 3228210 758858
- - 1,240 798 - - - - 9,19 -
- - - - - - - OhB% GE% 13988
- - 1,240 798 - - - Gio6% 84834 130865
- 8 - - - - - - 8 -
14,19 - - - - - - - 1430 -
14264 - - - - - - - 14,304 -
- - - - - - - - - 9
- - - - - - - - - (5,284)
- - (9,066) - - - - 9,066 - -
- - 62 - - - - 62 - -
- - - - - - - - - (1.373)
- - - - - - - - - 9280
- - - - - - - - - (91
- - - - - - - - - 80m)
- - - - - - - [46676)  (46,676) -
- - - - - - 10827 (106217) - -
1980014 89184 277,660 798 1,601 1602 218021 1513260 412802 110721

Total
il
HKS 000
ThL

3982128

9198
1,018,501

1,024,6%

32810
14,380
14,344
332,93

(5,284)

(1373)

9260

194991)

3.075)
U5676)

523,297



For the year ended March 31, 2011 #EZ—E——F=HA=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRELTRE A
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties Non-
Share  Share compensation Tranglation revaluation revaluation  Special  Capital  Statutory Accumulated controling
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve reseve  funds  profits  Total interests  Total
Eakp REBRE  NEER $ER
Ra ROEE HMRE ENRE 0 BF  BE GURE EARE B ETHEW 0 &% BE  #%
HKS000  HKS000  HKB000  HKSO000  HKFOO0  HKBOOD  HKSO000  HKBOO0  HKBOOD  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$O00
Thr TEr TRr TEn ThT TEn TR TEr  TEr TR i TR TEn
note 36~ (note 36) [note | note i)
(i) (Waoe) ki) (st
At Apri 1, 2010 N-5-ZEMA-R 33610 1960014 89184 277,669 7,998 1,601 1602 - 218121 1513261 4712302 1107216 5,230,287
Ober comprehensie ncome.~~ EEEM2EARA
for the year - - - 193304 2,618 - - - - - 196082 6909 265,122
Pt for e year EEEA - - - - - - - - - G586 6586 146 TR
Totd comprefiensive income EERANNEE
for the year - - - 193304 2,618 - - - - 620806 621928 224516 1,046,444
Recogniion of equity-setled — BRERALR ZRAVARR
share-based payments - - 37500 - - - - - - - 3750 - 3750
Tansfer o accumugted profts IERERERAAZAER
upon cancelaton of
share optons - -9y - - - - - -3 - - -
Brercise of share opfions fiieehiE 1219 18791 [B46Y) - - - - - - - 121608 - 121608
lssue of new ordnary shares—— RATHERR 7186 3,063337 - - - - - - - - 3070523 - 3070523
Acquistions of subsidiares WEHELE - - - - - - - - - - - W% I31%
Acquistions of acifonal nferest — WEMEA AR
of sutsidares [rots 40 (Ristao) - - - - - - - s - - BEM) MBS [9189)
Tensfer o aooumuted profts R ERFAIERE R
upon disposelof a oty 2t
controled enty - - - 34 - - - - - 34 - - -
Disposal of a subsiclary note 43()) - EMBAF(MzE 43) - - - - - - - - - - - BME )
Shares ssued as consideraion — ZfTRGEANBERRE
for aoaistion of a business (BE3E 4208n)
(note 42(A)) 1756 692,929 - - - - - - - - 00468 - 00468
Capta contibution rom R EREaLA
non-controling inferests
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - -2 )l
Commitment to acouie & WESIRER B R (k00
non-contraling interest {note 461i) - - - - - - - - - - - (380%) (3809
Divdends peld by subsidares o~ B AREMFARER 2 RS
non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - - - - (106,607) (106,607)
Diidends pld Efths - - - - - - - - - B eom) T
Tiansler 2 - - - - - - - - T3 (13T - - -
At March 31, 2011 W5-FZ5=1-A 43831 5865011 79107 467775 10,63 1,601 16002 (43511) 291502 2047062 8764676 1573480 10,338,156
Notes: BEE
(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the () REB 7 ERIEEIEARATITINENB AT
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal ZROBEEERQARROYR—NAALEFE EWA
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the EEEABETREREXTRTEEZE
group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995. 5o
(i) In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of (i)  IR#EHPEARLMBE(HE] - TEEEE)H
China, other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in EERE  RABFMME AR BN G
the PRC are required to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net MEEFEFRASETEDLBEFATES
income from accumulated profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory BHEEATHESEREFMERS0%AIE - F£—
funds is accumulated up to 50% of its registered capital. Under normal BRERT  EEEETEDRTFTZMEBR AR
circumstances, the statutory funds is not allowed to be distributed to RIEAIRE - ATHSENHAEREER &
the subsidiary’s shareholders as dividends. The statutory funds shall only TIEEMAEBRNIBERAENEE -

be used for making good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and
expansion of its productions and operations.
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 B EZ =&

OPERATING ACTMITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Change in fair value of investment
properties
Impairment loss on amounts due
from customers for contract work
Allowance for trade receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Change in fair value of held-for-trading
investments
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid
lease payment
Loss on disposal of jointly controlled
entities
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
(Gain) loss on disposal of associates
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
unlisted investments
Interest expense
Share of results of associates
Discounts on acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity and businesses
Share-based payments
Interest income
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Gain on redemption of convertible bonds

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in amounts due
from customers for contract work

Increase in trade and other receivables

Decrease in held-for-trading investments

(Increase) decrease in amounts due
from associates

Increase (decrease) in trade and other
payables

Increase in amounts due to customers
for contract work

Decrease in amounts due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries

(Decrease) increase in amount due to

shareholders of jointly controlled entities

Cash from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTMITIES

——F=ZA=t-ALFE

Notes
i

RERH

BRI B4

RIATHE
REME A VER

BWEEZAHTERE
REEE

G 5 e BE TR

WE - BERZBEZINE

BERBNHETE
EWEAEMRY
RBERERECATEED

HEME - W%& RHEER
RENEER

HEXRZHERER

HEWBEARKE
HEBERE (Rs) B
HERHIBEFLMRECEHR

M BFX
AL NG E S
WA RESI B RS 2R

DABA T SIS0
B HA
TEERMIAZAFEE

BO A e

LEELEHF 2

Z«( %jﬂfﬂimu
BFEOEM)ES
[RNR P 2 & K TIRF0A
()R
B 5 RN N fth e L BR TR A
%WEE&QHQ
e B S N R IR GE IR
B SRR R A A R BRIE

2R D)
[ENEPZEKIiRaE

FEAT B 2 Rl IE IR s SRR
FEIT A REH B R R TR
(R )3

REXBELRS
ERREEEAEH

REXBMEREFE

2010

—E-TF

HK$'000
TET

1,173,620

(44,645)

51,418
75,112

476,194
26,461
20,019

(11,798)

4,253
5814

(147)
1190

522,677
114,402
(176,387)
32,870
(34,891)

(372,755)

1,863,413
4,630

61,041
(426,197)
7,874
106,111
(264,130)
117,673
(17,823)

3,106

1,456,497
(98,556)

1,357,941
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2010
—T-FF
Notes HK$'000
B EE FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Interest received BUFLE 34,891
Repayment from associates EHE N RIER 113,998
Advance to associates B & A RIEL 2 B3R (46,129)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEEME -« BEMRESNiEE
plant and equipment (112,886)
Pledged bank deposits-placed BEMIRITER
(1,862,654)
Release of pledged bank deposits R B ERRITER 2,221,310
Addition of investment properties NEREMHE -
Addition of property, plant and equipment  RNEWE « BEMRE (1,128,699
Addition of prepaid lease payments NEEMNHEERE (36,118)
Addition of available-for-sale investments NEAHEEERE (43,736)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEKREMERE
plant and equipment 6,169
Proceeds from disposal of HEATHREEREMEHE
available-for-sale investments -
Acquisition of additional interest in a jointly — URBE ILRI¥RHIE BEEESMERS © 0/
controlled entity, net of cash and cash FEHRe MReEEIEER
equivalents acquired 41 (7,438)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash WHEET - MBI RE
and cash equivalents acquired kIR&EEIRE 42 (656,434)
Acquisition of additional interests W BB I B A BRI ME =
in subsidiaries 40 (8,317)
Disposal of jointly controlled entities, net of — HEXEEHEE - KRG
cash and cash equivalents received BeMReEEIEE 44 32,519
Disposal of a subsidiary ST E A A 43 (1,180)
Disposal of associates HERE DT 20 330
Addition/acquisition of investments RNE/WEBRHERNRZIRE
in associates (34,771)
Repayment from non-controlling N B AR IR ERER
interests of subsidiaries 10,784
Advance to non-controlling interests P B A FIFEE AR i e 1R 2 B3R
of subsidiaries (152,679)
Repayment from shareholders EXAREHIEERREENR
of jointly controlled entities 49,681
Advance to shareholders of jointly A £ [ B BB AR R B 2 B3R
controlled entities (8,014)
Depostt for acquisition of associate WM E AR RNB AR ke
and a subsidiary -
Settlement of deferred consideration EREEFWENB LR ZEENE
in respect of prior year's acquisition
of subsidiaries (48,068)
Capital injection into a jointly controlled entity A IEEIEHEETE (23,449)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEFTARESTE (1,700,890)
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares

Dividends paid

New bank and other borrowings raised

Repayments of bank and other borrowings

Advance from shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Repayment to shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Advance from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Repayment to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries

(Repayment to) advance from associates

Advance payment for acquisition of
additional interest in a subsidiary

Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Dividend paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interests

Redemption of convertible bonds

NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash

10

Note
P

MEEE

BERFR

BITEBR 2 PTS3IE

BRRE

HEGRITRAMEE

EEFITRAMER

R B ERRER

A S ) B BB AR R B K

BB A B IR R
B
RIIENGES T 38 o

(MEE REERER

WeRE KR A RIS MBS TR VR
WeRE KT A RIS MER
40

MEARFFERED LA
(IENCIVEE R g Sl ds)

OB RES

RMETDRERE TR
RERREEERE ZBMER

FNZRERREESEEE

ER2E

ERZBERBEEEEE

RERRESERELERDT

RITEBNIRNE

2010

—T-TF

HK$'000
TET

(473,432)
14,380
(46,676)
6,915,685
(4,147,562)
262
(12,990)
30,911

(28,041)
23,867

(94,991)

9,280

(32,075)

2,168,618

1,815,669

2,048,698

7,949

3,872,316

3,872,316
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The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange’).
The address of its registered office and principal place of business
are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” of the
Group’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out note 53.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries is Renminbi (‘RMB"). As the Company is a listed entity in
Hong Kong, the directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate
to present the consolidated financial statements in HK$.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (‘new and revised
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”).

HKFRS 2 Group cash-settled share-based
(Amendments) payment transactions
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business combinations

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and separate financial
statements

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible hedged items

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

ARBRBRETMEALA—HERRER
RE HBRORBEBEZXZMAR DA
(TBERAT D EMRLET - KRR Z MM ER
REBEEWHRAEEFR I ARER]—
HEEE

ART B RERRAR - AR TEEH
BARZ EHHAHIESS -

BABHRE BTGB DIIR @
AR F R B A 7 2 W AL M B AR M
TAR%] - ARAARBREB LT 2B
8 WAATEERBIET2IEA K
BEREBRY -

RAFEE  AEBEERBATHEL S
RE([HFEGHMAE ] )R 2 REE
IR BRI MR FAT REBTERY
BmEZER])

HK(FRIC) = INT 17

HK = INT &

Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners

Presentation of financial statements

— Classification by the borrower

of a term loan that contains a
repayment on demand clause

BT HRE 4R EBEIN S EFHUARD
Fo5% (1BF]) AEBNRZRS
B EHRE A0
AR B35 (A
T )N\FEE])
B ERT AR A KRB ISR
FoTHR(RA
T )N\FEE])
B ERT AR AEREFIEE
£39%% (185])
BT HRE 4R HRZEZNFHRM
(1&37) MBE B BHRE
AERI| 7 B
BT HRE 4R BB IEHmEER
(1&37) FEEFZMERT
EBR T NE
BB BT
AR 2 Bt
Z—8bn
BB SRS B ADIRIE
RELZESY WEEE
—REE17HR
BB -REESR SRR 2 25—
ERAEBRER]
BE R 2SR BB IRER
ZEHERCHE
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Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The amendments to HKAS 7 specify that changes in ownership interests
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. Accordingly, the resulting cash flows are
classified as financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash
flows. The application of the amendments to HKAS 7 has resulted in a
change in the presentation of cash outflows for current and prior year.
Specifically, the capital contributions in the acquisition of additional
interests in subsidiaries of HK$22,988,000 paid in current year are
included in cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) has been applied in the current year
prospectively to business combinations of which the acquisition date
is on or after April 1, 2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions. Its application has affected the accounting for business
combinations in the current year.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires acquisition-related costs to
be accounted for separately from the business combination, as a
result, the Group has recognised HK$20,884,000 of such costs as
an expense in profit or loss as incurred, whereas previously they
were accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition. Therefore,
the change in accounting policy has resulted in a decrease in the
profit for the year of HK$20,884,000 and earnings per share, for
basic and diluted were decreased, by HKO0.54 cent and HKO.49 cent
respectively.

BT atESN - SR ANFE RN RAIER]
BRUBRERNHGEMBHRREB 2
MR/ AZEEAMBBRRBEE AL E
EREEDN-Z

ERGERNETR 2B HATHRTgE
BAREWBAREHE 2 A EREREE)
BYNWERER S - AL FTEEZRER=E
RiFEReRERTPHEARETE - &
BEBGTEREFEZEIEREAFTER
BAFERESRL 22 FAkE - A&m
T RAFERENBARGEMERZEE
22,988,000 TR A H & RERP T AR
BEHELECHEERE °

EEMBREENESIR(R ST N\FE
51) B R A E AR B4R B 1B 16 SRR M B B AP
B-E-TFEMA—ARZEZELAHE
TEA - HERFEAFEZEKAMHZE
SRR o

EBVBRELENFIRR T NEE
)R TE B AN B ER S HE
AR o At - A& B 20,884,000 7T B
BRAREEREIESAERAMY - Mk
ERARBETERBKRBR A —IH AL °
Ett - SRR 2 F B E BN F 5 AR
20,884,000 7t + & RABF (AR RE#E)
DR A0.5478 U K% 0.4978L ©
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The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted in
changes in the Group’s accounting policies for changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised Standard has resulted in change in the Group'’s
accounting policy regarding changes in the Group'’s ownership interests
in its subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. In prior years,
in the absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs, increases in
interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as
the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase
gain being recognised, when appropriate; for decreases in interests in
existing subsidiaries that did not involve a loss of control, the difference
between the consideration received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests was recognised in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27
(as revised in 2008), all such increases or decreases are dealt with
in equity, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from April 1, 2010
in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.

The application of the revised Standard has affected the accounting
for the Group's acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries in the
current year. The change in policy has resulted in () the difference
of HK$53,083,000 between the consideration paid during the year
ended March 31, 2010 of HK$94,991,000 and the non-controlling
interests derecognised of HK$41,908,000 which was recognised
directly in equity instead of as goodwill; and (i) the difference of
HK$9,572,000 between the consideration paid of HK$29, 158,000 and
the non-controlling interests derecognised of HK$38,730,000 which
was recognised directly in equity instead of discount on acquisitions
of additional interests in subsidiaries in profit or loss. Therefore, the
change in accounting policy has resulted in a decrease in the profit
for the year of HK$9,572,000 and the earnings per share, for basic
and diluted were decreased, by HKO.25 cent and HKO.22 cent
respectively.

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the definition of
non-controlling interest has been changed. Specifically, under the
revised Standard, non-controlling interest is defined as the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent.

EREBEH ARSI RR =BT NEE
SRR BN AE BB L FRA R
AR E Y BHIES

im

EME - ZREFTELEHAKREBNA
EREMBAREAREREEH(MAE
HAREESB) 2 BREE - RBEF
B EEEVBRELEANLEABREZR
AT RIREMB LRGSR EE TR
HEHBEARER MAELREBLBER
HAFUAER(WER)  EXTEEHLE
EhECRAMBARER 2D - TIRK
BRI AER 2 ZRN B R ER
REEBGAHENETRNR_ZZTNFE
R BEERESBREETEE - HHENE
mIWETE -

=

i

MR RBAMEL N —F T
A~ R R -

Al

FE R RZ 4SS T2 R B AN S B AN 47 5 UK P
MEBAREIINERNSTEREBNTE -
BEEHEF(INBEE_T—TF-_A=+
—H It FE B R {E94,991,000/% Jt £ 48
1F B 3R FE 4 AR A 2541,008,00008 T 2 = &8
53,083,000 T E E N = M IF R 2R
(B R (E29,158,00078 T 2 4% |- FE R IE
128 J% #E %538,730,0007% 7T 2 7= F9,572,000
BT EERERmMIFERER 2 KEN B A A
ROMER ZITEER - At S5 IR E
& BUARF E R 49,672,000/ 7T - i
SREF (EARREE) 5518202581 &
0.22781l

S - IRIBE B ST ERFE27R (N =2
NFEET) » FEBRBEZEREE -
M @ RBZEIEFTER - SFIRAAES
RIFABARERIEREEZHER
-

m
I
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Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause ("HK INT 5") clarifies that term loans
that include a clause that gives the lender the unconditional right to
call the loans at any time (“repayment on demand clause”) should be
classified by the borrower as current liabilities. The Group has applied
HK'INT & for the first time in the current year. Hong Kong Interpretation
5 requires retrospective application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in HK INT 5, the
Group has changed its accounting policy on classification of term loans
with a repayment on demand clause. In the past, the classification of
such term loans were determined based on the agreed scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. Under HK INT 5,
term loans with a repayment on demand clause are classified as
current liabilities.

As a result, bank loans that contain a repayment on demand
clause with the aggregate carrying amounts of HK$37,299,000 and
HK$114,943,000 have been reclassified from non-current liabilities to
current liabilities as at March 31, 2010 and April 1, 2009 respectively.
As at March 31, 2011, bank loans (that are repayable more than one
year after the end of the reporting period but contain a repayment on
demand clause) with the aggregate carrying amount of HK$59,523,000
have been classified as current liabilities. The application of HK INT 5
has had no impact on the reported profit or loss for the current and
prior years.

Such term loans have been presented in the earliest time band in the
maturity analysis for financial liabilities (see note 5 for details).

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17 “Leases”
has been amended in relation to the classification of leasehold land.
Before the amendment to HKAS 17, the Group was required to
classify leasehold land as operating leases and to present leasehold
land as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The amendment to HKAS 17 have removed such
a requirement. The amendments require that the classification of
leasehold land should be based on the general principles set out in
HKAS 17, that is, whether or not substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to
the lessee.

BEREBFESRMBRER 2 —EFRAY
BEABERERBRGEIZEHNERZD
BIERE-—REFRDMBERARKE
B R T RN S (R 4 R B B 2B SR SRR AR
(TFIBER ZBREEGER D ZERERDER
MBEE - AEBEERAFEEREREE
—RBELY BAERBESRABYER -

REEEE-RBESTEAHLHATE - ~EEH
BEEE N EAEARER 2 JOE FIERZE B
BERZEHE - BEFRTEHER D
TREENERGRE 2R EREENAHE
E o RIBEE-—RBESR  AEBEREX
BRIGERZERERDDBRRBDEE -

Eit - BB AR ESGEFIGER - REBE
/37,299,000 JT 114,943,000 7T 2 iR
TEFESNRZZE—ZEF=A=+—0K
—ETNFUA-HAFRDEEENOHE
ARBEaE RZT——F=A=+—080"
BR [ 4218 /A59,523,000/8 T 2 R 1T E (A
R EEERE —FREE  BAGAHE
RERERERESEARDAE - RS
B-REESRWEEER AT FEME®R
BRENTE -

ZETHERCHESRABZIRI T2 &
EnRHEEZRGHBE2RAMES) -

ER-_FTNFEM BBV BREERZ
BEN B BAEEANE1THRIEE]
ERAEL s D BIELTER - REES
FHERENTIREATAT - AEBEAKEE L
DEREERE  REAMBIKARAZT
REMNEENE - BEGFENE 1R 2E
FEMBRABER - RFEARE  HEL
WARRE B G EF175RAE — KRR
DR RTHEEEREEMMITBRED
KRR ECERETAMEA
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In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in the amendments
to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the classification of unexpired
leasehold land as April 1, 2010 based on information which existed
at the inception of the leases. Leasehold land that qualifies for finance
lease classification has been reclassified from prepaid lease payments
to property, plant and equipment retrospectively. This resulted in
prepaid lease payments with the carrying amounts of HK$21,994,000,
HK$20,468,000 as at April 1, 2009 and March 31, 2010 respectively
being reclassified to property, plant and equipment. As at March 31,
2011, leasehold land that qualifies for finance lease classification with
carrying amount of HK$18,942,000 has been included in property,
plant and equipment. The application of amendments to HKAS 17
has had no impact on the reported profit or loss for the current and
prior years.

The effects of changes in accounting policies described above on the
results for the current year by line items are as follows:

Increase in administrative 1T 48 hn
expenses

Decrease in other gains E b e M EsiEm
and losses

AREE AR

Decrease in profit for the year

REESSEBF1THR ZEFT 2 BEGF
X AEERBBANMABEEEZER
EFFER_E-ZFNA—RARER2A
EXNlE - AERDEAREREZHE
THHENHRERBET S EAYE  BE
LR WiBPBER - WBEHR _ZTTH
FOA—ARZZE—ZEF=A=1T—HKEH
B9 Bl A21,994,000/8 7T 5.20,468,0005 7T
CHENHAEREETSPEADE  BERE
B-R-_Z—F=—A=+—8 KEEAE
18,942,000 2 A ER T EAMENRE 2
HETHEIRYE  BELSE - ERASE
BEFERE 1T BITEANFERBAF
ER2RIBRSWHmTE -

El B RESEAFEEE 2 RKIER
FEMT -

2011

—Z2——F

HK$'000

FHT

(20,884)

(9,672

(30,456)
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The effects of the above changes in accounting policies on the financial
positions of the Group as at April 1, 2009 and March 31, 2010 are

e BRREHHAEBRNR _TTAFN
A—BNE-ZZ—ZTF=A=+—HB 2%t

as follows: MZZEWMT -
As at As at As at As at
April 1, April 1,  March 31, March 31,
2009 Adjustments 2009 2010 Adjustments 2010
RZZENE #E WN-ZBNE R-B-ZF #AE R-B-ZF
mA-A BA-H ZB=1-H =B=t+-H
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL FHL FHET TAT THEL FHEL
(originally (originally
stated) (restated) stated) (restated)
(R31) (E31) (R51) (E31)
Property, plant and equipment 0% BERLE 9,132,277 21,094 9154271 11,064,337 20468 11,084,805
Prepaid lease payments ANRETE 885,248 (21,994) 863,254 985,114 (20,468 064,646
Bank and other barrowings - current BAREMEER
—IE 3,108,855 114943 3218798 5,294,761 37,299 5,332,060
Bank and other borrowings — non-current RIIREMEE
— 3508 7,194,067 (114,043) 7,079,124 8,021,345 (37,299) 7,984,046
Total effects on net assets BEFEzEYE - -

The effects of changes in accounting policies described above on
the Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share for the current year
are as follows:

Figures before adjustments TR T

Adjustments arising from changes BEZANEE 2 S5FHEREE) M
in the Group’s accounting EEBARNATIER 2%
policies in relation to
— acquisition-related cost — W EEFERE R N
— acquisition of additional —UR BB I B A R RBSME RS

interests in subsidiaries

g

Figures after adjustments ARG8T

Pl g BRREBHHAFEAREGRER
NESERMN 2 ZEMT

2011

—B——f
Impact on Impact on
basic earnings diluted earnings
per share per share
HEREX HER®E
BRlz&E BRlz&E
HK cents HK cents
A PR
17.10 15.31
(0.54) (0.49)
(0.25) 0.22)
16.31 14.60
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The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that have been issued but

are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)

HK (FRIC) — INT 14
(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) = INT 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2010

Disclosures — Transfers of financial
assets®
Financial instruments*

Deferred Tax: Recovery of
underlying assets®
Related party disclosures®

Prepayments of a minimum funding

requirement®

Extinguishing financial liabilities with
equity instruments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010 or
January 1, 2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

A B IR R IAA T BB R K
HTATRATIS TR  (BETSRIE -

ERBHREELN R -ZFHEGD
(1&31) BV TS R
2B
BV BHREEL BEEEESREES
FE7RUEET)
BEREMBHmEELEN SmIA
el
?%A‘&W EIERRIR ¢ el FERE
F1298(185]) BE°
BERGTEL Al 77 2 1R FRS
245k (7
ZETNFEET)
BEREBRMBHRE BAREESER
ui%ii,\a 7
F1455 (87T
EBBBMBEHRE UERTESESR
RELZEg 2B E\%Z

F195%

' H-ZE—ZEF+A-HH T ——
F-A—B(WER)kZERBZ
FERMER -

2 H-_Z-—TF+A—-RAxz&FAA
ZFEHRAER -

g H-ZE——F+ A —-HszEmn
2 FERMAER -
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ZEERRAR
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ZEE R o

© M- F—F-A-ARZEMK
2o AR o

17



For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z —E——F=A=+—HILFE

18

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (as issued in November 2009)
introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets. HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (as revised in
November 2010) adds requirements for financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

o Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” are subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value. Specffically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the
end of subsequent accounting periods.

° In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change relates to
financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit
or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the presentation of the effects
of changes in the liability’'s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's
credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in
the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for financial year ending
March 31, 2014 and that the application of the new Standard may
affect the classification and measurement of the Groups' financial
assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect until a detailed review has been
completed.

BRVBREENESR2MTA] (R=F
ThET—ABEMSIEFREREES B R
AFBZHER BAMBHREENFESR I
BTRAI(R-_E-ZTF+—AENHMNMAHEE
BABELRILERZIRE

o  REFBHBHMEENESE  BEE
SETERIEOR BT A - R KA
ERENAZAACHRTHEEHR
BGRRBERAK D FEAE - 5
MEEBNAREANREREZEY
BEARNMEE  REOWRSREER
AeRHAEEAE 2 MEBNKZE
BRE —RRERGAH RSN
RAFHE - B REMERRE LS
MREINER G ARZQFER

=
= °

e HERAEMS EXEHESER
ERBRRAFEIENEREES
M- BRI RREBEEBMEREENFE
5% MEEERBERRAFEIIEKZ
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TRIBENEERRRENTE
BEanBEEPELRBERNSFHELR -
BENEERRNEMIIBHERAR
RPESENEHIHNEMBEBA
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EYEARECREENEREBBE I RE
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The amendments to HKAS 12 titled Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets mainly deal with the measurement of deferred
tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model in accordance with HKAS 40 Investment Property. Based on
the amendments, for the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets for investment properties measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of the investment properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted in certain circumstances. The directors anticipate that the
application of the amendments to HKAS 12 may have a significant
impact on deferred tax recognised for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect until a detailed review
has been completed.

In addition to the above the HKICPA issued the following standards
on June 24, 2011.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in
other entities
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate financial statements

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in associates and
joint ventures

These new or revised standards are mandatorily effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Early application is
permitted so long as all of the six new or revised standards are applied
early. The directors anticipate these standards will be adopted in the
Group'’s consolidated financial statements for the period beginning April
1, 2013. The directors have not yet had an opportunity to consider
the potential impact of the adoption of these standards.

Other than as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new or revised Standards,
Amendments or Interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

BEGTERE 125 2B B RIEENIA
WEHEEE  T2REREBEEESER
FIOREEMENRFERLUAEZREY
KZBEERIEE - REBEEMER  hatE
NAFEEUAEBZRENMEZREHRIER
BEREERABRENS  REMEXZKREE
TRJRAEBLERE  EAEBRRESET
BRTHRBE@MANRIN - EXTAHRRKBTES
FTHERIZE 1257 2 1B RT S & B LURE BIERER
EARAFEERFEZRENFENEAT
& o AW - KBRS 2 - BERZ
FERHMEEME -

B EXFraiESN  BEGFMAGR T —
—HFRA T RBEMA TR -

EAVHRERER RAVBHRE
F105%

EAVBREER ERTH
F115%

BV RERER REMERE 2 ES
F125% 2
EAMBREEL AFEAE
F13%%
HAGRTER
Fo7HR(RA
ZE——F1&5])
HAGRTER S
Fo85R (A
ZE——F&3F])

N

B EREK

/

/N
Az

D&
i3
)

AkAE
&

;XS]:

all

ZEMASLETEARN T —=F— A —
Az RIS FEMERG LR - B
FHZATEM - HERZNIAFTR] KB RTERIZA
R 2EEAER - EFRY - AEEEHEA
BBBRERER _E—=FNA—BFRARNEH
RRAZEEL - EFHAREHEE BRA
ZERANBHETE -

Br EXPraiESN  RRABEEREY  ERE

R R HAEERT 2 R - BT HRESTE
iR M BERRENEAEARE -

19



For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z —E——F=A=+—HILFE

20

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Prior to April 1, 2010, losses applicable to the non-controlling interests
in excess of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity were
allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the non-controlling interests had a binding obligation and were able
to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after April 1, 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted (the carrying
amount of the net assets attributable to non-controlling interests) and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss
has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to accumulated profits). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to April 1, 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same
manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For decreases in
interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference
between the consideration received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests (the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to non-controlling interest) was recognised in profit or loss.
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Business combinations that took place on or after
April 1, 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19
“‘Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of an acquiree’s
share-based payment transactions with share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 "Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Business combinations that took place on or after
April 1, 2010 (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’'s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or another measurement basis required by another Standard.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before
the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting
is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date. Measurement period does
not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Business combinations that took place prior to
April 1, 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition was measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable
to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities that met the relevant conditions for recognition
were generally recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.
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Business combinations that took place prior to
April 1, 2010 (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the recognised amounts of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the
Group’s interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of the
acquisition, the excess was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The minority interest in the acquiree was initially measured at the
minority interest’'s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each step. Any additional
acquisition did not affect the previously recognised goodwill.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly controlled
entity (which is accounted for using proportionate consolidation) is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.
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An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise for the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

\When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate
entity in which venturers have joint control over the economic activity
of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities using
proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entities are
combined with the Group's similar line items, line by line, in the
consolidated financial statements.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in jointly
controlled entities is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for goodwill arising on acquisition on a business or
jointly controlled entities (see above).

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled
entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following conditions
are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;
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o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Revenue from sales of natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas (‘LPG"),
coke and gas appliances are recognised when the gas or goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
pasis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods and services, or for administrative
purposes, (other than construction in progress and described below)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Building under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for
administrative purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease payments
provided during the construction period is included as part of costs of
buildings under construction. Buildings under construction are carried
at cost, less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation. Investment properties include land held for undetermined
future use, which is regarded as held for capital appreciation
purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.
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Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Aninternally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset
is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair values
at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subseqguent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.
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Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period,
as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except
where this would not be representative of the stage of completion.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included
to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt
is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables.

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances and gas
for sales, LPG, coke, consumables and spare parts, are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group. Specffically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis, except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment, unless it
is clear that both elements are operating leases, in which case the
entire lease is classified as an operating lease.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(the translation reserve).

From April 1, 2010 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign operation
(i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a
partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before January 1,
2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency items of the
acquirer and reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date
of acquisition.
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Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

AR HIE B ([REREE ) RER
BIRRE A BIPTE B B T IR AR
A RS RS ES -

ST S 3R B B TR SR AE R R

ARENRADRAFERRTBMGAE
FERTR B A B4R & 2 W WA SRR P s 7
TR THRATE T BREREMFEERY
FATMBBA KRR - AT BIBIERRAD
LB 2IAE - ARBENHHRAEAABEARS
HREHFTRERRAOREGHE -

ELERB G B RREERAGERE
BERFERERHEATEERE 2 R ZEMm
MR - RIERAEAFEBT ST A BRI
B ZRERER o EEHIREEE A REHIRA A
PG ZEMB 2 BRPOE TR BE SR
BRAIMBRGE ZRER - &R —BRXHF -
R B EAEBA HIAINRER AR E M
BENBEMSI B ERR ZHE T ERR
BMEERN - IAFEGHEN - I A2 HER
SEEENMAIE -

BIERIBBE AN B AR R E Rz
BREMNHARZEHER 2 ESHAEZER
TR Z AR - AR E IR Z 8
ZEE KRR ZER A R ARIH TSRO R
S o PRIER % 15 B I A o A B ) BT 4060 e B
ERELNBEEHBREE  ERAE TR

RAFERBGEMNASENERREEE - B
TEHAE AR B 2 BRI A) L A% 2 R LA 93 0 s

=7
s ©

EERIRE E 2 BREER SE RS R ER
& WA THARER BARRTOENMED
BB D B EBER EFA ©

33



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HIEFE

34

Deferred tax assets and liabllities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
on production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earmed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL, of
which interest income included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group comprise
held for trading financial assets. A financial asset is classified as held
for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subseqguent to initial recognition, loans and receivables including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from associates, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loan and receivable, (b) held to
maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When the
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s
financial liabilities are generally classified into other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL represent financial liabilities held for trading,
which comprise derivatives that are not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising on remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible bonds that contain liability component
and conversion/redemption option derivatives

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain liability and
conversion/redemption option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that will
be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is a conversion option derivative. The redemption
option derivatives represent the redemption at the option of the bond
holders before the maturity date. At the date of issue, both the liability
and conversion/redemption option components are recognised at fair
value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
conversion/redemption option derivative is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the liability and conversion/redemption option components
in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the conversion/redemption option derivatives are charged to profit and
loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to associates and a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Obligation to acquire non-controlling interests

Aforward contract which contains an obligation to acquire non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary is initially recognised at the present value of
the contracted amount (consideration payable) with a corresponding
debit to equity (non-controlling interests) and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value at
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on
the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated
as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contracts, and the host contracts
are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Where the Group redeems a convertible bond before its maturity, the
consideration paid is allocated to the liability and derivative components
of the convertible bond at their respective fair values at the time
of redemption. To the extent that the amount of the consideration
allocated to the liability component is less than the carrying amount of
the liability component at the time of redemption, a gain is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Share options granted to employees of the Company
vested on or after April 1, 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to employee share-based compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in employee share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Share options granted to employees of the Company
and vested before April 1, 2005

The financial impact of the share options granted and fully vested
before April 1, 2005 is not recorded in the consolidated financial
statements until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge
is recognised in profit or loss in respect of the value of options granted.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value
of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or
are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register
of outstanding options.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

The following are the key assumptions concemning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

The management of the Group uses their judgments in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not quoted
in an active market. Valuation technigues commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. For derivative financial instruments and
convertible bonds with embedded derivatives, assumptions are made
based on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features of the
instrument.
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Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.
When the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at March 31, 2011, the carrying amount
of goodwill was HK$1,565,604,000 (2010: HK$900,577,000) with
no impairment loss recognised. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation disclosed in note 25.

At the end of the reporting period, management assessed the
recoverability of its intangible assets arising from the acquisitions of
businesses/assets, in which the carrying amount at March 31, 2011
was HK$1,401,675,000 (2010: HK$1,254,675,000). The business of
the cash generating unit continues to progress in a satisfactory manner.
Detailed valuation analysis has been carried out and management is
confident that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full.
This situation will be closely monitored. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future cashflows in
the future. If the future recoverable amounts fall below the carrying
amounts, additional impairment is required.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual value and the
useful life of the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such differences from the original
estimates will impact the depreciation charges in the year in which
the estimates change.

As at March 31, 2011, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,180,660,000 (2010: HK$1,675,899,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset in relation to these
unused tax losses approximately to HK$2,109,107,000 (2010:
HK$1,631,806,000) has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In cases where there are future profits
generated to utilise the tax losses, a material deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the period in which the estimated future
profits are expected.
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Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised on
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of the contract costs incurred for the work performed to
date over the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, any changes
to the estimated total contract cost may have material impact on
the contract revenue recognised in each accounting period over the
contract term.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout
the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include the
bank and other borrowings, amount due to a non-controlling interest
of a subsidiary and convertible bonds disclosed in notes 34, 37 and
38 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 35, reserves and
accumulated profits as disclosed in consolidated statements of
changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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Financial assets TREE
Available-for-sale investments AfEERE
Held-for-trading investments RIEEERE
Loans and receivables ER K ERGRIA

(including cash and (BER&R
cash equivalents) BeEEHAEE)
FVTPL- Derlvative BNV ERABR -

financial assets TESREE

Financial liabilities TRAE
Amortised cost BEIERR AR
FVTPL- Derivative BATERT ABZ—

financial liabilities METRaE

The Group's major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due from/to
associates, trade and other receivables, derivative financial instruments,
trade and other payables, amount due to a non-controlling interest of
a subsidiary, bank and other borrowings, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risks
Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also denominated
in RMB. However, the Group has certain bank balances, amount
due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and bank and other
borrowings that are not denominated in functional currency of the
respective group entities. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB
against foreign currencies may have positive or negative impact on
the results of operations of the Group.
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Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
but the directors monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
As at end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency
are as follows:

United States Dollars (‘USD”) Ern((ZEx))
HKS BT
Japanese Yen (“JPY") RE(THEAD

The carrying amounts of inter-company balances of certain group
entities which were denominated in foreign currency are as follows:

usD e

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2010:
5%) increase and decrease in RMB against respective foreign
currencies. 5% (2010: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currencies denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2010: 5%) change in foreign currencies rates. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen
5% (2010: 5%) against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2010: 5%)
weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the result for the year and the balance
below would be negative.

5 m g (8 )
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Assets Liabilities

BE =V
2010 2010
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HK$'000 HK$'000
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_ _ 451,622
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Liabilities
afE
2010
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Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

USD impact EnyE
HKS$ impact BT E
JPY impact AExZ

Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest rate
level as well as potential impact on the Group’s financial position
arising from volatility. Interest rate swap is the hedging instrument most
commonly used by the Group to manage interest rate exposure.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary and the convertible bonds issued by the Group
(see notes 34, 37 and 38 for details of these borrowings and convertible
ponds respectively). The Group aims at keeping borrowings at variable
rates. In order to achieve this result, the Group entered into interest
rate swaps to hedge against its exposures to changes in fair values
of the borrowings. These hedging activities do not qualify for hedge
accounting. The changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps are
recognised in the profit and loss as they arise.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and other borrowings
(see notes 32 and 34 for details of bank balances and these borrowings
respectively). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

5 m b (&)
ERRER(E
BURE DT (&)

(Decrease) increase
in post-tax profit
for the year
FERBEERN L) E M
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FAT
131,190
(1,641)
16,936

146,485
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7 8k B AR ) 2K T TR 0 7 o A
T2 B B R AR R AR o FIE
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R A -
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AEBNE RS oY BIRTTHESG MY BIRTT
REMEE (ZFRITEBRIEEFIERME
2R3 2R REN KRR - NEE 2K
R e B R EF BN ERIURE R FER
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Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and other borrowings
and interest rate swaps, together with the interest capitalised to
construction in progress at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the sensitivity analysis
as the management considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate
significantly in the near future and therefore the financial impact to the
group is not significant. A change of 100 basis points (2010: 100
basis points) was applied to the yield curves and interest rate on
both floating-rate bank and other borrowings and interest rate swap,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress. The
applied change is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If the interest rate
of variable rate bank and other borrowings and interest rate swaps,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress had
been 100 basis points (2010: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the
year, after taking amount of interest capitalised and fair value changes
on the interest rate swap, would decrease/increase by HK$62,086,000
(2010: HK$87,870,000).

Equity price risk

The Group’s available-for-sale investments and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the reporting
date. A 10% (2010: 10%) change is used when reporting equity
price risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in
equity price.

For the year ended March 31, 2011, if the market bid prices of the
listed investments had been 10% (2010: 10%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year would increase/decrease by HK$998,000 (2010: HK$1,292,000)
and the Group’s investment revaluation reserve will increase/decrease
by HK$1,591,000 (2010: HK$1,323,000) respectively. This is mainly
attributable to the changes in fair values of the listed held-for-trading
investments and available-for-sale investments respectively.
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Market risks (Continued)
Credit risk

As at March 31, 2011, the Group’'s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties or debtors provided
by the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each
half-reporting end date and end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC
and banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due from associates,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers. In order to minimise the credit risk on amounts due
from associates, the directors of the Company closely monitors the
subsequent settlement and does not grant long credit period to the
counterparty. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is significant reduced.

The policy of allowances for doubtful debts of the Group is based on
the evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s estimate. In determining whether impairment is required,
the Group takes into consideration of aging status and likelihood of
collection. Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are
unlikely to be collected and is recognised on the difference between
the estimated future cash flows expected to receive discounted using
the original effective interest rate and the carrying value. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowance
may be required.
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Market risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$1,802,781,000 as at
March 31, 2011 (3.31.2010: HK$1,840,971,000 and 4.1.2009:
HK$782,621,000). The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis because the directors believe that
the Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements taking into account of the cash flows from operations
and assuming the continuing ability to utilise the available long-term
pank loans facilities. As at March 31, 2011, the Group had available
unutilised long-term bank loans facilities of HK$35,707,479,000
(3.31.2010: HK$8,888,805,000 and 4.1.2009: HK$12,914,680,000).
Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings at March 31, 2011
are set out in note 34.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of new
shares and convertible bonds, the Group also relies on bank and
other borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group'’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probabllity of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The tables include both interest and principal gross cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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Market risks (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

s Ep ()
RBETER (&

Carrying
Weighted amount
average  Payable Between  Between Total at the end
contractual on Less than 1to  Imonths  Between Over undiscounted of reporting
interestrate ~ demand  1month 3months to1year 1to5years  5years cash flows period
nEYs  ZEER -fiAz  =fBRZ YR REERR
S g2 JR-BA  ZER -§ -FEEE BENE BERBE KEE
HKG000  HKS000  HKBOO0  HKSOO0  HK$000  HKBOOD  HKBOO0  HK$O000
Thr TR TR T TEm TEr  Thn TEn
At March 31, 2011 W-2--£=f=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiteHas
Trade and bil payables BHRNERRENES - - M3 1317562 434753 - - 219528 219208
Other payables and accrued charges A ENEEREER - - 500% 153073 68278 - - 791406 791406
Amounts due to non-contoling FERIER T
Interests of subsidiaries L3 - 69,705 - - - - - 69,706 69,705
Amounts due to shareholders of ERRBHERRR
jointy controlled enties LiE - 17399 - - - - - 1739 17,39
Obigation on capital necton to Fujan hRAR(EE R ME2B))
Arvan (as defined n note 21) by Znongmin WRELA(RR A1)
Zhongran (as defined in note 42(B)fi) HENER - - - B8 - - - BM8 B8
Obligation on acqiston of addiional nterest in WENERTEER
a subsidary (note 39) LB (H) - - - - 3B0% - - BB 380%
Bank and other borowings BIRABEE
- fixed rate -%8 6.77% - - - 20673 4465615 1,193,394 5,951,682 5574302
- floating rate -%E 8.15% 59,523 1220 19433 3765680 4214003 3844707 11904623 9458862
Amount due to a non-controling FERIER T
inerest of a subsidiary LiE % - - - 5143 - - 5,143 5042
146627 1014190 1513516 4604627 8679668 5,088,101 20,996,729 18,173,487
At March 31, 2010 H-B-FFZf=1-H
Non-derivative financial liahilties FiiteRaE
Trade and bil payebles LAENEIRENTE - - 3008 1011814 333800 - - 1685479 1,685,479
Other payables and acorued charges HENEEREER - - 305 1T 45576 - - DT 52826
Amourts due to non-controling ERHER T
nterests of subsidiaries pa V| - 50,501 - - - - - 50,501 50,501
Amounts due to shareholders of ERARBHERRR
jointy controlled enties L3 - 4668 - - - - - 4B 24668
Obigation on capital necton to Fujan R (R R LB))
Anvan (as defined in note 21) by Znongmin WEERA(ERAM)
Zhongran (as defined in note 42(B)fi) HENER - - - - B8 - - B8 B8
Deferred cash considerafion for WEEBHEILRERE
acouistion of businesses - - - - 78,161 - - 78,161 78,161
Bank and other borowings BTRABEE
- fixed rate -8 6.05% - - - 2009799 1604565 2182647 5807011 5016495
- floating rate -%8 6.75% 37,299 20 2094 3601534 3021148 3487515 10,172,680  8299,611
Amount due to a non-controling ERHER T
nterest of a subsiolary L3R 2% - - - 7132 377,986 - 318 366591
112468 720809 1138745 6159450 5003699 5670162 18,805,333 16,083,221
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Market risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
‘payable on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
March 31, 2011, March 31, 2010 and April 1, 2009 the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$59,5623,000, HK$37,299,000 and HK$1 14,943,000 respectively.
The bank loans as at March 31, 2010 and April 1, 2009 were settled
in the following reporting period. Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid
under category between 1 to 5 years in the liquidity table after the
reporting date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows will amount to HK$70,586,000.

The amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings and
derivative financial instrument are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

° the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded in active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively; and

° the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis; and

° the fair values of interest rate range accrual swaps as set out
in note 29, are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the application yield curve derived from quoted interest
rates and quoted spot and forward foreign exchange rates. For
an option-based derivative embedded in convertible bonds, the
fair value is estimated using option pricing model.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs

other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
technigues that include inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

BAFEFABSENEREE

Financial assets at FVTPL

Held-for-trading investments FHEEERE

Available-for-sale financial AHHESREE
assets

Listed equity securities ETRAE S

Unlisted club debentures FLEmEMES

Financial liabilities at FVTPL RAFE ABZNEREAE
Derivative financial liabilities PTEemAaE
Interest rate range accrual swaps — FI| R i [E 25t

Total 1B

Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBEZNSREE
Derivative financial assets TETmERE
Interest rate range accrual swaps ~ F R & E Rt Hf

Held-for-trading investments RIEEERE

Available-for-sale financial ARHESREE
assets

Listed equity securities ETRAE S

Unlisted club debentures ELETERMES

Total 5t

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 in the current year
and prior year.
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2010
—E-FF

Level 1 Level 2 Total
F—1 FH 45T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
- 12,668 12,668
15,468 - 15,468
13,230 - 13,230
- 3,494 3,494
28,698 16,162 44,860
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Revenue mainly represents, the net amounts received and receivable
for sales of piped gas and LPG and construction contract revenue from
gas connection contracts by the Group for the year and is analysed
as follows:

Sales of piped gas HEEBMA

Gas connection income PRI B

Sales of LPG HERIEAHRR
Sales of coke and gas appliances &R & R &1
Others Eh

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the managing directors of the Group, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services rendered which is also consistent
with the basis of organisation of the Group, except for Zhongyu Gas
Holdings Limited (“Zhongyu Gas”), a subsidiary where the Group has
acquired 56.33% equity interest in it. The Group consider Zhongyu Gas
is a single operating segment as CODM reviews the total revenue and
overall result of Zhongyu Gas. The Group'’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Sales of piped gas;

(ii) Gas connection;

(i) Sales of LPG;

(iv)  Sales of coke and gas appliances; and

(v)  Zhongyu Gas

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.
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2010
—ET-TF
HK$'000
FHT
3,831,627
1,461,573
4,637,924
268,845
11,990

10,211,959
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7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Segment revenues and results THNERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results REFIRAREDBEEID 2 WS R EEDNT
by reportable segment. /N
For the year ended March 31, 2011 BE-_E——fF=A=+—HIEE
Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas Sales of and gas Zhongyu Segment
piped gas connection LPG appliances Gas Total
BERR RERER RERRE
HE  BRER HE REHE THMRR  2E4E
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TEx TEx FEx TEx TEx FEx
Segment revenue from extemal customers  RENAEF 2
L LN 5,582,934 2,086,497 6,654,797 485,131 1,035,998 15,845,357
Segment profit (l0ss) RN (BE) 692,146 1,046,494 (22,435) 2,638 92,410 1,811,253
Revenue arising from property investment MERE WS 16,523
Interest and other gains FERE i 57,493
Unallocated corporate expenses NN R (189,742)
Finance costs HBER (614,391)
Change in fair value of investment properties X B E A FEZE) 47,057
Change in fair valug of derivative financial fTE2@TA
instruments ATERE (44,790)
Loss on disposal of a jointly controlled entity & FEI#E#]
ERCER (932)
Gain on disposal of associates HEBE DR E 753
Loss on disposal of avalable-for-sale HEMEE
unlisted investments FLTREZER (2,042)
Share of results of associates BB NRER 15,856
Profit before taxation BREATR T 1,097,038
HK$’000
TEx
Reconciliation of revenue WEEE
Total revenue for operating segments EEN NG 15,845,357
Rental income HEBA 16,523
Group’s consolidated revenue £8RA NS

15,861,880
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For the year ended March 31, 2010

Segment revenue from external
customers

Segment profit

Revenue arising from property
investment

Interest and other gains

Unallocated corporate expenses

Finance costs

Change in fair value of investment
properties

Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments

Loss on disposal of jointly controlled
entities

Loss on disposal of an associate

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Discount on acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity

Discount on acquisition of businesses

Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation

Reconciliation of revenue
Total revenue for operating segments
Rental income

Group’s consolidated revenue
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REHIREP 2D BHRA

DERH

MERE
MBREM S
ADBARFRX

MBER
RENELATEEY

fTEEBIAATES
HEARBHER ER
HERENRZBE

HEMBAR Wa
WERARZHER 2R

EESFEE
R RTRE
B
WaHE
BEHFI
BEMA

£EE A

Sales of
piped gas
EEMA

HE

HK$'000

TET

3,831,627

587,211

BEr_E-ZFF=-F=+—HIFE

Sales
of coke
Gas Sales of and gas Segment
connection LPG  appliances Total
RIERBE  MERRE
IR m B HE  RBHE DIEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TET TET

1,461,673 4,637,924 268,845 10,199,969

645,212 74,411 10,499 1,317,458

11,990

49,279
(154,947)
(522,677)

44,645

372,755

(5,814)
(1,190)
141

302
176,085
(114,402)

1,173,620

HK$'000
TAT

10,199,969
11,990

10,211,959
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All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers
and no inter-segment sales are noted for current and prior years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Except for
segment profit of Zhongyu Gas, segment profit (loss) for remaining
reportable segments represents the profit earned by or loss from
each segment without allocation of bank interest income, property
rental income, exchange gain, central administration cost, change in
fair value of investment properties and derivative financial instruments,
losses on disposal of an associate and jointly controlled entities, loss
on disposal of available-for-sale unlisted investments, gain on disposal
of associates and a subsidiary, discounts on acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity and businesses, share of results of associates, finance
costs and taxation. The segment profit of Zhongyu Gas represents the
profit before taxation of Zhongyu Gas. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group's segment assets and
segment liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker:

NE2EZZMABBRABREINRES
REEZ KB Eifﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁf‘ﬁ%%%ﬂﬁ

BB ) FE Y & AT IR BB ECAT il By AR R [
2 Eﬂtﬁwﬁﬁlﬂ o BRI R D BB RIS - £
T2V BN RN (BE)ESDEN
MHEEE - WES RIRTH S WA DR
MEBSWA - ERWE - PRITEAA
Tﬁ%%%&?ﬁfi@%ﬁlﬂz NPEZE -
EMERRRAREGHERZER HEA
1/\Hj%3FJ:me§ZJEﬁE CHEBERRR
YRR ek - WIB KRR S B R X
2R EIEBE RARIRE  MBBERARN
A o PR D BE N3 P AR R 2 R B AT
w A o LI EIR D B R RIRFEN S A
BLFRREERNGTETE -

NTAAEBERTIBEEREEERRIDN
DREERDBREDN
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 X =&
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At March 31, 2011

7. DEER(E)

PTHEEEREE(E)
R-E——#=F=+—H

Sales
of coke
Sales of Gas Sales of and gas Zhongyu
piped gas connection LPG appliances gas Total
BERR REEHRR RERFE
HE  RRER HE REHE  PHRR  2E4E
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TEx TEx TEx TEx TER TEx
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHREE 15,000,601 1,238,994 3,533,330 299,042 2,236,507 22,308,474
Investment properties RENE 401,890
Property, plant and equipment (for corporate)  #1%  BiE KR
(R) 175,788
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate) BNBERE(AR) 34,349
Investments in associates NN ¢ 1,009,505
Available-for-sale investments HHERE 82,930
Deferred tax assets BIEHBEEE 91,466
Held-for-trading investments BEBERE 11,948
Other recelvables (for corporate) EiEYERE(AR) 308,904
Pledged bank deposits BEERBIER 1,633,466
Bank balances and cash FTEHRIRS 4,827,808
Consolidated total assets RREERE 30,886,528
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment liabilities NEakE 549,785 2,228,266 698,570 112,788 1,198,521 4,787,930
Other payables (for corporate) EERERE(AR) 715,058
Taxation BIR 136,781
Bank and other borrowings RIOTREMEE 14,361,182
Amount due to a non-controlling B
interest of a subsidiary IR ER TR 5,042
Deferred taxation EREFE 510,257
Derivative financial instruments fTHEERTIA 32,122
Consolidated total liabilities maakeER 20,548,372
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

At March 31, 2010

Sales of
piped gas
BEMA
HE
HK$'000
AR
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHREE 12,495,082
Investment properties REME
Property, plant and equipment (for corporate) — #1% ~ BB KRE(A )
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate) BRBEEFIE(AR)
Investments in associates REENR RE
Avallable-for-sale investments fHERE
Deferred tax assets ERTRERE
Held-for-trading investments BEBERE
Derivative financial instruments fTESBIA
Other recelvables (for corporate) EfliRIE(RA)
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER
Bank balances and cash RITEHRAE
Consolidated total assets GAEERE
LIABILITIES 8f
Segment liabilities PEBRE 407,159
Other payables (for corporate) HitEREE(AR)
Taxation PiE
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE
Amount due to a non-controlling LG
interest of a subsidiary HERERTE
Deferred taxation ERHE
Consolidated total liabilities Faaked

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

All assets, except for the assets of Zhongyu Gas, are allocated
to reportable segment other than investments in associates,
available-for-sale investments, property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments for corporate use, deferred tax assets,
held-for-trading investments, derivative financial instruments,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash of the
Group, and corporate assets of the Group. Segment assets of
Zhongyu Gas represents the total assets of Zhongyu Gas.

All liabilities, except for the liabilities of Zhongyu Gas, are
allocated to reportable segment other than derivative financial
instruments, taxation, bank and other borrowings, amount due
to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and deferred taxation
of the Group, and corporate liabilities of the Group. Segment
liabilities of Zhongyu Gas represents the total liabilities of Zhongyu
Gas.

R-FE-—FEF=HA=1+—H
Sales
of coke
and gas Segment
appliances Total
REHE
HK$'000
TAR

Gas Sales of
connection LPG
RICRAR

RS HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR

gt
HK$'000
TET
894,068 3,168,140 191,065 16,748,305
343,158
143,280
34,224
957,709
82,838
88,155
15,468
12,668
210,370
489,103
3,872,316

22,997,594

1,382,981 899,068 193,792 2,883,000
562,203
146,162

13,316,106

366,591
503,295

17,767,367
MERDBERRERRDBRNEERME

o KRPTMMREEIN MBEEHDE
EBERTZRE  AIHHERE
REBRZME  BERRKEREN
MEFE - EXHBEE  HIFEH
RE - -THEERIA  BEMRTE
RMRITREB R AR EBEIR S IAINE
BoE - MR BEEET RN
RHVEEMRE -

e KThHMRAEIN MERAEBEHDE
ETESRTA  BIE - RITREM
fEE - BB R IEERERE R
e ARBELCHEARAEERRE
BEAINNZ2RD I - PHRRD R
BEIRTPHRRN A ERE -
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CHINA S HOLDINGS LIMITED

7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. DHEER(E
Other segment information BEoEER
Sales
of coke
Sales of Gas Salesof andgas Segment
piped gas  connection LPG appliances total Unallocated Consolidated
EERR RLEHRE RERRE
#E RRER HE REHE 2EEE AAE #a
HKPO00  HK$000  HKFO000  HKB000  HK$000  HKFO000  HKHOOO
Tir  Tén ThL TEL Taér  TEn AL
Amounts included in the measure of BEENESBERS
segment proft or loss or segment assets: AEEENSE -
2011 -2-—-%
Additions of prepaid lease payments BAEETERE 214,966 - 3,969 - 218935 - 218,935
Additions o goodwil BERE 611,040 - - - 611,040 - 611,040
Addttions to intangible assets EREENE 149,534 - - - 149,534 - 149534
Additions to property, plant and equipment % BRREERE 1,680,672 - 224311 - 1,904,983 4,019 1,909,002
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HENE BER
and equipment FEOEEUE) 10,654 - (1,219 - 9,380 (117) 9,263
Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments HERARENENER 73 - 3,267 - 3,340 - 3,340
Amortisation of intangible assets Bl AR 48,974 - - - 48974 - 48974
Release of prepid lease payments BERAAERE 29,649 - 13273 - 492 849 43771
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % BRREENE 419,443 - 176,219 - 595,662 3330 598,992
Allowanoe for trade receivables B BRI EE - 7,383 - - 7,383 - 7,383
2010 —E-3%
Addttions of prepaid lease payments BNRERERE 112,087 - 15766 - 127888 - 10783
Additions o goodwil BERE 181,548 - 84562 - 216,110 - 216,110
Additions to intangible assets EVEENE 954,397 - - 964397 - 964397
Additions to property, plant and equipment nE - BEREERE 1,042,912 - 207406 - 1250318 12713 1,263,031
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HENE - BEREBNER 3,604 - 559 - 4,253 - 4,253
Amortisation of intanglole assets BVEEEH 20,019 - - - 20019 - 20019
Release of prepaid lease payments BERNRERE 12,772 - 128% - 25667 794 06,461
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % BRREENE 319,309 - 150,707 - 470,016 6,178 476,194
Impaiment losses of amounts due from customers MBS ANT AR
for contract work HEESE - 51418 - - 51418 - 51418
Allowance for trade receivables BHRUETER - 75012 - - 7512 - 75112
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7.

Segment Information (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

7.

4

PEER(E)
Hith D BER ()

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBxT FAT
Amounts regularly provided to the [ B2 iERERE F HiRtE
chief operating decision maker TEREEIEERIHHEE
but not included in the measure st EZ RKYELEE ¢
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Discounts on acquisition of WHE L RE R B R EK 2 ITE
a jointly controlled entity
and businesses - 176,387
Share of results of associates JEMREE R B A 15,856 (114,402)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by
location of external customers:

& E R
AEBMNESREZMNFE -

TREHAKEIZINLEFFRELE D K%K
AT

2011 2010

—Z2——%F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Hong Kong B 960 960
PRC A 15,860,920 10,210,999
15,861,880 10,211,959

None of the customer contributed over 10% of total revenue of the
Group.

The following is the information about non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the geographical area
in which the assets are located:

BEZPEASBERBAI0%NA L -

NTRIZEEMEMEDNIERBDEE(SR
TAMEERIAEERIN VEHR

3.31.2011 3.31.2010 4.1.2009
WoF-—F R-F-FE ROFTNE
=H=+—H =ZH=+—H mMA—HE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET FHET

(restated) (restated)

(E7) (E71)

Hong Kong aBE 787,807 609,363 86,443
PRC FE 19,259,377 15,125,025 12,556,707

20,047,184 15,734,388 12,643,150
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Interest income FEWA
Subsidies from PRC governmental 71 BB TR < # 8L
authorities:
— compensation for loss incurred
in coal gas operation (note a)
— subsidy for replacement of
pipelines for natural gas
supply (note b)
— tax refund (note c)
Repair and maintenance
services fee
Other services income
Income from leasing of equipments
Transportation income
Compensation income (note d)
Others

—RKRE S B ER
MER1E (KT iEa)

—EBMARARHEEEE
Z faah (P 5Eb)

— R (fif5Ee)
HERREREE

H At ARFUA
HAEEREERA
BEUWA

FREW A (B REd)
Hit

Notes: PR -
Pursuant to notice of compensation dated August 28, 2007 issued
by the relevant government authority in the PRC, # JIE A A 1 2%
BARAT (HEIEFR"), a subsidiary of the Company, received a
compensation from the government authority to subsidise for the
increase in cost of sales of natural gas by reference to monthly
purchase volume by ¥ B # for both years.

For the year ended March 31, 2011, #JIEs #received a subsidy
of HK$12,254,000 (2010: HK$26,296,000) from #EJIE T B X /& for
the cost incurred for connection contracts relating to pipeline network
for customers in new urban areas and replacement of old pipeline
network of the natural gas users in Fushun city. All the required
work has been completed by #EJIEH#2. All the costs incurred were
recognised as cost of sales in profit or loss during the year. In
addition, ERI PR T B R AR AR (VERH K, a subsidiary of
the Company, received subsidies of HK$20,818,000 for the year
(2010: HK$10,517,000) from HEFETEEE for its additional
costs incurred in certain gas connection contracts in which the
connection fee is fixed by the relevant government authority in the
PRC. Furthermore, FEJA IR T AR B R AR A A, a subsidiary
of the Company, received the subsidies of HK$11,071,000 for the
year (2010: nil) from the relevant government authority for the cost
incurred in the gas connection contract incurred during the year.

The PRC government authorities have granted a tax incentive to
certain subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund for natural gas
business operated in the PRC.

For the year ended March 31, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group,
ESRREMIRARERABR AR (VEBF M) received a one-off
compensation of HK$22,988,000 from an independent third party,
SESLRMRE AR AR (VESEILE"). This related to disputes with
JERSLE regarding the operating right in a particular area in the
PRC. 2 X also agreed to give up the operating right in that
particular area.

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
THT
34,891

14,395

36,813
2,813

9,661
44,905
22,291
52,603
22,988
32,625

273,885

BREHEEBBAERER —Z22+5\A
“HNABEHNBEBRAE - AARME
X AYRIIE AR PRI T B R A R N A ([ HEIE AP
R BRI HRESERE - AMALX
RRIHEKALLIN(2E IR AT Z M
BEEZBABEE) -

HEzE - Z——F=ZA=Z=+—HItHF
S o HEJIE gk 4 HE I T BT BB R
## Bh12,054,0008 o( —Z T — T F
26,296,000/ 7T ) * LAEBIEIET T ™
EAFEEMBEBZERAORRAR
AEMESERBEBREENRAN - EE
FRERATAERTELR - IAKAD
RAFEZEEHRERBHERAK - 5
Gh o RRFIMBARERP R TEE
BRARERFTRRDRERTHEB
TES#EE20,818,0008 TL( — T —F4F ¢
10,517,000 7T) + LATEBEE FHEBME
AH(EFNERETY A+ HEHEBTH
BIEE T ) FTE A 2 BN o A+ AR
FE - AQEIHIE AR EA R TR R
R A PR A B 1L B BT i B T B B
11,071,0008 (=2 —FF &) - L&
BERNERRAE LFTELERNRKA

PR KL AN RE TE T
HEIME AR - BREERBREERAR
KIEZHIA »

REBEE-ZT-—ZTF=-A=+—HItEE -
REEMBARIBESPRBETRRAEES
RARIERB R BB E =75 EB
LERRABRAR(ERE LR ) ZER—
R 38 B (822,088,000 7T © It Jh BE R
ESL TR LRSS E LD - F
B5 SR IR [F) B R EE TE a% M B O A o
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Other gains and losses comprise:  Eftb a5 K BB B

Loss on disposal of jointly s R EE S B A ESIE
controlled entities (note 44) (PfisE44)

Gain (loss) on disposal k= d—NCIlE ol &I E =)
of associates (note 20) (FfF3E20)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary — HEMB A Ak
(note 43) (MIEE43)

Loss on disposal of avallable-for-sale Hi % A i & 3F E IR E R EE

unlisted investments
Discount on acquisition of a jointly Y&+t B 5 & s ey 4%

controlled entity (note 41) (FFE41)

Discount on acquisition W TS T o8
of businesses (note 42) (FfzE42)

Change in fair value of WEMEN RN T EZE
investment properties

Change In fair value of FHEBERENA T EES)

held-for-trading investments

Impairment loss on amounts due  EWEF A TIEFIERN
from customers for contract REEE (M3E27)
work (note 27)

Allowance for trade receivables B 5 JE Wt BR 78 5 (B 7E28)
(note 28)

Change in fair value of derivative  $TEE£BT AN AFE
financial instruments (note 29) &8 (fzE29)

Gain on redemption of Zhongyu  fEEIFR R RES
Gas Bond (as defined in note 38)  (RAMIzE38FRE ) KU 25

Exchange gain b 5 Y am

2010
—ET-TF

HK$'000
TAET

(5,814)
(1,190)

141

302
176,085
44,645

11,798

(51,418)
(75,112)

372,755

472,192
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Interest on: LATIEE 258

Bank loans and other borrowings /EEAEEWE%ZE}SZ
wholly repayable within five years  $RITER R EMEE

Bank loans and other borrowings /,\E"ﬁiﬁﬂi%ﬂ%ﬁiz

not wholly repayable HITERREMEER
within five years
Convertible bonds (note 38) AIHARR(E 7 (I FE38)

Net interest expense on interest ~ F| &8 8f 7
rate swaps B X

Interest capitalised to construction EFEERTRZERZFIE
in progress

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate
of 5.87% (2009: 5.92%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying

assets.
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Al ZE P H
Deferred taxation (note 39) EEFIE (M17E39)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no assessable
profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in the PRC is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FExT

212,909

278,393
39

491,341

111,032

(79,696)

522,677

AEENEBAEAZEBERATEEA —
BIEEEAE  RARGEREENASZ
5.87% (ZZEZTNF: 5.92%)NFEERL R

s
ATSH °

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHT
192,985
(34,866)

158,119
R AEERZMEFEENTBELRER

BOg A B ARREGEMBERRABTENE
WA B -

$ R B2 30 2 BTV B 2 i
BiRHH -
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Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Company are exempted from PRC Enterprise
Income Tax for the first two years commencing from their first profit-
making year of operation and thereafter, these PRC entities will be
entitled to a 50% relief from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the following
three years ("Tax preference”). The Tax preference arrangement of
the aforesaid PRC subsidiaries have been/will be expired from 2011
to 2013. The reduced tax rate for the relief period is 12.5% for both
years. The charge of PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the years has
been provided for after taking these Tax preference into account.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

as follows:
Hong Kong
E
2010
—Z-TF
HK$'000
THT
(Loss) profit before taxation BRAEAT (B518 ) A 95,670
Tax at the domestic income tax rate RAMAETHEHE
ZBE 15,786
Tax effect of share of results of associates  FE(REES A RIEE
JHEYE -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible SHEME A
for tax purpose ZHRYZHEY 2 25,694
Tax effect of income not taxable I S AR
for tax purpose WAz FIEEE (61,548)
Tax sffect of estimated tax losses WEHER 2 (B
not recognised B TRy S 20,068
Tax effect of income tax at BEEMEIEMEH
concessionary rate THEYE _
Taxation BIE -

Note: The applicable tax rate for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) and 25% (2010: 25%) respectively.

REBFEABERLER  ARARETHE
MEBRARREARAEGSRNEFEREMENA
BHRETECEMEN  HRZ=FMN %
S B RASERRO0% 2 EEEMEN
(IBRBEE]) - A LAl h B8 A R ek
BEELHE MR _T——F2-F—=
FREM - ZMEFENRRMBER12.5% °
REBHRBEERR CURSEFEZPED
EPREHIELBUE -

FEBARGA R ERARRAREHA (5
18030 P2 SARATT -

PRC Total

HE M@t
2010 2010
“T-TF —Z-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHT
1,077,950 1,173,620
269,487 285,273
28,601 28,601
17,859 43,6563
(57,603) (119,151)
176,966 197,034
(277,191 (277,191)
168,119 158,119

e &8 RFPEZERRES 5 A16.5%
—E—TF 1 165%) K25% (ZE—F
1 05%) o
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Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditor's remuneration
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
included in cost of sales
Minimum lease payments for
operating leases in respect of:
— rented premises
— equipments

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments

Research and development cost
(included in administrative
expenses)

Share of tax of associates
(included in share of results of
associates)

Staff costs:

Directors’ emoluments (note 13)

Salaries and allowances
of other staff

Contributions to retirement benefit
scheme contributions of
other staff

Less: amount capitalised in
construction in progress

Cost of inventories recognised
as expenses in respect of:

Sales of piped gas

Sales of LPG

Contract costs recognised as
expense in respect of gas
connection construction contracts

Sales of coke and gas appliances

Rental income from investment
properties less outgoings
of HK$2,314,000
(2010: HK$1,671,000)

FREEN DG
(FFA)THIEIA

AN 2
ME - BELRREIINE

TRBNEERIA
BREREEKNEANZ
BV EE#H

REMO 2 &ERS

~mEmE
3%

HEME - BEK
Byl 3
HEBENEEFRNER

IEEID N
(BEETHRASZA)

FEIEHE N EIHIA(BYE
RGBS RRIEEN)

BT :
EE=ME (FIzE13)
HiE 8~ # K28k

RE IR BRIRIK
&AM B R

W BREETIRER ¢

FLAT IR BB R
ZIEERA
HEEBMRR
HERCOMBR
HRRER TR A
RRFAX 2B HRAR

HEMRK R RERE

WEWEEEZHSIWA
RSz $852,314,00058 7T
(ZF—FF:
1,671,000 7T)

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
THET
(restated)

(&=5)

5,600

476,194
26,461

20,019
61,611
24,279

85,890

4,253

4,175
37,265

362,686

68,072
(24,889)

443,134

2,771,000
4,042,734

439,402
219,496

7,472,632

(10,319)
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13. EEME

13. Emoluments of Directors

Directors BE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 18 (2010: 13) directors B REMSI8R(ZE—5F  138)ES
were as follow: ZBemT
2011
———%
Performance Contributions
Salaries related to retirement
Directors’ and other incentive Share-based benefits Total
fees benefits payments payments scheme emoluments
ek E R BIER
EEHS Hit A Buge KRR e Hehsm
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TiEn TiEn T#n T#r Ti#n
Executive directors YIES
M. Li Xiao Yun (Note vil FINE R A (Wi shvil) 3,000 - - 2,208 - 5,208
Mr. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric (Note i) Rk & S (i) - 648 324 201 3 1,176
Mr. Xu Ying (Note vi) TRIE S (ki) - 7,200 - - 12 7,212
M. Liu Ming Hui (Note vii 21 5t £ (M ahvil) - 7,200 - - 12 7,212
Mr. Ma Jin Long s i 300 - - 1,79 - 2,094
M, Zhu Wei Wei KEEEE - 480 660 1,794 12 2,946
M. Pang Ying Xue (Note iv) EEZLE (W) - 80 40 - 5 120
Non-executive directors FHITES
M. Feng Zhuo Zhi REERE 240 - - 1,345 5 1,585
Mr. RK. Goel (Note v) RK GoelftE
(i) - - - 1,231 - 1,231
Mr. Kim Joong Ho (Note il SEEEE(M) 4 - - 48 5 52
Mr. Rackets Wiliam Hugh (Note i) Rackets Wiliam
Hugh’t & (i) - - - 48 - 48
Mr. Jo Yamagata & REE 240 = = 1,345 > 1,585
Mr. Moon Duk Kyu (Note ) NEERE () 230 - - - - 230
M. Mulham A-Jarf (Note ) Mulham Al-Jarf3E 4
k) 230 - - - - 230
Mr. P K. Jain (Note vi P K Jank&
(i) - - - - - -
Independsnt non-execuitive directors BUFNTES
M. Zhao Yu Hua HERERE 480 - - 1,345 - 1,825
Dr. Mao Er Wan I-EfRL 480 - - 1,345 - 1,825
Ms. Wong Sin Yus, Cynthia EEWZL 480 = = 1,345 = 1,825
5,684 15,608 1,024 14,049 39 36,404
Notes: M5E:
() Appointed on April 13, 2010 i) RZZE—TFMNA+=HZE

(ii) Resigned on April 13, 2010

(i) Appointed on December 23, 2010
(iv)  Appointed on January 28, 2011
(v) Resigned on February 28, 2011
(v Appointed on February 28, 2011

(Vi) Removed on April 26, 2011

(i) MZE-TFNA+=ABHME

iy RZTE—ZTFF+A=+=AZHFE
vy MZE——F-A-+N\B%fE
v RIE-—F-AZTN\BEE
V) RZZE——FZAZ=+N\HBZE
M) MZE-——FHAZTR AER
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 EZ —E——F=A=+—HIEFE

2010
—E-EF
Executive directors Bg%
Mr. Li Xiao Yun FNERHE
Mr. Xu Ying REXE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui el Ve
Mr. Ma Jin Long ok e
Mr. Zhu Wei Wei REERE
Non-executive directors FBITES
Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi BEELE
Mr. RK. Goel RK. GoelZt
Mr. Kim Joong Ho SEREE
Mr. Rackets William Hugh Rackets Wiliam Hugh%t 4%
Mr. Jo Yamagata GRS E
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua BEERE
Dr. Mao Er Wan BT
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia EEPRL
Notes:

(@)  The performance related incentive payments of Mr. Xu Ying
and Mr. Liu Ming Hui are determined by reference to the Group
performance and according to pre-determined percentage approved
by the Remuneration Committee, while that of Mr. Zhu Wei Wei, Mr.
Leung Wing Cheong, Eric and Mr. Pang Ying Xue are determined
by reference to the individual performance and approved by

Remuneration Committee.

(b) No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation

for loss of office for both years.

(c) Other than disclosed above, no directors waived any emoluments

during for both years.
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Directors'

fees

HK$ 000
TR

240
240
240

4,504

Salaries
and other
Denefits
He R
Etoig
HK$:000
TiEx

7,188
7,188

14,844

Performance Contributions
related to retirement
incentive  Share-based benefits Total
payments payments scheme  emoluments
B AR (R BINER

BagE  MAMRK HEER WeHE
HGO00  HKBO0D  HKBOOD  HK$000

TiEn T THEr TiEx
(Note)

(FaE)

- 1,428 - 4,428
2,679 - 12 9,879
5,358 - 12 12,658

- 1,082 - 1,332

160 1,082 12 1,672

- 174 - 894

- 174 - 174

- 174 - 894

- 174 - 898

- 174 - 894

- 174 - 1,014

- 174 - 1,014

- 174 - 1,014
8,197 9,684 36 37,265

BT -

IRES AR BBE L 2 FEHB RSN
HHZE G2 EAEE  XERREMI
RZBEEBANLET  MARESLEE R
KELERRERBRE 7 REHARER
mFIE G2 ZEFIRRRI

A% B E AR B R E R S E A
B2 ARSI AR B B A IMA R EE
Z RN B AR o

BRA LRERSN B EERNZMEFER
REEAE -



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three
(2010: three) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in note 13. The emoluments of the remaining two (2010: two)
individuals including one individual before the appointment as director
during the year were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits e RHAEF

Retirement benefit scheme RIRIRAET MR
contributions

Share-based payments AR FE A 3R

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T £ 3,500,000 7T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 T E 4,500,000 7T
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T E 5,500,000/ 7T
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7T E7,000,0007 7T

Final dividend paid in respect of Bf&EEZE=_T—ZFF=A=+—H

financial year ended IEBBFEER0.0178 T
March 31, 2010 of HK$0.017 —E-TF ENBEZZENF
(2010; HK$0.014 in respect of A=+ BUHUREE

financial year ended March 31, FHR0.014%70) Z RERRR &
2009) per share

A final dividend of HK$0.022 in respect of the year ended March
31, 2011 (2010: final dividend of HK$0.017 in respect of the year
ended March 31, 2010) per share amounting to HK$96,427,000 has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

AEERRFZREEBEAT  =ZR(ZF—F
FZRIRARFES  AEMSENHE
18 EBEME(ZE—ZF : MB)AL(H
P-REZEREER) ZFEMENT

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FH&T

10,196

24
2,947

13,166

KEzMEEEMT -

2010
—E-TF
No. of
employee

RBEAH

1

1

2010
—ET-TF
HK$'000
FH&T

46,676

BEERREHE—_ZT——4F=-A=+—H
IEFEER022BT(ZE—FF: HEZ
T-EF=ZA=+—HLEFEER0017TE
TTZABRE) Z RER B + 96,427,000
BT MASRKREREERREF K2
FAEE
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The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Eamnings for the purposes of basic & &R EAR K #EEF|

and diluted earnings

per share, being profit for
the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic eamings per share

Adjustment for effect of dilutive
potential ordinary shares:
Share options

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose
of diluted earings per share

Note: All outstanding convertible bonds were converted during the year
ended March 31, 2010. The impact on diluted earnings per share
for the year ended March 31, 2010 on assumed conversion was
not considered significant and therefore had not been accounted

for in the calculation.

In addition, the diluted earnings per share for the year ended March
31, 2011 has not assumed the conversion of convertible bonds
issued by Zhongyu Gas as it would increase the earnings per share,
after taking into account of the effect of effective interest, change in
fair value of redemption option derivative components and gain on
redemption of the convertible bonds net of related tax expenses,

if any.

Z B (EIRRB%E A
3R E )

AEERERENZ
BB niE a8

Epilrectes > pd

S g |

AEEREERN
BB 8

AD RV AR S IR AR RS BRI T
THEHE :

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FET

875,636

2010
—E-TF
'000
F %

3,343,913

441,788

3,785,701

ik BB TR AT AR ES DB E =T
—BESAS T BLFEBS - BRE
RERHBE-_F-FF=A=+-AL
FESRMBET L FERATA  #
AR -

o BEZE-——F=A=+—HLF
& 2 & S BN W R B R BRI R A
BT HRRE RS - RN R
EBRMNEZE  BRBRETESD 2
NP EEE)NE R AT AR E 5 2 W RE
MR (E )R A B & & A
o e



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

R_EZNF=ZA=1+—H
U B LRI 1) B B 2B
R ATS (MI5E41)

At March 31, 2009

Acquired on acquisition of
additional interest in a jointly
controlled entity (note 41)

Change in fair value NEEEY

At March 31, 2010 WZE-ZFF=A=+—H

Exchange adjustments b H %

Additions NE

Acquired on acquisition a business U4g B 758 Fris (FfsE42)
(note 42)

Change in fair value NEEEY

At March 31, 2011 RZZE——F=A=+—~H

The Group'’s investment properties are analysed as follows:

Properties held under EHRHEORE 2 ME
medium term leases:
— in Hong Kong —(IREE
—in the PRC — IR E

The fair value of the Group'’s investment properties in Hong Kong
at March 31, 2011 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out as at that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited. The
resulting surplus of HK$27,460,000 (2010: surplus of HK$22,020,000)
was included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The
valuation was arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions
for similar properties.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties in the PRC has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at these dates by CB
Richard Ellis Limited. The resulting surplus of HK$19,597,000 (2010:
surplus of HK$22,625,000) was credited to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived at by reference
to standard land prices set by the PRC government and comparable
market transactions as available in the locality.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

HK$'000
TAT
295,127

3,386
44,645

343,168
10,082
2,220

5618
47,057

408,135
REBZREMEIWTWT

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHBT

78,420
264,738

343,168

REBMUREBSZREMENR=_T——F
A=+ —RAZAFEBRENETIE
MERAANZBETZHEESH - Al
BEH 227,460,000 TEBB(ZTE—FTF
22,020,000 L&) B AL E ZE KA
WK - HEDSEEUDEZTETIER
% °

REBUNFEZIEEMEZ AFETIIRE
HHRECBRAARZERARETZEE
BH - BULESE 219,597,000 LA %(—
T—ZTF 1226250008 T A% ) BI AL
AEEWRARE - HENLEPEARTRTE
ZIZEMEREZ AL TERS o

AEEZBRBLEEOFEARRE DL
ERERIGEZMEER AR FEEA
ERBETARTEREDE -
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 & Z =

cosT
At Aoril 1, 2009, s originally stated

Effect of change in accounting policy (note 2)

At April 1, 2009, as restated
Additions
Acquired on acouistion of businesses

Acouired on acquistion of addftional interest in a jointly

controlled entity
Disposal for the year
Disposal of jointly controlled entities
Disposal of a subsicliary
Reclassfication

At March 31, 2010

Exchange adjusiments

Addtions

Acquired on acouistion of businesses
Disposal for the year

Disposal of a subsidiary

Disposal of a jointly controlled entity
Reclassffication

At March 31, 2011

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At April 1, 2009, s originally stated

Effect of change in accounting policies (note 2)

At April 1, 2009, as restated
Provided for the year
Fliminated on disposals

Eliminated on disposal of jointly controlled entiies

Bliminated on disposal of a subsidlary

At March 31, 2010
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year
Fliminated on disposals

Eliminated on disposal of & jointly controlled entity

At March 31, 2011

CARRYING VALUES
At March 31, 2011

At March 81, 2010
At April 1, 2009
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BA
R-FENFDA-R(R)
eHIREDTE (M)

R-ETHEMA-R(E])
AE

WEEBHE
WELRENEE

Y e

ERiHE

HEXAEHEE

HERBAT

EFip

WoE-FFZA=+-R
ExAE

B

LEE it

FRiLE

HERBLE
HEAREHER

ES ]

W_E-—4#=A=t-H

ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@
R-FENFDA-R(R)
eHIREDTE (M)

R-FENFOA-R(EN)
R

HEKHR

HEHREHIE RN
HEHBARRHR

RZE-FE=A=1-H
Eraz
EREE
i EEHE
HELREHIER MR
R_E-——F=f=1-A

Rt
RZE-—%ZA=t-H

W-E-FFZA=+-R
R-EENERA-A

Leasehold
land and
buildings
AELH

i 53
HK$ 000
FEn

1,169,693
23,89

1,193,589
63,019
82,309

968
2,499)

141,767

1485103
61,301
11,237
79,448
(6,568)

290,073
2,010,704

50,763
1,902

52,605
45,966
(2,064)

96,507
4,758
75,464
(1,389)

175,390

1835314
1,388,59%
1,140,934

Pipelines

EE
HK$000
TAL

4,858,494

4,858,494
19,173
609,460

3,961
(7.814)
(2,436)

662,854

6,143,602
261,090
138,541
539,959
(11.917)
(1,3%2)

1,044,367
8,114,370

344,641

344,641
231,979
(1,249
(149

575,023
28,747
280480
U

883,676

7,230,694
5,968,469
4,513,853

Construction
in progress

kRIR
HK$000
TER

1,950,637

1,950,637
1,077,623
307,782

11,198

(25,906)

905,996)

2,365,238
86,372
1,336,782
267,891

671)
(1,733,450
2,321,462

2,321,462
2,365,238
1,950,637

Machinery
and
equipment
BER
#f
HK$ 000
Firn

1,043,869

1,043,869
29,116
46,491

41
(1,263)
(21,839

145,375

1741,789
78,984
80,951
69,195
@1411)

(599)
399,010

2321919

198,986

198,986
79,330
(167)
(1511)

276,647
14492
178975
(34,759)
(144)

43,211

1,892,708
1,460,142
1,344,883

Furniture
and
fixtures
FihR
Be%E
HK$ 000
Fin

08,436

08,436
32,039
5,001

31
(1.281)
1350)
{27

133,849
5,675
3,916
4,043
6,112)

(350)
174,021

21,049

21,049
2918

Motor
vehicles

nE
HK$000
TAT

184,049

184,049
42,162
7,103

%
(6.845)

207,164
10,957
85,257
31,258
(17.837)

(1.383)
335,416

57472

57472
72,644
6,182

124,034
5,140
26208
(13,394
1487)

142,421

192,995
102,230

126,077

Vessels

#iff
HK$000
ThR

121,175

121,775
8410
121,318

267,508

20,348

20,348
1,246
21,830

43,424

214,079

107,421

Total

ai
HK000
A7

9,806,178
23,8%

9,829,074
1,263,031
1,186,521

16,204
(19,702)
(60531)

(27)

12,224,660

502,839
1,900,002
991,794
(82,835)
(1.362)
(2,703)

15,941,3%

672,901
1,902

674,803
476,194
(9.280)
(1861)
(1

1,139,805
56,400
598,992
(61,629)
(189)

1,741,726

13,799,669
11,084,800

9,104,271



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group shown above
is situated on land with the following lease terms:

In Hong Kong NEE
Long lease RHHALD
In PRC A E
Long lease RHHALD

hHEIEA

Medium term lease

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of the
remaining terms of the
leases or 50 years

Over the shorter of 30 years
or the operation period of
the relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5% — 10%

Furniture and fixtures 15% — 50%

Motor vehicles 25%

Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired

from suppliers) or 34%

(acquired from second

hand market)

Leasehold land and buildings

Pipelines

At March 31, 2011, interest capitalised in construction in progress
amounted to HK$63,836,000 (3.31.2010: HK$79,696,000 and
4.1.2009: HK$99,472,000).

As March 31, 2011, the Group is in the process of obtaining title deeds
from relevant government authorities for its land and buildings in the
PRC amounting to HK$137,687,000 (3.31.2010: HK$105,497,000
and 4.1.2009: HK$64,411,000). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.

At March 31, 2011, the directors of the Company considered that
the leasehold land element of the buildings with the carrying value
of HK$108,428,000 (3.31.2010: HK$51,906,000 and 4.1.2009:
HK$49,324,000) cannot be separately identified.

AEBURN Lt 2 BE i RBF 28R

HEKEBELHAT :
3.31.2010 4.1.2009
—F-TF ZTTIF
=A=+—8H MA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
(restated) (restated)
(E751) (&71)
28,263 28,074
340,083 278,215
1,020,250 834,645
1,388,596 1,140,934

AEBZBREBLUNPE -

L% BERREEB(TREERZTL
&) IREREAR T I FERNE -

HE T RETFT KRN F 605
BRE

EE S0FHEMAT]
ZEEFREEE

We2s N A 5% — 10%

R E e B 15% — 50%

RE 25%

MR 7% (A EREEEA
ZETRA) K
34%(H=F 5
BA)

R-T——F=F=+—8 BrcgIliE
B ARz R B A63,836,0008 T ( —E—TF
=A=+—H:79,69,0008TR-_EZEAN
FMA—B :99,472,000/7T) °

R-ZZT——F=ZA=+—H0 A£EIRHE
{B18137,687,0008 (= E—ZF=A=+
—H 1054970008 Tk —_EZ L FWM A
—H 164,411,000 70 )AL AP Bl Z £ i &
BF REBEBRNRERRFAEERY - =
ERAE AEETSRERP R L RIETF
ZITERERYMEAEBINKA ©

RZB——H=A=+—R ARAEER
BIRMEE108,428,0008 L (ZE—ZEF =8
=+—H 51,906,000 Tk —EZ N FN
B —H 49,324,000/ T) 2 HEEF 2 H
EriEoEESREMA -
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The Group's prepaid lease AEEZENEE
payments comprise: HIEBLE

Leasehold land in the PRC KA HE i
Long lease REAFAAY
Medium term lease AR HEATR A

Analysed for reporting HMEBME 2D
purposes as:
Non-current portion JEBNEREL
Current portion BIERER 5

The leasehold land and land use rights are charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
term of the leases.

During the year, the Group is in the process of obtaining title deeds
from relevant government authorities for its prepaid lease payments in
the PRC amounting to HK$93,97 1,000 (3.31.2010: HK$86,275,000
and 4.1.2009: HK$73,425,000). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its prepaid lease payments in the PRC.

3.31.2010 4.1.2009

—ZE-EF ZTThF
—A=+—H mA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&%)
519,726 532,700
444,920 330,554
964,646 863,254
938,713 848,607
25,933 14,647
964,646 863,254

HELTME I HERBRAERXZEEFTH
FEARRA ZEMARK -

FA - AEEIE 5 EEE93,971,000% 7T
(ZZ2—ZTFE=A=+—H : 86,275,000/ T
M—ZFZTAFMA—A : 73,425,000/ 7T )L
PP EZEMNEERIE - 5 BRITILRE
WA BRZY - EERE A5ETSHE
B ETENEERIE 2B ERL MmELERS
INBRAR o



For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z —E——F=A=+—HILFE

2010
—E—FF
HK$'000
FHET
Cost of investments in REREE N ELZ KA
associates — unlisted —3EET 684,208
Share of pre-acquisition dividend 215 Ug B AT AL B (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition profit DU ) R E A 2 U
and other comprehensive ($OBR ATULAR B.)
income (net of dividend received) 41,827
Discount on acquisition of g1 VN iy
associates 232,970
957,709
The Group had interests in the following associates: REFBRATE S AT HEAEZ
Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Principal of registered/
Form of registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operation capital held by the Group Principal activity
H/ R TEEE REEFHEM/
EREB EBRBYR HE e BAER BRARAEELS TEER
2011 2010
E—f CZEZ-Tf
% %
FREERRRARTRERF Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered - 22.10 Trading of natural gas
(TREHE]) joint venture (note a)
PAEERE PE PE Ral} (MHzta) RARHE
EMIRREIREEZABMRAR  Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 44,00 44,00 Trading of natural gas,
(TE#K]) joint venture gas pipeline construction
PEERE HE HE i AARHE MAEERR
EESREERNHERARA Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 38.69 38.69 Exploration, collection
([EB8%]) joint venture transportation, purification
and sales of natural gas
PIEERE HE FE i R hE B8 R
HERAR
EETMALREARAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 47.83 47.83 Trading of natural gas
BRAR joint venture
PIEERE HE HE Bl RARBE
RRETERRARERLAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 48.00 48.00 Trading of nature gas and
joint venture gas pipeline construction
POEERE PE PE B RARHERMAEERR
BET=3RRERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 33.20 33.20 Trading of LPG
company
BREMAF PE HE A HERLAHBR
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z —E——F=A=+—HILFE

76

Place of Principal
Form of registration/  place of Class of
Name of entity business structure incorporation operation capital
/R TEEE
ERER ERRERA e HE RAEHR
BREEIEZERIERAA Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
BREMAH EP HE B}
HETHEERRERA Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
(TEEhm]) company
BREMAR PE 3 i}
BLEREBIRXARERAR  Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
BREMAR EP HE B}
BLEZAARERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
BRELRR i HE il
BNRAEEEMABRAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
BRELAR f P B}
EMEZRRARAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
BREMAR EP HE B}
BN R AR AR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
(T8 M) company
BRELRR i HE il

Notes:

(@)  During the year ended March 31, 2011, =& was disposed.
The sales proceed received and gain from such disposal are
HK$528,000 and HK$21,000 respectively.

(o)  During the year ended March 31, 2011, B )i i was disposed. The
sales proceed received and gain from disposal are HK$11,904,000
and HK$732,000 respectively.

(c) During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group has set up an
associate Y8 M A by injecting capital for HK$47,619,000.

Proportion of
nominal value

of registered/

issued capital

held by the Group Principal activity
KE@AEER/
BROTRAEMELA TEEH
2011 2010
% IT%F
% %
29.05 29.05 Refining process,
storage of LPG

25.00

24.00

24.00

24.00

40.00
(note ¢

(tite)

5

BUERRRRERNIEE K=

41,50 Sales of fuel oil (except
hazardous products),
instruments, mechanical
and electrical facilities,
construction materials

wn(TekEke) I8
HERM - BEMHEE

25.00 Trading of natural gas,
gas pipeline construction
AARHEERMAEERR

24,00 Trading of natural gas
RARHE

24,00 Trading of natural gas,
gas pipeline construction

AARHFERMREERR
24.00 Trading of natural gas
AARHE
- Trading of LPG

BLRRREHE

AEBPREE-ZT——F=A=+—HL
FEHERENE RHLEMEEZH
ERTE R IE Mk 7 Bl 528,000 7T &
21,000/ 7T °

AEBREE-_ZT——F=A=+—HL
FEHERSHM - ZLEMEEAZHEE
T 18 3k 38 K& U 25 9 5l A11,904,0005% 7T
732,000 7T °

AEBREE-_T——F=ZA=+—HL
FEE BT 47,619,000/ 7T Al i B &
RENBIMNFA
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20. Investments in Associates (Continued) 20.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates

REE QAR 2 RE(E)
AEEZMERTD M BENEER M

is set out below:

T~

2011 2010

= —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Total assets BERE 4,372,396 4,060,486

Total liabilities BEERE (2,010,202) (1,864,661)

Net assets BEFE 2,362,194 2,195,825
The Group's share of REE DG E AT

associates’ net assets ZEERE 1,009,505 957,709
Revenue Wz 1,493,154 1,245,687
Loss on disposal of HEM B AR ZEE ()

a subsidiary (note) - (281,195)
Profit (loss) for the year FrREH(EE) 23,825 (256,842)
The Group's share of REBE DG E AT

results of associates FEEE

for the year 15,856 (114,402)

Note: During the year ended March 31, 2010, a loss on disposal of
HK$281,195,000 was arisen on the disposal of a subsidiary of JI|
AR, namely MILEREEIERBR AT, The amount has been
included as loss in the determination of the Group’s share of results
of associates.

e =T - TF=A=+—HLFE"
B 5 1 BRSPS B8 2 )4 A8 R 458 B
&AM R i E 4 2 B8 /281,195,000
BT ZeRERNEEREEEIERE
NAEER ARIIMERS
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As at March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Group had interests in the
following significant jointly controlled entities:

Name of entity

ERAE

IRFERRARLE((RERR))

Beiling Jinggang Gas
Development Company
Limited*

WM TR RERAR
(TR ])

BHRATHEEEARLT

HAERRRATRRERERAT

(Twfng% )

ENPRATRRRRERAA

EAP RN T ERRARAR

China Gas - SK Energy Holdings
Company Limited
(TChina Gas - SK Energy))

China Oman Energy Company
Limited

REARRBRAA

Fujian Anran Gas Investment
Company Limited
(*Fujian Anran”)
BRERARRABRAT
([ERRA])

ERRBEAARARARAEARA

BAPRRARARAR
(MR ))

*

Form of
business structure

E3 23 3

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture
PORERE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

nHRELYE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHRELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PRELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture
nHRELYE
Sino-foreign equity
joint venture
nHRELE
Incorporated
AV

Incorporated

iz

Equity joint venture

RELR

Limited liability
company

Limited liability
company
BREMRT

Limited liability
company

BREARA

Place of
registration/
incorporation
#H /R
e

PRC

HE
PRC
Gl
PRC
HE

PRC

Gl
PRC
k!
PRC
Gkl
Hong Kong
£l

Bermuda

BRE

PRC
HE

PRC

el

PRC
HE
PRC

el

English name is for identification purposes only.

Principal
place of
operation
TEEX
HE

PRC

Gl
PRC
Gl
PRC
Gl

PRC

il
PRC
P E
PRC
E
Hong Kong
E3

Hong Kong

B

PRC
Gl

PRC

PRC
Gl
PRC

PE

Class of
capital

R& &5

Registered

Bl
Registered
B}
Registered
il

Registered

Bl
Registered
B}
Registered
il
Ordinary
i

Ordinary

gl

Registered
Bl

Registered

A

Registered
B}
Registered

A

=A=+—8"

AEERUTEIZARAEHERPEEE

Ne

Proportion of
nominal value
of registered/
issued capital
held by the Group

rEEfEER/
BRTREEALAH
2011 2010
3% CZ%-%f
% %
- 49.0
(note ¢)
(W)
50.0 50.0
50.0 50.0
51.0 51.0
(note a)
(Ht3Ea)
49.0 49.0
50.0 50.0
50.0 50.0
50.0 50.0
51.0 51.0
49.0 49.0
49.0 49.0
40.0 40.0
(note b)
(Wizkp)

*

Principal activity

TRER

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction

ARRBERMREEER

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction
RAARHERMAEERR

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction
RARHERMAEERR

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

ARRBERMREEER

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction
RAARHERMAEERR

Nature gas refil service
and gas station administration
RARNERBRER MR

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction
RAARHERMAEERR

Development of energy

import projects from

Middle East to PRC
PRERE RRENER A%

Trading of natural gas
AARHE

Investment holding

RAZR

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline construction
RARHERMAEERR

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline construction
RARHERMAEERR

S e e Hl
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Notes:

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Group had acquired
1% additional equity interest in FEFIVEHF at a consideration of
RMB10,207,000 (approximately HK$11,732,000). The composition
of the board of directors as stipulated in the Articles of Association
of FEFIYEHF has not been changed after the acquisition. The details
were set out in note 41.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group
and the remaining sharenolder of IR #A had contributed additional
capital to BIARAREA which resulted in a change of shareholding of
both shareholders and the composition of the board of directors
of BIFRARHR (note 43). According to the new Article of Association,
all the major financial and operating decisions require unanimous
consent from the shareholders. Accordingly, the Group’s interest
in IR A was reclassified from a subsidiary to a joint controlled
entity of the Group.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, AL R was deregistered.
Details of deregistration are set out in note 44(i).

As all the major financial and operating decisions of the above entities
require unanimous consent from all venturers, they are accounted for
as jointly controlled entities.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

jointly

controlled entities which are accounted for using proportionate

consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is set out below:

Current assets mENEE

Non-current assets EMENEE

Current liabilities mEEE

Non-current liabilities FnRBEBE

Income recognised in RiBRERZ A
profit or loss

Expenses recognised in RIEZER ZFX

profit or loss

MisE

@ BE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HLFE"
K%l&&EAE%mﬁnmmd%
11,732,000/ 7T ) B8 INBURE M F 055 1 9 A%
W o IREBERMA  WB R RS
FEEGMEKERETE - BEFEIN
MFE4T ©

b)) BE_Z-—-ZF=-ZA=+—HLFE"

ZJS;‘%IW% A R R T Z R
R AR REINEE  SREAH R
BRzZBREREES ZAKE (KT
43) - RIBHABBIRAMA - IEEARE
BREERAETHEAREZERR-BFAE
FREE - At AEERBARTRZ
EHEARMBARZERKEFT D RE
MALE 2 KRB 2 o

) HEBRHE-_Z——F=A=+—8
IFERERBRR M- GRS
BRI EE44() ©

MR ERBERZAEERVBREEREY
BEFEREE— ﬁlﬂsb‘—f B AL
NERRASHEEHEEA

AEBEZ KFEHER 2 MBERBETIZ
L PlsR & 5I8R - WA TFIDIRELEZ R

2010
—E-TF

HK$'000
THET

811,744
3,377,212
1,062,969

812,797

1,339,183

1,193,430
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Equity securities listed in REB LM 2RAES
Hong Kong, at fair value BATEIE
Unlisted equity securities, E N

B AMES B (FIRRRIE)
GES - RATEIE

at cost less impairment
Club debenture, at fair value

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong are stated at fair value. The fair
values of listed equity securities are based on quoted market bid
price. Change in fair value of the listed equity securities classified as
available-for-sale investments for the year ended March 31, 2011 with
a increase of HK$2,678,000 (2010: HK$7,958,000) was recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated in the
PRC. Those private entities are engaged in the sales and distribution
of LPG in the PRC. They are measured at cost less impairment at the
end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Club debentures are stated at fair value. Fair value of the club debenture
has been determined by reference to the bid prices quoted in the
second hand market. No fair value change was recognised in both
years.

COST RAE
At April 1, 2009 R-ZZNFHA—H
Arising on acquisition of EEHE B KB B R E s

additional interest in Rz (M17E40)
a subsidiary (note 40)
Arising on acquisition of EEEWEES(HT42)

businesses (note 42)

At March 31, 2010 R-ZE—ZEF=A=+—H

Exchange adjustments P H %

Arising on acquisition of EEBWESER(H5T42)
businesses (note 42)

At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H

CARRYING VALUES BREE

At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H

At March 31, 2010 RZZE-ZTF=A=+—H

2010
—E-TF

HK$'000
TAT

13,230

66,114
3,494

82,838

REB LM ZRAESFTRAFESER - £
MBRABEFZ AFENREMHRZTHEA
BEF REE-_Z—F=A=+—0H01t
FE HREAVHIEREZ FBRAE
52 N EZEIEMN2,678,0008 (T —
T 17,058,000 T ) R A 2R AIRE

FLEMERARFARFBEEMALZALAR
AT ZREMARBERELERICAH
RIHERDHER - THRIRE B RRKAH
BRERE  RARAEATEZMZEH
BAK ARREFRG  HAFETHER

iR -

GRS TR T B - GFESZAT
EHESE-FHBRBL BABRRE - %
FIEFE L ERRATESED -

HK$'000
TAET

684,467

15,504

200,606

900,577
53,987

611,040

1,665,604

1,565,604
900,577
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The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in the financial AREBNRESERRETKE MBRHEELS
year in which the acquisition takes place, or more frequently if there MR ESRRE EER<BEEETs
are indications that goodwill might be impaired. Particulars regarding ER - @B EFAIR - ARRERENR
impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in note 25. 2B RMIEESS o
Exclusive
rights of Other
natural gas operating Customer Technical
operations rights Relationship  expertise Total
RRREKZ
BRCERE HoKeERE EFEE  SEEM Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TR TET

CosT ﬁSiZFfE
At April 1, 2009 “ZEZNFMA—H 314,941 - 15,000 13,637 343,578
Acquired on acquisition of Hﬁlﬂ%%ﬁ??ﬁ 5 (Ky3E42)

businesses (note 42) 954,397 - - - 954,397
At March 31, 2010 RZE—ZF=A=+—H 1,269,338 - 15,000 13,637 1,297,975
Exchange adjustments BE N R 47,160 1,231 536 487 49,414
Acquired on acquisition of Wi 5 A5 (Fi3E42)

a business (note 42) 89,316 60,218 - - 149,634
At March 31, 2011 —T—F=A=1+—H 1,405,814 61,449 15,536 14,124 1,496,923
AMORTISATION m‘é’

At April 1, 2009 RZZETNFHA—H 18,738 - 3,204 1,249 23,281
Charge for the year F R 5 17,838 - 1,500 681 20,019
At March 31, 2010 RZE—ZF=RA=+—H 36,576 - 4,794 1,930 43,300
Exchange adjustments BE 5 AR 2,634 48 207 85 2,974
Charge for the year FR#H 45,017 1,776 1,500 681 48,974
At March 31, 2011 —FT—F=A=1+—H 84,227 1,824 6,501 2,696 95,248
CARRYING VALUES REEE
At March 31, 2011 —Z——%=RA=+—H 1,321,687 59,625 9,085 11,428 1,401,675
At March 31, 2010 RZE—ZF=RA=+—H 1,232,762 - 10,206 11,707 1,254,675
Note: The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, other operating rights, Wit RARERBERS SR EMEERE
customer relationship and technical expertise are amortised on a EEMEAENLNEBEMNMBIEESED IR
straight-line method over the period of 30 years, 27 years, 10 years =t+F -Zt+tF - +ER-_TF2H
and 20 years respectively. RIS o
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Management considered each subsidiary or jointly controlled entity
represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill and other
intangible assets impairment testing. The carrying amounts of goodwill
as at March 31, 2011 and 2010 are allocated as follows:

Subsidiaries or jointly RERAARELZ
controlled entities engaged B ARSHER
in natural gas business EHEE

Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited
TEM AR T A SR B R TE M AR T A SR 3 R

BRAR] (‘TEMHE) BERAR(TEMS])
I RFEAR B AR AR I RHEAR R AR AR
MM AR AN R
Positive Rise Energy Limited Positive Rise Energy Limited
HERRESERARAA] HERRESERBR AR
Brilliant China Investments Limited  Brilliant China Investments Limited

(“Brilliant China”) ([ Brilliant Chinal)
MEFRRTMRERERAR BEEFRBETARARER
(‘FI &R ERAT(TEEFRK]D
EREPREMRRERERAR ESTPRETHMRER
(L B5 HR) BERAF(EZFRED)
HAIKBREBR AR HATIRBIRAAE R AR
(‘M RBIRR) (Mt T RBIAR])
EfRERERAER AR EBFREFERAE R AR
(‘REFE") ([ZREHE ]
Zhongyu Gas FIRIRRE
Other CGUs HiR e EE B

Subsidiaries engaged in REBRCAHREEZHBAR
LPG business

Zhongyou Hua Dain Energy FHRZEERRBRAT]

Co. Ltd (“Zhongyou Hua Dian”) ([PmEE])
HEERMISEIR A LEERMBARAR)
(HERR) ([ EE2R ]

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth
forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

ERERE mREREMEREEREN

HAmE  SHBATHERESEERERE

VHEELEN BHERT——FKkZF
—ZEF=A=+—HZEAEIEWOT :

2010

—T-FF

HK$'000
TET

141,716

44,802
16,540
65,981
100,086
53,688

99,866
14,931
27,136

30,396

70,516

210,843

25,076
900,577

ReELENz B EENZEREERE
EoRTEEABEIZRRNEANEEZH
HE BREREHEHREEKRANE - E
BEERRBREMNFGEEZEBREIEASE
B 2R ERBRZ AT RAEFTITME -
BREEFREFANEMERET - EEEHLE
BB EED NIRRT ISR 2 ZE)in
EEE -
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The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by management for the next five years. The
CGUs cashflows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady 3% (2010: 3%) growth rate for CGUs in the natural gas business
and 5% (2010: 5%) for CGUs in the LPG business. The financial
budgets and growth rates are estimated according to the stage of each
operation with reference to the development curve of the natural gas
industry in the PRC region. The rates used to discount the forecast
cash flows for CGUs are from 14% to 16% (2010: 156% to 17%). In
the opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss is identified
for both years. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount
of CGUs.

Construction materials =)

Consumables, spare parts SEFEm - B RIE R
and coke materials

Natural gas RAR

LPG BILAHR

REEREEEREAERKAF 2 KTHY
BEERRASREEE - BERAARIED
MBIt A A REBAFRE R CEELEMN
BeRERo R HAEEEREI% (22—
THE 3%)R6% (ZFB—FF  5%)#EITH
B -WBEBEREREDNBBESEB ZER
WERESERRME 2 RARITEZER
Rz - ARBAREELESU RS
MENMLL ZH14%216% (ZE—ZF4F ¢
15%E17%) T E - EERA - REZMEFE
MESKATHRREEE - BEERABIU L
BREZEMEBIJREEEEANE S TSER
ReEABMN 2 RAGEBYES BKE
=

2010
—E-TF

HK$'000

TAT
133,134
135,315

11,228
284,486

564,163
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Contracts in progress at end
of the reporting period:

Contract costs incurred plus
recognised profits less
recognised losses

Less: Progress billings

REHRZHERTRR

BEG 2 A KA NS R
R E R EE

B EEAER

Analysed for reporting TE2FAB DI -
purposes as:

Amounts due from customers EWE P 2 AT EHRIA
for contract work

Amounts due to customers
for contract work

ENEPZAHITRENIEA

At March 31, 2011 and 2010, there was no retention monies held by
customers for contract work performed. At March 31, 2011, advances
received from customers for contract work not yet commenced
amounted to HK$929,962,000 (2010: HK$430,269,000) which were
included in trade and other payables in note 33.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Group recognised losses
of HK$51,418,000 in respect of contract costs incurred. The directors
of the Company reviewed the recoverable amounts of contract costs
incurred and identified certain projects are unlikely to be completed
in foreseeable future due to the delay of construction work of the
relevant property development projects in the PRC. In the opinion of
directors of the Company, although such amounts are not yet billed to
customers, the amounts are unlikely to be recovered from its customers
and accordingly, losses are recognised in full in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FET

727,364
(863,415)

(136,051)

103,265

(239,316)

(136,051)

RZEBE——FR-_IBE-ZBF=ZA=+—
H TERBRBEHBEFHEETZALN
TEmMEE R_E——F=ZfF=+—
H EMEARAZANIRERPKEZ
# 3% £929,062,000/ jo( = F — T F ¢
430,269,000/ 7T) * WEFIAKFIZZE 5
FEASTBR R 2 EAth < BRIE -

RBE-_ZT—ZTF-_A=F+—HIEFE K
SERDBIS 2 A MR ATERS1,418,00078
TLER - RARBEECDRFATREAHRAE
ZAREl$5E AP EEEYESRRIEE
ZTIRIER - MRAETHEBAENREKRS
RZBEER - ARRIEERAE  BARAARQ
BIMARMBPHLERE  AMKEFRBER
HZ JREETR - B ERE 2 AR ARE
P EERERE
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2010
—T 25
HK$'000
FHET
Trade receivables B S REBERR 820,144
Less: Accumulated allowances W RETEME (221,497)
Trade receivables B S MR 598,647
Deposits paid for construction TREEHMMBEMZS
and other materials 100,278
Deposits paid for purchase BERARERICABAR
of natural gas and LPG BffiEe 306,555
Advance payments BN FOEmE A
to sub-contractors 150,151
Tender deposits "R e 66,107
Rental and utilities deposits ek ARAEEES 24,541
Other tax recoverable E el Y Bl F I8 43,260
Other receivables, HEMEWRIRIE - ke &k
deposits and prepayments TEfFFRIE 345,742
Amounts due from non-controlling  F& 4R BT /88 2 &) FE#5 I i 25
interests of subsidiaries FRIA 212,050
Amounts due from shareholders & Uk $t B4 4 & A2
of jointly controlled entities A& S FIB 23,730
Total trade and other receivables B 5 FEUW AR % E Ath FE U AR TR 42 58 1,871,061
Other than certain major customers with good repayment history which GETHNAERRETZ T ERFEREEE
the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement by instalment FELREEMAS D HMTIN  REE K
basis, the Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to MEESEFIRMFH30-1808 22 EH] -
180 days to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment REEHR - REZEHEN 2 E S BN
losses presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting HNBRBEEIE) ZRERDITIOT
period:
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHEIT
0 - 180 days 0-180H 480,797
181 — 365 days 181-365H 74,793
Over 365 days 365H A £ 43,057
598,647
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The trade receivables with carrying amount of HK$680,125,000 (2010:
HK$480,797,000) are neither past due nor impaired at the reporting
date for which the Group believes that the amounts are considered
recoverable.

The Group has policies for allowance of bad and doubtful debts
which are based on the evaluation of collectability and age analysis
of accounts and on the management’s judgment including the credit
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group made an allowance
of HK$7,383,000 (2010: HK$75,112,000) in respect of the trade
receivables related to the gas pipeline construction business, which
was past due at the reporting date with long age and slow repayments
were received from respective customers since the due date. The
directors of the Company considered the related receivables may be
impaired and specific allowance is made.

Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful debts:

Balance at the beginning FUEERR
of the year

Exchange differences PEH Z%E

Charge for the year FERE

Balance at the end of the year FREEH

BREI{E680,125,000/ 7L 2 B S MR K ( =
T—F4F 480,797,000/ 7T ) ARk E B B
ma sk HIRRE  AEEREZSHRED
AR AR U E] o

REE 2 RIFRBEHBBR TR BIE R FUA K
K2 THERBRBZRERST - YRIBEERE
HEEREEEFP ZERENRBGREEZH
B o

REE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—BIEFER "
REBRAHREEERLEBEBIESE
U BE 3K /E H17,383,00008 T( — & — T 4 -
75,112,000 70) 2 B - REAZEREA
RREBHOEE  HEREARAEERFS
BRFBIURZ EFREEE - AQFE
ERABEMENGRESERE - WIEHETE
B -

KPR B

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHET

146,079
306
75,112

221,497
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In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The
trade receivables past due but not provided for impairment were either
subsequently settled as at the date of these consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issuance or no historical default of
payments by the respective customers. The concentration of credit
risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there is no
further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for bad
and doubtful debts.

Included in the Group'’s trade receivables are debtors, with a carrying
amount of HK$200,887,000 (2010: HK$117,850,000) which are past
due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amount are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. The average age of these trade receivable is
270 days (2010: 270 days) as at March 31, 2011,

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

180 — 365H
365H AL

180 — 365 days
Over 365 days

The non-trade balances of amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

HEE 5 RYGRFEE DR @E - AEEEE
BEZRUWERZEREREBEEVRML
HEREERSE R HESEZ EAEL - B
BREHRMEZE S ERERREIFEENA
RAEMBRRERENEZBEEN - AE
R EBERERER LTS - BREP
EHERARLTEE REEETRRA
R Bt RABEFHEHRERNRERRE
BAINE—FIRBIEE R -

REBZESEREFRTREEREEE
200,887,000 T Z R FH(Z T — & F:
117,850,000/ L) * ZEFRER®E AHE
B BAEEENEEERREERNE L
B &5 MR AR IR E MR IREER - K
E.Iﬂﬁﬁ'fuxﬁ/mﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁ{£1qfﬁﬁ EA =
——¢*H*+—E &i 2 S FEM IR 2
BRI AC7T0B (ZE—F4F : 2708) ©

BAHERIIERE L 85 BIEER 2 Rk
I

2010
—ET-FF
HK$'000
FAT
74,793
43,057

117,850
FEU P B N R E s A i 2 I AR I B 48

e
%MEZ#E%#%WHEHW ®BHA
RERER -
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Derivative financial assets:

Non-current

Interest rate range accrual swap
transactions not qualified
for hedge accounting

Current

Interest rate range accrual swap
transactions not qualified
for hedge accounting

Derivative financial liabilities:

Current

Interest rate range accrual swap
transactions not qualified
for hedge accounting

Major terms of the outstanding interest rate swap transactions as at
March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Notional amount
HESHE

RMB1,750,000,000
in aggregate

A

Maturity dates

From September 4, 2011
to December 12, 2011

2010
—TTF

HK$'000
TiET

PTHEEMERE

FRE

THEEARERE R EE

PRI 2 MR E Rt

BHRS o750

B

THEEARERE R EE

PRI 7 MR EE Rt

BHRS > 500

T maE

k]

AHAARIERHN
T 2 R RO Rt
EI 5 )

REB——ER=F-FBE=A=+—-8"
REVBRESBRS 2 F ZHGRWT -

Pay leg Receive leg
435> Yok 55

6.60% — 6.65% Relative movement of 2-year,
10-year and 30-year

USD swap rates

BEARE
1,750,000,0007T

US$100,000,000
in aggregate

o)

=P
100,000,000 7T

The net fair values of the outstanding interest rate transactions
are measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted

H-T——FNANBE
—F——H%FTZAt+t=H

From June 11, 2011
to June 13, 2011

H-_Z——F X XA+—H=
—ET—%FXA+=H

6.60/2£6.65/2

USD LIBOR + 1.40%

ERBIRITRIZE
FEEL1.40E

interest rates and quoted spot and forward foreign exchange rate.
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On August 6, 2010, the Group acquired 56.33% equity interest of
Zhongyu Gas in which certain convertible bonds issued by Zhongyu
Gas were acquired as part of net assets acquired. Details of the
convertible bonds are set out in note 38. The derivatives embedded
in the convertible bonds comprised (i) conversion option; and (i) early
redemption option held by Zhongyu Gas.

During the year, a loss of HK$46,083,000 (2010: a gain of
HK$372,755,000) was recognised in respect of the changes in fair
values of derivative financial instruments.

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates is a loan
of HK$163,166,000 (2010: HK$77,361,000) which is unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranged from 5.31% to 5.56% per
annum (2010: 5.31% to 6.93% per annum). The remaining balance
of HK$92,115,000 (2010: HK$60,875,000) are of trade nature aged
within 180 days based on invoice date. A credit period of 30 to 180
days is granted to these trade customers. HK$163,166,000 (2010: nil)
of the balance is expected to be repayable after one year and shown
under non-current assets. The remaining balance is expected to be
repayable within twelve months and shown under current assets. All
balances are neither past due nor impaired at the reporting date as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the Group
pelieves that the amounts are considered recoverable.

The non-trade balances of amounts due to associates are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

RZZE—ZTFNANE  REBUKREP R
R.256.33%%# « A TFHPMIMRAET
ZAMRESERS S HIKEEEFE -
AR E S B RNHI TS - ATRRES
MIEEOTE TR T AP RSB Z ()RR
(i) R BRI -

F R E3I846,083,0008 T( —ZFE — T 4F -
W 25372,755,000/8 T ) EER AITES R T
B NFEEE -

AABEBKBE QAR RBEBEHKZER
163,166,000/ 7L( —ZZ —Z 4 : 77,361,000
BIL) I EE R RS F5.31F £5.56F
(ZE—ZFF: §F531EZE6.93E) 2 EH
EFFRE B o $#2%802,115,0008 T( =& —
T 608750008 L) BE S ML - BRiR
MEZOHMEBHI80RRN - AEFBZEZ
SEPIRFIOBEI0B ZEZEH - &%
163,166,0008 L(Z T —F 4 : &)HFTA
N—FREE Wit AERBEE - #4578
AR ZEAREE Wit ARSEE -
A EEEETESANE - BALERARE
EHRSERIET FURE - MRREBEH - AT
BEBHEAIORE -

ENBERRFESEHRAEER 28
ANEKIFERER -
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Equity securities at fair value listed IR AF(EFE
in Hong Kong BB LTRAFES

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.03% to 1.83%
per annum (2010: 0.03% to 1.71% per annum).

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure banking faciliies granted to the Group. Deposits amounting
to HK$1,647,444,000 (2010: HK$489,103,000) have been pledged
to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities and
are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits
carry fixed interest rate of 1.10% to 4.12% (2010: 1.00% to 3.47%)
per annum,

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash which are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities are set out below:

At March 31, 2011

At March 31, 2010

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FAT

15,468

RIOTEFMRSBREAEESEZHERR
AR =8 A AR B2 BRI TR - 1
FF0.03EE183E(ZE—FF : F0.03
EE1 71 E) 2SN EGR -

BEEMRITERIEANER T ARER ZRIT
BB MR FIRIT 2T © 1,647,444,00078
TT(ZZF —Z4F : 489,103,000/ 7T ) 2 17 7K
EERELIMGEBRITER R RIERZE
HmpE At B RABEE - D EIFRT
GRIEEF110EE412B(ZE—ZF : &
F1.00EE347E) 2EEFRTE °

AEBREHEBEEERZEERENINZ
SNEFHEZ D EMIRITETIARBITETR
Re 2 #BHIMT

HKS
BT
HK$'000
THET
25,215

43,758
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Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade
purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged analysis of
trade and other payables presented base on the invoice date at the
reporting date:

0 — 90 days 0 - 90H

91 — 180 days 91 - 180H

Over 180 days 1808 Ak

Trade and bill payables S LSV N ES

Other payables and HAb e ARIE R EETE A
accrued charges

Construction fee payables BN TEER

Other tax payables FERTEAh IR

Accrued staff costs ZEEIAA

Loan interest payables FERTE A B
Deposits received from customers BWEF 2 <E

Advance payments RERF 2 BKFIE
from customers

Advances received from BrRMABAZEL
customers for contract works TRRRFPUEZ B

that have not yet been started
Amounts due to non-controlling  FE{THT B A B EIE i 2 T8
interests of subsidiaries
Amounts due to shareholders
of jointly controlled entities
Obligation on capital injection
to Fujian Anran by Zhongmin
Zhongran (as defined
in note 42(B)(iii)
Obligation on acquisition of WEEM B R R RE Mg 2 B
additional interest in a subsidiary (M EE46(ii))
(note 46(iii)
Deferred cash consideration for ~ FR{EUWRBE 275 2 IR IE
the acquisition of businesses R RE(ME42B) Vi)
(note 42(B)(vii))

FEAS AR I B B AR F0R

PRAeREERELA
FEZEMR
(7E % RME42B)i0)

Included in the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are trade
payables amounting to HK$3,706,000 (2010: HK$4,469,000) and
HK$3,224,000 (2010: HK$9,136,000) respectively. All of the balances
were aged within 90 days based on invoice date and the average
credit period is 90 days.

The non-trade balances of amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

BHRNERLEMEMNFRREESESR
NISERAZ REFHE - RIREAH - 1%
BHEBMZY 2 E 5 RN R E A RN R
BZREDHIAT -

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FAT

1,058,186
245,035
382,258

1,685,479
128,672
164,119

57,392
85,612

47,481
55,191

361,227

430,269
50,501

24,668

23,448

78,161

3,182,020

T ATERT T B A B IR I i s I AR 6 E
KRR eBESRAE S REMERFRS,706,000
BT ZF — T F 1 4,469,000 7T ) &
3,224,000% ;L( = F — T F : 9,186,000/
JL) e BB RGN EE B BER
Q0HM » FHEEEIAA -

FE A Y /B8 1 R SF 4R B o I AR P2 ) B R A
RABEZFEDERREER - 2EREAR
EREFER
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Bank and other borrowings
comprise the following:

Bank loans

Trust receipt loans
Mortgage loan
Other bank loans
Other loans

Secured
Unsecured

For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z - E——F=A=+—HILFE

RITMEAM
fEEBRHE:

RITEN
EriEER
RIBEN
HpRITER
Hfth &K

B
il

Other bank loans represent the loans from discounting of intercompany

receivables with full recourse.

The maturity profile of the
above loans is as follows:

Within one year

More than one year, but not
exceeding two years

More than two years, but not
exceeding five years

More than five years

Add: Carrying amount of bank
loans that are not repayable
within one year from the
end of the reporting period
but contain a repayment on
demand clause (shown
under current liabilities)

Less: Amount due within one
year shown under
current liabilities

Amount due after one year

EEFHBERMT

R—FR
R—FETBBME

W

R FETBBIF

R

W
=
_m

kil

M AR ARG S RES —FREE
B A RERY 1R B IER R 2
RITERZREE
GIAREBAE)

B —FREEF AR
BEZHA

—FRI B2 R

3.31.2010
—E-TF
=A=+—8H
HK$'000
FHET
(restated)
(E751)

10,640,014
1,686,715
7,566
763,635
218,176

13,316,106

8,250,069
5,066,037

13,316,106

4.1.2009
ZZTNF
MA—A
HK$'000
FHET
(restated)
(E31)

7,741,696
1,686,521
11,904
669,138
288,763

10,297,922

7,563,605
2,734,317

10,297,922

HiR1TE e A2 HE Mg 2 BR QR

JEM A

3.31.2010
—E-TF
=A=+—H
HK$'000
FET

5,294,767
662,620

3,025,857
4,295,569

13,278,807

37,299
13,316,106

(5,332,060)
7,084,046

4.1.2009
—EENF
mA—H
HK$'000
FET

3,103,855
355,753

2,315,975
4,407,396

10,182,979

114,943
10,297,922

(3,218,798)
7,079,124



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 2 —E——F=FA=1+—HILFE

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

34. RITRHMEE(E)

3.31.2011 3.31.2010 4.1.2009
—T——5 ZE-TF ZIZTNF
=A=t—H =A=+-—H WA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET FHET
Borrowings comprise: BEBE:
Fixed-rate borrowings TEMEE 5,574,302 5,016,495 7,392,080
Floating-rate borrowings ZEEE
~ LIBOR plus 1.5% — AR EFREFEZMN1.5E 3,064,922 2,706,958 2,072,957
— Base rate of People’s — B A RBITEEFE
Bank of China 6,393,940 5,692,653 832,885
15,033,164 13,316,106 10,297,922

AEEEREZERMNE 2 @E(RERT O

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

)T

2011
—_E——F

2010
—E-TF

Effective interest rate per annum: BB EF|K ¢
Fixed-rate borrowings
Floating-rate borrowings 2EEE

The details of the Group's borrowings which are denominated in

currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group
entities are set out below:

3.20% - 8.33%
3.20E £8.33E
4.73% - 9.56%
4.73[E£9.56[F

2.10% to 7.83%
2.10E%7.83E
3.84% to 8.00%
3.84E%8.00E

AEEBRZHEREEER ZIEEBUINZ
SMERHEZ EEFBEIINT

uUsD JPY

EpH =]

HK$’000 HK$'000

equivalent equivalent

THT FHET

HER HER

At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 4,797,837 227,940
At March 31, 2010 RZZE—ZEF=A=+—H 4,232,459 95,031

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

93



For the year ended March 31, 2011 Z - E——F=A=+—HILFE

Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
ZER ARRELR &t
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
at HK$0.01 at HK$1.00
each each
TS FTEr  TREE FET TEL
SREE SREE
0.018TT 1.00%8 7T
Authorised JETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
At April 1, 2009 R-EEAFME—A 3,333,614 33,336 - - 33,336
Exercise of share options (Note 49) Tl R (Fi7E49) 18,410 184 - - 184
Issue of new ordinary shares (Note i) BATEE R (HFE) 9,012 PO - - 90
At March 31, 2010 R-E-ZF¥=A=1+—H 3,361,036 33,610 - - 33,610
Exercise of share options (Note 49) TR (fi749) 127,911 1,279 - - 1,279
Issue of shares as consideration for ERMIEER < REM
the acquisition of a business (Note i) BT 215 (B3 175,652 1,756 - - 1,756
Issue of new ordinary shares (Note iii BATI L @R (M EEi) 718,556 7,186 - - 7,186
At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 4,383,055 43,831 - - 43,831
Notes: B2

94

(i)

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the bondholders of the
Bond (as defined in note 38) have fully converted the remaining of
the Bond into 9,012,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company at a conversion price of HK$1.731 per share.

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of Zhongyu Gas,
completion of which took place on August 6, 2010, 175,552,000
ordinary shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.01 each
were issued.

On November 8, 2010, completion took place for private placements
to independent private investors of 718,556,000 shares of HK$0.01
each in the Company, at subscription price of HK$4.31 each.

The shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing
shares in all respects.

(0

(i)

(i)

REHE-Z-—ZHE=F=+—HIFF -
EH(EERLMFS)NFEADUER
BRI 7TNBTRIBERTESERA
9,012,000 A A & FREE.01E L Z
AR o

ERBREBHR BRI RERER
Z-ZTFNANBEK) 0 ARAREET
175,552,000k F IR EEC.OVE T2 EiRl
% o

RZZE—ZTF+—A\B ' KARIEKRA
B AL AR E EBLE718,556,0008% & A%
EEO.0O1B T2 - RIBEAETR4.3
BT e

RERBITZBRORABETERREBRNF
BRIEHERM -



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

2010
—E-TF
Translation reserve I X
At the beginning of i a=p k)
the reporting period 285,663
Exchange difference arising EE i E 4 2 X ERE
on translation 1,240
Release upon disposal of o HE R ) E B R [
jointly controlled entities (9,0606)
Release upon disposal S B A R B )
of a subsidiary 62)
At the end of the reporting period TR Bk 277,665
2010
—E-TF
Investment revaluation reserve HEBMFE
At the beginning of ¥ BT
the reporting period -
Increase in fair value on Al E R E A T EE N
available-for-sale investments 7,958
At the end of the reporting period A4 HiR 7,958

The amount was unsecured, bearing fixed-rate interest at 2% per

ZHARERR  REMNEEFE - RA

annum, originally repayable in year 2013 and denominated in JPY.
Accordingly, the amount was classified as a non-current liability as at
March 31, 2010. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group
has made the repayment of HK$355,794,000 and for the remaining
balance, the Group agreed with the non-controlling interest for early

R-Z—=FEERNBEE- Bt Z
HERZE—EF=A=1+—H#®I AR
PaE BE_T——F=ZHA=+—8L
FE - AEBEBEE355,794,0008 T I
MR ERRABIRFEESRT - BULBR
repayment and accordingly, it is classified as a current liability as at ER-E——F=RB=+—HB2EALHE
March 31, 2011. & o
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On June 23, 2005, the Company entered into a conditional subscription
agreement with CQS Convertible and Quantitative Strategies Master
Fund Limited ("CQS") and Courtenay Enterprises Limited (“Courtenay”),
independent third parties of the Group, whereby CQS and Courtenay
subscribed the USD denominated Bonds (‘the Bond”) issued at par
by the Company in an aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000.
The Bond was issued on June 29, 2005 (“the Issue Date”) and carries
interest at 1% per annum and is matured on June 29, 2010. The
conversion price of the Bond is HK$1.731 and can be converted at
any time on or after Issue Date up to June 19, 2010. Unless previously
redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at 127.070 per cent of their principal amount on June 29,
2010. All or some of the Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the
relevant holder on June 29, 2009 at 115.314 per cent of their principal
amount. The Bond are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
2562) on June 1, 2006. In prior year, the Bond was fully converted into
ordinary shares of the Company. Detalils are set out in note 35(i).

As at August 6, 2010, being the date of completion of the acquisition
of 56.33% of the issued share capital of Zhongyu Gas by the Company
as described in note 42 (“Zhongyu Gas Acquisition”), the convertible
bonds issued by Zhongyu Gas with principal amount of US$15,600,000
(“Zhongyu Gas Bond”) were outstanding. The Zhongyu Gas Bond
carried interest at 2% per annum and will be matured on June 25,
2012 ("“Maturity Date of Zhongyu Gas Bond”). The conversion price
of Zhongyu Gas Bond was HK$0.70. Zhongyu Gas Bond can be
converted at any time up to 5 business days prior to Maturity Date of
Zhongyu Gas Bond or 7 business days prior to the date of repurchase.
Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled,
Zhongyu Gas Bond can be repurchased at 130 per cent of their
principal amount on Maturity Date of Zhongyu Gas Bond.

R-DEERFENA-+T=ZHB AQaA
CQS Convertible and Quantitative Strategies
Master Fund Limited ([CQSJ) & Courtenay
Enterprises Limited ([ Courtenay ]) (& &
RNEEZBIE=77)RI LA R RIE T -
& I CQS & Courtenay R B AN A AR EE 1T
427K & %8 £40,000,000% 7T 2 AETTEHAEE
AH([EH]D EHERZEERFAAZTAN
B#T([#TA])  BEFEKIEFELR
ZE-TFERNAZTNARIE - EHEEIR
BR1.7318 T AJRBETARE_Z—TF
NATHBEREEAEREER - RIFELERE
MO - EBMoERWEE  TRIESFHRZ
T-EFRAZTNRRAREFE127.070%HE
Bl - EHFFBEANAIERBR_ZTZTNERA
ZHNBREFASFEI5.314%ERIE 2
D c EBHFERZEEARNFANA—HRER
Fr Em (AR 2662) - EHEREFE
BHHBRBART LB - FFI5FE2HWE
35() e

R-ZZE—ZTFNANA  ARQFUREF A
A B BT AG6.33% ([ MM A WE S
] SHAKIE42) B BB PR E
T2 N4 %8 515,600,0005 7T 2 Al # f & 5
(THPHRRRES ) MARITE - PRMRES
REFRENHEIR —_T——FA=-+H
BEB([FHRRESFRBRE ] - FRRER
BH 2 HIBEBARO.70BIT AT RIE
FEHAAEE XA RED At
HATR R - BRIESERIEER - 82k g0
i BARMRRESFAT R MREES
FH B IR RREE S A S EE130%EE °
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Zhongyu Gas Bond can be repurchased at the option of Zhongyu
Gas at either one of the following options:

Date Repurchase amount
HH BEEHE

Option 1

B

June 25, 2011 Not less than 10% of
the remaining principal amount
—ZE——FXAZ+hA PORBTAREEEZ10%

June 25, 2012 Remaining balance
—E-ZFXA=+haA BRX

Option 2
EED
June 25, 2011 Not less than 156% of

the remaining principal amount
—ZE——%XAZ+HH TORBT ARG 16%
June 25, 2012 Remaining balance
—E-—FXAZ+hHA BRIX

In the event of a change of control of Zhongyu Gas, the holders of
Zhongyu Gas Bond will have the right to require Zhongyu Gas to
redeem in whole or in part such outstanding convertible bonds issued
by Zhongyu Gas pursuant to the terms of Zhongyu Gas Bond. Zhongyu
Gas had therefore issued a notice of the change of control of Zhongyu
Gas to the holders of Zhongyu Gas Bond after the completion of the
Zhongyu Gas Acquisition.

The holders of Zhongyu Gas Bond had exercised their right to require
Zhongyu Gas to redeem Zhongyu Gas Bond. On September 13, 2010,
Zhongyu Gas completed the redemption of an aggregate principal
amount of US$15,600,000 at a consideration of US$18,507,000
equivalent to (approximately HK$143,828,000), being the early
redemption amount payable on the outstanding principal amount of
Zhongyu Gas Bond together with all accrued and unpaid interest, in
accordance with the terms and conditions of Zhongyu Gas Bond.
Thereafter, Zhongyu Gas has no outstanding convertible bonds.

PR RIE 7 7] AP A SRIR T 5 Eoeh —
EERED

Consideration

R

110% of the principal amount
REFEZ110%

1380% of the principal amount
RNEF,2180%

120% of the principal amount
KL Z120%

130% of the principal amount
K2 180%

R ARG LR EE - PRaMRRES
FAEABEREZRPBRRBREDRRRE
FIEFEE 2B XD P HRRREITZRA
MO E S o B - PHRRRR P ERR
WEEEE/RE  DRATHRRESFSE
AP RIEHIELIRES -

PR RESFEABITERER - ERHhH
MRELRRRRES R —ZTF A
+=H FHRKEREFBRRES KK
N A&+ 52 K B 1B AN & 48 3815,600,0003
7t K18 A18,507,0003 7t ( #9143,828,000
i) R RESR AR SEERS
HEFRANMNEZENIREERSRE - &
% RIIARIE R SR ATIRRES -
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The convertible bonds contain the following components that are
required to be separately accounted for in accordance with HKAS
32 “Financial instruments: Presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and Measurement”:

(@)

Liability component of the Bond represents the present value
of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the rate of interest at that time by the market
to instruments of comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but
without the conversion and redemption option. The effective
interest rate of the liability component of the Bond and Zhongyu
Gas Bond determined on initial recognition are 4.5% and 20.42%
per annum respectively.

Embedded conversion option of the Bond to be accounted for
as a separate financial liability represents the fair value of the
option to convert the liability into equity of the Company.

Embedded conversion option of Zhongyu Gas Bond represents
the option to convert the liability into equity of the Zhongyu Gas
but the conversion will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed number of the Zhongyu Gas 's own equity.

Embedded early redemption option of the Bond represents the
Company'’s option to early redeem all or part of the Bond by
bond holder on or before June 19, 2010 at the conversion price
of HK$1.731.

Embedded early redemption option of Zhongyu Gas Bond
represents Zhongyu Gas's option to early redeem all or part of
Zhongyu Gas Bond.

Mandatory redemption option of the Bond represents redemption
at the option of the bond holders on June 29, 2009 at 115.314
per cent of the principal amount of the Bond.

AR ESBIEATRG

FEEREEES

FPERERM @M I A 2 I REEEF

P 4=

N

BE :

(@)

|3k SR T A - ABNFEIBIA

BEHFZABERDIEANMEZRKR
ERERERTS LAAEARBAR
B 15 B AR BB B 3R i e I 1o I Ji2 4
REBHARNBEERENMBRR LT
GBMEETRREORE - R
RERBEFRTRRREFBEK
MEEZERFNED R RIER
20422 -

AR R & BB ENRZES WS
BEEEBRAERANAREE R
BREATE-

AR R B S A R R RS P
MREBEL R SER RERE HEX
B LRI R AN EEHRE <
R PASN T B ©

E% 2 M2 3 08 B fE R R AN A A |
BEEBEAR-Z—ZEA+IA
S BTLABEIR(E 1 731 LR B IER 2
Bk I ESH 2 IRIERE o

FRMRESHFRERDELRS
HIRRIE R EE 2 AR P HIRR
BoR 2 IE I -

BEHFZRHEDNRRRIZESFFEA
ZEER_ZEZNAEXNAZ+NEMN
BHERESFE115.314%#IT 2 &L -
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The fair values of the embedded conversion option of Zhongyu Gas PR R ESN SRR ENREL B AT
Bond as at date of redemption is calculated using the Monte Carol BN REERERGE - 2B 28
Simulation Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: AZELT -

Date of redemption
of principal amount
of US$15,600,000

AEH

15,600,000 7T 2

FE[E B

(note 38)

(P5E38)

Conversion price R (E HK$0.70
0.70% 7T

Expected volatility (note a) TR iR (FisEa) 52.53%
Expected life (note b) TEETERRR (Mi7ED) 1.78 years
1.78%F

Risk free rate (note c) ER B FIE (M 5Ee) 0.38% per annum

HF0.38E

Market price of Zhongyu Gas RRRRmE HK$0.70
0.70% 7T

Notes: PEE -

(@)  Expected volatility for embedded conversion option was determined (@) MR AE 2 FBERE TR IBRRMR
by calculating the historical volatility of the Zhongyu Gas’s share R EREBBES0ER S B 2 E L KIEE
price over 250 trading days. T o

(b)  Expected life was the expected remaining life of the embedded () TEFTEHREMNTGRIREZBIHRTSF
conversion option. B o

(c)  The risk free rate is determined by reference to the Hong Kong ) ERRBMNEDNEZ2ERBIINEESER
Exchange Fund Note. T o

The fair value of the early redemption option as at the date of redemption RER B ZIRATER®EE Y A FETIZ

is determined by application of Trinomial method, using effective yield BERFES RS A2 RSN EERED R

at 5.42% per annum and time to maturity equal to the expected FEA B T FERUN=ZIEAETE -

remaining life of the option.
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The movement of different components of the convertible bonds during

FARBRRESZR 2 TRKND ZE BTN

the year is set out below: T
Embedded Early
conversion redemption
Liability option option Total
ME  RATEE
8f& BiRE BERE et
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET FAT
At April 1, 2009 N-ZTAEE—H 14,823 782 (1,261) 14,344
Converted during the year (note) R #a (Ff5E) (14,823) (782) 1,261 (14,344)
Interest charged (note 10) FLEZE (MEE10) 39 - - 39
Interest paid BT A (39) - - (39)
At March 31, 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H - - - -
Acquired on acquisition of a Wi ZE TSRS P S
business (note 42) (FFE42) 118,483 28,293 (4,945) 141,831
Interest charged (note 10) 2 H (MFE10) 3,045 - - 3,045
Interest paid 2RHE (5627) - - (527)
Loss arising on change in fair value A FE & B FTE £ E518 - 374 919 1,293
Redemption during the year FNEMD (121,001) (28,667) 4,026 (145,642)

At March 31, 2011

RZE——%=A=+—H

i EERA - BE LA RS BB
R RN A B A T EE BB E
—E-E= A=+ —RLFEHBYE
K o

Note: In the opinion of directors, the financial impact on the change in
fair values of conversion option and early redemption options of
the Bond up to the date of conversion of convertible bonds are not
significant for the year ended March 31, 2010.

B E AR B 1,814,0008 TTE R
Wit NE A U as K &518

The gain on redemption of Zhongyu Gas Bond of HK$1,814,000 was
recognised and included in other gains and losses.
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The following is the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years.

DATJ‘%EA$EE$E¢J§&WEE$&¢J*ZEEEM
EERAAG(EE) ARARBES -

Impairment

Revaluation on trade

on property, receivables

plant and and amounts

Revaluation  equipment due from

Accelerated on and prepaid customers

tax investment lease Tax  Intangible for contract
depreciation properties payments losses assets work Others Total

VER BYEF

BERRE AHIR

EHE k% REfEE pa-Y] 1t
WE  DEEM EER BAFE AVEE  RIE Eft Eh)
HK§000  HK§000  HKBO00  HKF000  HKFO000  HKSO00  HKE000  HK§OQ0
Thr TAr  TExr  Thr  TEnr A  TEn Thx
At April 1, 2009 RZTTNENA- 471 24034 18114 3642 BB4R0  (6,890) - 178737

Acquisttion of additional interest in a W LR B %@M&m

Jointly confrolled eniity (note 41) (Rtz41) - 426 - - - - - 496
Aoguistion of businessss note 42) bR () - A - 182691 - - 270843
Charge (credt) to profit or loss for the year ERRERNG(EE) - 9,289 (7067) (3638  (2190)  (31,269) - (34,800)
At March 31, 2010 RZT-FF=A=1-4 471 33940 239199 (7,275) 23691 (88,159 - 415140
Bxchange adusiments AR - 99 8,543 - 8463 (3148) - 14827
Acquisiton of a business {note 42) WK (M) - 745 - - 08y - 166 12,088
Charge (credt) to profit or loss for the year ERRERNG(EE) - 1028 8048 [4531)  [7,364) (163 2571 [7,23)
At March 31, 2011 RZZ—%=h=1-8 471 450B1 230696 (11,806) 247887 (91466) 4207 434070

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets REFIAE E
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEAE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profit earned by PRC
subsidiaries from January 1, 2008 onward. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
entities amounting to HK$2,232,546,000 (2010: HK$1,304,871,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

REINGFEPBARERME - & TERLERE
BERAGBEDTEE - LT ARMBHRSEM
B ZRERBEEROMT -

2010
—%%

88,165
(603,295)

(415,140)

BEPECEMSTE BT N\F—H
—HE - BERERBER Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂxz/ﬁﬂﬂﬁg
igwdild /AWAZTE?D%R o bR G B H iR R A
A BB L 25 F2,232,546,0008 T ( =

*iﬁ 1,304,871,000/ 70 ) 2 B s = §F
VELIRE TR IB R 45 - R A 2 7 5 (B A 42 1|
CEREBIEMR BYREBRAUETS
AT B SR B P ER -
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All jointly controlled entities and associates are held directly by certain
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC which
are therefore not subject to the above-mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of HK$2, 180,660,000 (2010: HK$1,675,899,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$71,553,000 (2010: HK$44,093,000) of the tax losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the remaining estimated
tax losses of HK$2,109,107,000 (2010: HK$1,6371,806,000) due to
the uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in unrecognised
estimated tax losses are losses of HK$1,321,405,000 (2010:
HK$985,949,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of origination.
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(i) During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary in the PRC in respect
of the acquisition of 12.5% equity interest in the subsidiary
of the Group, Zhongyou Hua Dian for a consideration of
RMB82,642,000 (approximately HK$94,991,000). The
consideration has been paid before March 31, 2010.
The transaction has not been completed as at March
31, 2010, and the consideration paid was recognised
as commitment to acquire a non-controlling interest as
at March 31, 2010.

The acquisition was completed during the year ended
March 31, 2011. The difference between the consideration
paid and the carrying amount of the additional interest
acquired by the Group of HK$53,083,000 was debited
to equity as capital reserve during the year ended March
31, 2011.

(i) On June 21, 2010, the Group injected RMB100,000,000
(approximately HK$114,942,000) into {EARHTH BRI T
MR EBERAT (MEARHD), as a result of the capital
injection, the Group’s effective interest in fEARHET was
increased from 54.2% to 84.7%. On the same day,
the Group acquired 13.3% additional interest in {ERHT
for a consideration of RMB20,000,000 (approximately
HK$22,988,000). The difference between the capital
injection amount, consideration paid and the carrying
amount of the additional interest effectively hold by the
Group of HK$7,808,000 was credited to equity as capital
reserve during the year ended March 31, 2011.

P HRRHIE 8 Kb 2 AR mAEEE
FERIZETE2EMBRARERSE
B AR TR o

RERE IR - REE A B K HERIEF 2
fH 5 R 8 B B 18 5 18 A2,180,660,000/8 7T
(ZZE—ZT 4 :1,675899,000/# L) > Bt
71,553,000/ J7t( = & — Z F : 44,093,000
BLIZHEEBEERRAELCHRBEE -
RARRE R FR 8 T HEE - EepfEatfiE
&5 $82,109,107,000/8 7t( — & — &= F:
1,631,806,000/8 L) W EERELEREE
E o AERGHREBBERREEREFE
BEAFEAEMZ1,321,405,0008 (= F
— =4 1 085,049,000/ 70 ) E5 18 - EfbE51E
AJ4ERR HRALEE o

) REBEEZZEZ—ZF=ZA=+—
BIEFE - K%@m¢l EXN]
BARZIEEBRBRRIIZEE
i NABEREREARE
82,642,0007t ( #94,991,000/%
T0) U BB AN &= E BT /B A R AP EE
BIoo% s WAz - ZRED
R-E—FTE=AF=+—HHA
Y e RZBE—TFZA=Z+—
B ZBEXZHATK B
RENR-_Z—ZEF=A=+—H

R IR R S 2 R o

ZBEWBREBE—T——F=A
=t —HIEFERK - ESEHK
BEAEE BRI MES R
fﬁZ%%&i58,088,OOO/§IF\\%ZI
TE——F=A=+—HILFE
BRGNS HIRR o

iy MZE—ZTFA=Z+—8"
A &= B | fE K HT AR OBR O TR
REBEAERAFEKNE D
& A R #100,000,0007T( £
114,942,000 7t ) > X & %
AEEBRERTZERESH
54.2% .t Fr =84.7% - & H
AEBEIZEAE AR 20,000,000
Tt (4922,988,00058 7T ) Y BB 1E K
Hr13.3%RE Mg o T E ST
EXMREERNEEREREEFHE
SN 25 BR E (B 2 &= ¥E7,808,000
BITREBE-_Z—F=ZA=1+—
BIEFE AN ST AER -



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

(iif)

(i)

During the year ended March 31, 2011, Zhongyu Gas and
the non-controlling interest of Luohe Zhongyu Gas Co. Ltd.
("Luohe Zhongyu”) entered into an agreement, pursuant to
which, the non-controlling shareholder withdrew its portion
of registered capital and the return of registered capital was
satisfied by property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payment with carrying amount of HK$816,000 and
HK$5,354,000, respectively held by Luohe Zhongyu,
which were approximately to their fair value. Thereafter,
the Group’s effective interest in Luohe Zhongyu increased
from 40.5% to 43.5%. The transaction was accounted for
as an equity transaction and the increase in the Group'’s
share of net assets of HK$1,764,000 was credited to
equity as capital reserve.

On October 7, 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a share transfer agreement with a
minority shareholder of Zhongyou Hua Dian in relation to the
acquisition of 4.5% equity interest at a total consideration
of RMB10,850,000 (approximately HK$12,471,000).
The consideration was satisfied by way of transfer of an
available-for-sale investment of the Group with carrying
value of RMB 10,850,000 (approximately HK$12,471,000).
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of additional interest
in Zhongyou Huadian is HK$9,486,000.

On December 16, 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a share transfer agreement with a
minority shareholder of RINTTHRRARER AT (FI
FEHRY) in relation to the acquisition of 4% equity interest
at a total consideration of RMB7,235,700 (approximately
HK$8,317,000). Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
additional interest in JRIIFHR is HKS6,018,000.

(i)

(i)

REEZZT——F=A=1+—
BIEFE  FHRREEZ TP
MEBRAT(ERAFR]) 2
FEVERRAR R AT L 1pak - B - 3
ZRR AR R A H M B AR E 5
3R 2] 5 & AR LA B R0 R 8 45
BEEREMES 5 A816,000/8 7T &
5,354,000 T2 M%E - BE K&
REEBAESIN  BEER
BEAFERSE - £iE - AEE
FOE M 2 BB BR40.5%
HINE43.5% © 2B 5 ARA
RHAE - MAKBRELFEE
Z 3 001,764,000 7T LA B A
et A o

ANAE—RE2EWNBE QAR M
PHEES RO HEBRER
%8R E AR 10,850,0007T
( #912,471,000/% 7 ) Y2 B84.5%
R A RERS M AT S — DR 15 B
Fo ZNRECHBEEALER
& & A R #10,850,0007T (£
12,471,000/ 7T ) 2 Al ft IH & 1%
B BAEFR BEEEIN
T %5 1 2 A4 2 78 /59,486,000
BIT °

R-ZEZAF+-_A+ B K&
RE—REEK B AR ERIT
PR R AR AR (RINFD)
—ZLEBRRRLBREARE
7,235,7007t( 498,317,000/ 7T )
W BB 4% 7R FE 2 1 5T S — 19
& 0 85 :E e o B U EE R Y
MENETMEECEBER
6,018,000/ T °
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Acquisition of additional interest in a jointly controlled entity in 2010

On June 16, 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a share transfer agreement with an independent third party
pursuant to which the Group acquired 1% additional equity interest in
RN, a jointly controlled entity in 2009, at a total consideration
of RMB10,207,000 (approximately HK$11,732,000). The acquisition
was completed on April 1, 2009.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1%

EQUITY INTEREST IN FFA1& s

Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Bank and other borrowings
Deferred taxation

Discount on acquisition

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW ARISING
ON ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid

Bank balances and cash acquired

——F=ZA=t-ALFE

W 158 451 % IR AN RE 25 B4
g REE

wEE

ME - BE KR
BNEERE

TE

B 5 PR 51 e EoAth JE U AR 1E
BEIMERITIFK
RITEFRIR S

B SR R E A FE AR IR
RITREMEER

EIETRIA

Wig 2 78

AR
Rer(E

AWBmES 2RSSR HFHE

ENHRERE
PR RITRE T AR S

R —ZFURB ARG TS EIMER
RZZBENENA+AE ARE—R2E
B AR —Z BT —Eﬂifﬁﬁﬁ@
i Bl AEER ST hAFWEHE
B 122 ) B BENT A BB O PR AR i 25+ B
B A AR #10,207,0007t( #911,732,00078
) ZBEREER -_TTAFNHNA—HE
ﬁg o

HK$'000

FHT

3,386
16,294
2,909
335
1,927
1,047
3,247
(8,958)
(7,727)
(426)

12,034
(302)

11,732

11,732

(11,732)
4,294

(7,438)
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On March 24, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 90% equity
interest of 2RE #1& at a consideration of RMB24,000,000
(approximately HK$27,586,000). The acquisition was
completed on July 13, 2010, on which date the control
in RE®1E was passed to the Group. KRB HIE is
principally engaged in natural gas business.

Consideration transferred

Cash B

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the date
of acquisition:

Property, plant and W - BEREE

equipment

P

B 5 e W AR R N L A e Wi AR IR

it
pily

Inventories
Trade and other
receivables

Bank balances and cash {74 E &R &
Trade and other payables B 5 FE{ BR 51 K& E b FE A< BR 18

Non-controling interests ~ FE¥E P& HE 25

E

Goodwill

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted
to HK$5,202,000 at the date of acquisition. The best
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows
not expected to be collected is nil.

(i) R=ZEZTAF=F=+mA-
AEE—ZRHBAREBIE=
FRIM W B - Bt AEH
%R B A R #24,000,0007T (£
27,686,000/ 7T ) Yg il 2R & 75 1E
Q0% IR A KRS - BB N =
Z—ZFZF+A+=HEK RE
B REFEEHEER TR
@ REFEEIERERAR

ES
SERNE
HK$'000
TAT
27,586
REBRKBEARACEERAE

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and
provisional fair value
before combination
WREHREGATZ
REER

EEATHE

HK$'000

FET

4,875
35

5,202
283
(2,032)

8,363
(837)
20,060

27,686
RUKEE B - FTUR R 2 B 5 FE Uk BR 31 K& £ fh e Uk
BRI A FEME HBREEES 5 202,000 7T °

RUEE B B FRBAEERE A MR SR 2 REME
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(i)

(Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration EEERE
transferred

Plus: non-controlling A : FE3EASAERS
interests

(10% share of net (REBEFEEZ10%)

assets in REHHE)
Less: fair value of

identifiable net

assets acquired

REmEL 2HE

Goodwill arising on
acquisition

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of K& %1E is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas
business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

ReNE
PR 2 RiTEE MRS

Cash consideration
Bank balances and
cash acquired

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$926,000
attributable to the additional business generated by K&
#1E. Revenue for the year includes HK$4,101,000.

B TR R EEEZ A FE

(i)

(%)
AWEmEE2BHE

HK$'000
TAT

27,586

837

(8,363)
20,060

EU B R E B EmEE 2 HETY
EREXARER 2 RRB N E
5

EHYENZAREMEEZR
EAHRA
HAWBEmEE2RER
HER
HK$'000
TAET

27,5686

(283)

27,303

WRBBARERAEZFE

FREMNRKETF D HBE
926,000 7T %4,101,000 7T
DERENREBHEES 2BINE
75 o
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(i)  On March 24, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered

into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 90% equity
interest of BEAAGHEMRAER AR (‘BETE"
at a consideration of RMB10,000,000 (approximately
HK$11,494,000). The acquisition was completed on May
11, 2010, on which date the control in B & %E was
passed to the Group. B &% 18 is principally engaged in
natural gas business.

Consideration transferred

Cash Be

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the
date of acquisition:

Property, plant and Y - BE KRB
equipment
Trade and other
receivables
Bank balances and cash $R17451F MIR &

Trade and other payables & 5) FE 1+ B 7% K Eo b FE A~ BR 18

B 5 PR TR K H R W AR IR

Non-controling interests ~ FEHE gz
Goodwil B

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted to
HK$9,693,000 at the date of acquisition. The best estimate
at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not expected

to be collected is nil.

(ii)

R-EZAF=ZA-+mWA"
REE R BAR B ILE =
FEI W ERE - Bt ARE
ERE AR ®10,000,0007T( 49
11,494,000 L) WEERE &
wEMRERAGR(TBEETHE]D)
0%z A HE 7 o FZ BB E R
ZE-ZEFRAAT—HEK - R
BB AewEZEHEERE T
AEE - BEHEEBHRERA
RET ©

CEEAE

HK$'000
TAT

11,494

REBNKBEBAZEEHAE -

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and
provisional fair value
before combination
BB HREOATZ
IREER
TEHRATE
HK$'000

FET

2,602

9,693
4
(2,088)

10,1711
(1,011)
2,394

11,494

RUEE B - FTUkEE 2 & 5 IR
RRHMERRE A FERE
49 48 %8 A $£9,693,000% 7T ° K
Ui g B B AR A IR B A HIR &
M EEGTAT -
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(ii)

(Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration EEENE
transferred

Plus: non-controling N : JERAS HEZS
interests

(10% share of net (BEEFEFEEZ10%)

assets in AETIE)
Less: fair value of

identifiable net

assets acquired

Goodwill arising on EEmEE 22
acquisition

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of B®®HE is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas
business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Cash consideration ~ BR&RE
Bank balances and ~ FTWEE 2 SRTTHEF RIS
cash acquired

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$165,000
attributable to the additional business generated by B
#15. Revenue for the year includes HK$1,184,000.

W RIS BBLBAE L ATE

(i) (#&)

HWBEmMEE 2EE

HK$'000
TAT

11,494

1,011

(10,111)

2,394

GRS T 2 4 T e
PEREXAR LS BHR
Fleeh -

TR A AR EmMEL 2
PR AT HIR A -

WEmMELE ZRER
FER
HK$'000
TET

11,494

(4)

11,490

WRBEAREREZHE

FREMNEKEF DR EE
165,0007% 7T M 1,184,000/ 7T
IEEREBHEES ZREINE
f% °
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(iii) On June 18, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group entered into

an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity interest
of BAEMBILBR AR ("HAF L) at a consideration
of RMB6,780,000 (approximately HK$7,793,000). The
acquisition was completed on June 25, 2010, on which
date the control in E#AAF X was passed to the Group.
FHHAMR is principally engaged in LPG business.

Consideration transferred

Cash e

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the
date of acquisition:

Property, plant W - BE R
and equipment

Inventories rE

Trade and other B 5 FE Y BR SR B Ho A FE IR BR IR
receivables

Bank balances and cash $R1T4F KIRE
Trade and other payables B 5 &S BR A% B b FE < BR 1A

Goodwill ]

)il

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted to
HK$173,000 at the date of acquisition. The best estimate
at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected is nil.

(iii)

RZZE—ZFFA+NB &
£EH— %WE AEBYFE=
AR - Bt AR
AR E AR 6,780,000 ( 4
7,793,000/ 7T ) Y e B B I R
{EBERAG(EARFLI) 100%
IR - ZIERBER T
—ZEXNA-tEHEHTEK - RE
H - SRR EG SR TR
S8 - ERAFREZHEBRILA
pE=ES

CEEAE

HK$'000
THET

7,793

AEEREEABRRZEER

iy
m

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and
provisional fair value
before combination
BWBHREGAIZ
IREER

EELATE

HK$'000

FET

45
796

173
270
(135)

1,149
6,644

7,793

RUEE B - FTURE 2 B 5 EIKER
REEMEWEEZ A FERE
HHBEEA 173,000 7T » AUk
BHEEAEENEDENESR
ZEREMFTAT -
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(iii) (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration BEERE
transferred

Less: fair value of W PTEERI BRI EEE 2 A FE

identifiable net
assets acquired

Goodwill arising R gEmEE 2 Hm2
on acquisition

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of EHAIA is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas
business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Cash consideration TS 2R & RE
paid

Bank and cash Fris s 2 SRITEETF IR
balances acquired

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$717,000
attributable to the additional business generated by &%
AR, Revenue for the year includes HK$41,534,000.

(iii) (#&)

HWBEmMEE 2EE

HK$'000
TET

7,793

(1,149
6,644

A BEEAPRMEL 2 BB
EREXARER 2 AHAE T
5 o

By ERNZAREMELEZR
BRAIHIRBIA

HyEmELE 2RERH
HE
HK$'000
TET

7,793

(270)

7,523
WRBBARERAZFE

FRNHEMNEWEF DR EE
7170005 7T & 41,534,000 7T
DEBRERAPREE ZFEI
E
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(iv) On January 17, 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company proposed to the board of directors of Zhongyu
Gas that it intends to make a voluntary conditional cash
and securities exchange offer (“Offers”) (i) to acquire
all of the issued shares in the capital of Zhongyu Gas
(“Share Offer”); (ii) for the acquisition of all the Remaining
Zhongyu Gas Bonds (“Convertible Bond Offer”); and (i)
for the cancellation of all the outstanding share options
of Zhongyu Gas (“Zhongyu Gas Share Options”) (“Option
Offer”).

The Offers were closed on August 6, 2010, valid
acceptances of (i) the Share Offer have been received
in respect of 1,111,934,142 Zhongyu Gas’s shares
(representing approximately 56.33% of the issued share
capital of Zhongyu Gas as at August 6, 2010); and (i) the
Option Offer have been received in respect of Zhongyu
Gas Share Options to subscribe for 140,712,000 Zhongyu
Gas Shares (representing approximately 98.60% of all
outstanding Zhongyu Gas Share Options as at August 6,
2010). No acceptance for the Convertible Bond Offer has
been received as at the close of the Offers. The transaction
was completed on August 6, 2010 with total consideration
of HK$896,184,000. Zhongyu Gas is principally engaged
in sales of piped gas, natural gas from CNG filling stations
for vehicles and bottled LPG as well as the development
and construction of gas pipeline network.

Consideration transferred

Cash consideration ~ RNEEZHIRERE
paid by the Group

Shares issued (note) 22T (B5E)

Total consideration BRIE

(iv)

R-ZZE-ZTF—-A+L£H &
RE—REEME R B[RRI
ReEFERZ  KTNBERD
BREAKRHRENREFRSHEY
(T4 )KRBEHHRRR
Az 2BE B#TkO(TBRH &
#1) 5 (B 2R R BRI R
BEHF([AHRRESRELQ ) + K(i)
A RITE PR B
(ThmmmERE]) (TRRER
#1) -

BHR_TE—ZTFNANRABR
1E o (VBEAR#IRRT,111,934,142
BEERHDUEFRRRRZF —
TENABANBEETIRAY
56.33%) I HH 2 B 1D E24) ¢ (i)
BL R 140,712, 0000% 18 1A |
(R —_E—ZFF )\ ANH
FT 7 2R 17 {5 A 48 R 5 B IR 4 4V
98.60%) 2 H ¥4 WA SR BE IR e T 12
hrBREZNEESENE
o MBAKRIEE - ATRKRES
ZROWARESEN - ZIEXHR
—E-TFNARNHERK  BR
{8 5896,184,000/8 JT ° # # #4
REBHEHETEMRR - KB
BERAARABEMRIZ RAR
MEEREAME  URBREE
MR RER -

cERENE
HK$'000

TAT

201,499
694,685

896,184
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(iv) Note: As part of the consideration for the acquisition of

Zhongyu Gas, 175,552,000 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.01 each were
issued as consideration shares. The fair value
of such consideration shares, determined using
the published market closing price at the date
of completion of the acquisition, amounted to

HK$694,685,000.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$20,884,000
have been excluded from the cost of acquisition and have
been recognised as an expense in the period, within the
“administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the date

of acquisition:

Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments
Other intangible assets
Deposits for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from customers
for contract work
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to customers
for contract work
Taxation
Bank and other borrowings
Convertible bonds (note 38)
Derivatives embedded
in convertible bonds
Deferred taxation

Non-controlling interests FEERR
Goodwill [5G

Ky

REME

ME - BB RRE

A ERIE

T{/\ﬁ%/z%ﬂé

H ity |8 B

WM - BERREZRE

T
H 5 BB 5 A PR IE
RWER 2 &1 TIRRE

IR T
RITREFNRE

B 5 R IR R E A R BRIR
ENEPZAKNITRENIEA

T

RITREMEE
AR E 7 (I E38)
MHRRER 2 HEITETA

BT

=

(iv) W=E: AR E K5

2 3 B 1T
175,552,0000% & I ® &
0ONVB T Z AR A LR
B EBREBPMRRR
Bz—8n - ZERER
Mz AF@ETERKE
TRE B ZAMKTE

B ¥ A 694,685,000
HIT ©
B EEBzBRAHK

20,884,000/8 7T © BB A
PR YRS ZEERARE
FITBREY | —BRERBHA
X -

AEBER
=R

NRIER R 2 BEE R

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and provisional
fair value before
combination
BBB S REOAT 2
BRTEE &

EEATE

HK$'000

FET

5,618
919,293
61,151
2,870
149,634

45,467
59,648
178,122

15,644
23,179
488,438
(400,013)

(19,230)
(13,574)
(652,625)
(118,483)

(23,348)
(12,238)

709,453
(371,287)
558,018

896,184
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(iv) The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables and amounts due
from customers for contract work acquired amounted to
HK$178,122,000 and HK$ 15,644,000 respectively at the
date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date
of the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected
is nil,

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration 2 ERE
transferred

Plus: non-controling  hil : SE4ERSAEZS
interests

(43.67% share of net  (FRIEPAEFEE 2 43.67% RH LR
assets in BB A R 2 e A R )

Zhongyu Gas and
non-controlling
interests in the
subsidiaries of
Zhongyu Gas)
Less: fair value of B TR BRI FEE 2 A TE
identifiable net
assets acquired

Goodwill arising on R EmEE 22
acquisition

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Zhongyu Gas is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas
business and exploration and development of coalbed
methane.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

(iv)

RUEE R - Fri i 2 B 5 IR
REEMEWREREERERER 2
AHTRFBEZAFERALE
B Bl A HB178,122,000% 7T
15,644,000/ 7T o AU B ¥
TEEEEE B & IR &R 2 & E
HEr AT -

HWBEmMEE2EHE

HK$'000
TAT

896,184

371,287

(709,453

568,018

R R R mEL 22T
ENERARER MR ERFAR
FE 2 TR A FIRE ) -

TEHY R IEREMEL 2/
EARA
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(iv) (Continued)

(v)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition

Bank balances and  FTEEZ RITETFRIRS
cash acquired

Cash consideration

ReR(E

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$64,420,000
attributable to the additional business generated
by Zhongyu Gas. Revenue for the year includes
HK$1,035,998,000.

On March 29, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100%
equity interest of SRR AP MRK TR RERER A A
(‘SR KRR A" at a consideration of RMB28,728,000
(approximately HK$33,020,000). The acquisition was
completed on September 28, 2010, on which date the
control in REFWAR, was passed to the Group. FRXK
FBR&E, is principally engaged in natural gas business.

(iv) (&)

(v)

HWEmMEE ZRERAF

]
HK$'000
THET
488,438
(201,499)
286,939

WRBEAREREZHE

F R A RS DR
64,420,000/ 7t }.1,035,998,000
AL DEBRTRRREEZ
BRONER ©

WN-_ZEZ—TF=ZF_+AHAHB"
REE-RWEBE AR B LE =
FEINE RS - Bt A5 E
R E AR %28,728,0005T(4
33,020,000/ 7T ) W BB SR R 2
BT RERBARAB(RR
ABR]) 100%2 AR © 3%
BREBER=_Z—ZFNLA=T
NEZK - REB  RRAREI
ZIEFEER TARER - RRRA
MREBHERARTE -
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(v)

(Continued)

Consideration transferred

Cash

RE

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the date

of acquisition:

Property, plant and
equipment

Trade and other
receivables

Bank balances
and cash

Trade and other
payables

Goodwiill

E R G

B 5 R AR R H A FE UL BRIR

RiITEFLRE

B 5 R IR R A T BRIR

o
)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted
to HK$5,384,000 at the date of acquisition. The best
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows
not expected to be collected is nil.

(v)

(&)
CEEAE
HK$'000
TAT
33,020

FEBRNBBERRZEESRS

& :

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount and
provisional fair
value before
combination

BBBAREHATZ
SREER
EERQFE
HK$'000

TAT

36,236
5,384
472

(19,875)

22,217
10,8083

33,020

PUEE B - FTUkEE » & 5 IR
REREMEWEREE A FERE
#4858 A ££5,384,000 7T B
Wig B EREEREANES
M EGTAT -
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v)

(vi)

(Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration EEENE
transferred

Less: fair value of
identifiable net

assets acquired

AbEmEL2BmE

Goodwill arising
on acquisition

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of FREKFMAE, is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas

business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

ReRE
B 2 RiTERIRE

Cash consideration
Bank balances and
cash acquired

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$2,234,000
attributable to the additional business generated by 5RZ
FMER. Revenue for the year includes HK$12,268,000.

On November 25, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the Group
acquired 100% equity interest of 1= % /¥R 1 ™ A
RERBR QAR (5L F M) at a consideration of
RMB31,780,000 (approximately HK$36,529,000). The
acquisition was completed on February 12, 2011, on
which date the control in {E2H ¥ was passed to the
Group. 52/ 8 is principally engaged in natural gas
business.

B PR R R EE 2 AT E

(v)

(vi)

(&)

HAWEmMELE 2EHE
HK$'000
FET
33,020
(22,217)
10,803

HAUBERRAMRMEL ZAE
TIERERARER 2 FHHEH

2y
Be °

B REZERETEL Y
SEHRBIE -

WREmMEL ZRER
R
HK$'000
TAT

33,020

(472)

32,648

DEEIRNSEES el 7

FREMREkmEF SR BE
2,234,000/ JT k12,268,000
T NEBRERRAMRELEZ
BONET -

RZE—ZEF+—A=+HAB "
REB—FRHMBRAREBIE=
FEIM WS - B A5E
ERAEARBS1,780,0007T (4
386,529,00078 7t ) Y B8 15 & F 14
BTMRERERAR([EL
B 1) 100% .2 I AT 2= 21BN
BERZE——F-_A+=ZA%
B o RE B - 5L R T B
EREFAER - FLPREBHR
BRARES -
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(vi) (Continued) (vi) (%&)
Consideration transferred BEENE
HK$'000
FET
Cash e 36,529

Assets and liabilities recognised by the Group at the

date of acquisition:

AEERKBEERACEERR

& :

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount and
provisional fair
value before
combination

WWEHREGATZ
REEK
EEAYE
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and M - BB MEE
equipment 28,843
Prepaid lease A HEERIE
payments 873
Inventories FE 314
Trade and other B 5 FE W BR 3R I E A FE AR TE
receivables 1,311
Bank balances RITHETF MRS
and cash 515
Trade and B 5 M BRI H A FE T BRI
other payables (2,126)
Bank borrowings RITEE (6,322)
23,408
Goodwill P 13,121
36,529

PSR - PR s 2 B 5 IR
REREMBEUREEE A FERE
H4aEE 4 $£1,311,0008 7T ° R
g AR E IR A NRE
ML REMT AT -

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts
of the trade and other receivables acquired amounted
to HK$1,311,000 at the date of acquisition. The best
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows
not expected to be collected is nil.
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(vi) (Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition

EEEAE

Consideration transferred

Less: fair value of identifiable & : FrUKEB A #BIFEE E 2 A FE

net assets acquired

Goodwill arising on acquisition [ Y 8 i 2= 4 7 22

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of {5 Z/H 1 is
attributed to the anticipated profitability of its natural gas
business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Cash consideration Bank RERE
balances and cash acquired FTUEE 2 R1TETF MRS

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$86,000 attributable
to the additional business generated by 1%k,
Revenue for the year includes HK$524,000.

The initial accounting for the above acquisitions has been
determined provisionally, awaiting the receipt of professional
valuations in relation to investment properties, property, plant
and equipment, prepaid lease payments and other intangible
assets of the acquirees.

If the above acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 2011
had been completed on April 1, 2010, total group revenue and
profit for the year would have been HK$16,192,370,000 and
HK$791,473,000 respectively. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had above acquisitions been
completed on April 1, 2010, nor is it intended to be projection
of future results.

(vi) (#&)

RWEmMEE 2B
HK$'000
TET
36,529

(23,408)

13,121

AU EEPMMEL 2HETY
ERNERAREB ZAHAF

2y
Be °

BEHYEANZAREMELZR
BRAHRIA

AfBEmEELEZRER
HEE
HK$'000
TET

36,529
(515)

36,014
WIEHARERGEZRE

FRBMNREERERDRBE
86,0007 7T %524,0008 7T * Th 5%
BRMERTPIRELS 2 BINETS -

PR BER2VNTEARENE
E o DAFERREBET B RRE
mE - V¥ BEEKRE BANEE
RENMEMEBLEEcEXRMAE -

WP E—E——F=/=+—
BEFEZRESEHER-Z—
TZFNMA—H=ZEK FAZEEE
W e & m # & A16,192,370,0005%
JT K 791,473,0008 7T - &£ B K2
HHA BRY AW R UWEEE
HERZZE—ZTFMNA—HEZKE
AEBERERSZRKEREEZE
B2EE T TBIEARRREEZ
FEA -



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

On April 24, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with independent third
parties pursuant to which the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in I RTEARB T AR ERERA
A (‘BARHFUENOY) at a consideration of RMB7,465,700
(approximately HK$8,5681,000). The transaction was
completed on May 22, 2009, on which date the control
of EARFH O was passed to the Group.

NET ASSETS FTREZFEE
ACQUIRED
Property, plant M - BB A&

and equipment
Prepaid lease payment F81f 70 & U8
Inventories FE

Other receivables E e ARIE
Bank balances and cash $R174&FE & 3E &

Trade and other EoREMNERR K
payables E b T ERIA

Goodwil [EES

SATISFIED BY THRER

Cash consideration ~ IR&RE

NET CASH OUTFLOW EWEmEE 2
ARISING ON ReRHFHE
ACQUISITION

Cash consideration paid 2R ERE

Bank balances and  FTEEZ RITETFRIRS
cash acquired

(1)

RZTEEAFHA=-+TA -

AEEB-RWB AR HE L E

=HEIN RO EERE

Bt AEBEWERRTHA

BT RERBR AT ME

REE B 1) Z100%8 A~ 2w

K E & A R ¥7,4657007T

(#8,581,000/ 7T ) ° B R 5

ERZETNFRA-T=HE

FEUAAZEIREER T AEE
Z B5ERK °

Acquiree’s

carrying amount

and fair value

before

combination

WWEHRE6

RIZREERATE

HK$'000

FAT

5,625

1,021
538
485
815

(3,104)

5,380
3,201

8,681

8,681

(8,581)

815

(7,766)
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(i)

(Continued)

M RHTE D is principally engaged in the installation of
natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas in
FFTE O region of Nanjing, the PRC. The goodwill arising
on the acquisition of ERFEA is attributable to the
anticipated synergy effect of the gas connection and sales
of piped gas business of the Company.

MAEFHWO contributed to the Group’s revenue of
HK$8,958,000 and loss of HK$491,000 between the date
of acquisition and the end of the reporting period.

On April 30, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with independent
third parties pursuant to which a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group acquired 80% additional
equity interest in £ /8 #¥ [X at a consideration of
RMB54,500,000 (approximately HK$62,644,000). The
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group originally
held 20% equity interest as at March 31, 2009 and was
classified as an associate of the Group. The transaction
was completed on May 31, 2009, on which date the
control of E/FZER was passed to the Group.

(1)

(i)

(%)
ARERO 2 EREBRNPE
ARMERIEARLTERAR
EEREREERAR - BB
MRATEOMEL 2 BERER
RAMREB R HEEREH 2
TR

USRI E RS AR - ™
REHEAARNEET R 2 W
& 518 5 Bl 58,958,000/ T &
491,000/ 7T ©

RZZTETZAFMA=+H" &
EBE-—RWBATEBLE=F
RIS — M R EE G - B
REB—RIEZ2EMBRRNK
8 BB REEINOWRE AN HE 2 -
R 1B B A R®54,500,0007T( %)
62,644,000 7C) - EBERA
AEERR-_ZEENF=A=1+
—BEEF AR AR IEEE
MEBAG  BEDEAAEE
BNRR - ZERHERZEZN
FRA=ZFT—BLEEERZZEH
R T AEE 2 BT °
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(i) (Continued) (i (%)
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
and fair value
before
combination
WBEE LS RE B
AIZREERAFE
HK$'000
FAET
NET ASSETS gz REE
ACQUIRED
Property, plant M - BB NEE
and equipment 128,259
Available-for-sale A ERE
investments 1,034
Trade and other B 5 R R & B Ath FE U BR IR
receivables 46,400
Bank balances and cash $R1T451F &R & 199
Trade and other B SR EEIRE
payables (36,753)
Amount due to a vendor FE{ {t fE pE FE (83,943)
55,196
Less: Interest held B WHERIFFA 2
prior to acquisition B NI 2o
— Interest in
an associate (17,628)
Goodwill [EES 25,076
62,644
SATISFIED BY XAFR
Cash consideration ~ IR&HE 62,644
NET CASH OUTFLOW RWEmMEE 2RER HIFHE
ARISING ON
ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid B fTIR&NE (62,644)
Bank balances and  FTEE 2 RITETF LIRS
cash acquired 199
(62,445)
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(i)

(Continued)

FEER principally engages in the provision of shipping
delivery services, technical development, providing
consultancy services and agent of delivery. The goodwill
arising on the acquisition of /8% is attributable to the
anticipated synergy effect of the shipping delivery business
of the Company.

+/EE R contributed to the Group’s loss of HK$5,443,000
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period. No revenue is contributed by /8% R
to the Group as the principal activity is different from that
of the Group, and the revenue of /8% K was classified
as other income of the Group.

On April 26, 2009, the Company and a subsidiary of
the Group entered into acquisition agreements with
independent third parties pursuant to which the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Brilliant China, which in
turn holds 100% registered capital of Beijing Zhongmin
/hongran Trading Company Limited (“Zhongmin
Zhongran”), which in turn holds 45.45% of registered
capital of Fujian Anran which is considered as a
jointly controlled entity of the Group, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$385,254,000. The acquisition was
completed on August 31, 2010, on which date the
control of Brilliant China was passed to the Group.

(i)

(iii)

(%)
EEERZIEXBRIRHME
ARA% ~ HAoFI R - SR OLRA R AR
FBHAE - AR LgERM
EEZAERBARRIMEER
Z BT iR

PR BB E RS AR EAM -

EBERARAEBRFTREIE
5,443,000 7T - AR LB ER
ZEEXEBERNAER L
BERIEAAEBEFTRITAR
Bt M EBERZAEDER
NEEZ HAWA o

RZEENFMHA=Z+"H &
NERAEE KRB AT HEE
SN EZFEIE R - R
7N & [ 1% 48 R {E385,254,0007%8
JC Y BEBrilliant ChinaZ 100%8%
AHEZ 0 Brilliant Chinads B 1t =
PREARESERAATHE
R D) EE & AR 2 100% -
RPRsaRELATZMER
45.45%  tNBBE LT RBE R AR
E@Zﬂiﬁ% HIEEE - XIEIE
ER-_E—ZEFNA=1+—H%
A% - Brilliant ChinaZ 12 &1 # 75 %
EHABRXTAREHE -
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(i)

(Continued)

NET ASSETS
ACQUIRED
Property, plant
and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
— exclusive rights
of natural gas
operations
Interests in associates
Inventories
Trade and other
receivables
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables
Obligation on capital
injection to Fujian
Anran by Zhongmin
Zhongran
Bank borrowings
Deferred taxation

Minority interest
Goodwill

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW
ARISING ON
ACQUISITION

Cash paid

Bank balances and
cash acquired

g2 REE
mE - BERERE

FERNIEERIR
BIVEE—
RARBRE B

N e NI £

E

EE € 5795
Hfth UL BR IR

RITHEENRE

B 5 IR S E e AR IR
hRPRARERZA
TEZEME

RITEE
BT

DR
[k

XAAR
Rer(E

HWEmEELZ
RERHFEHE

EfNHREe
PR 2 RITRERIRE

(i) (#&)
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value
combination adjustments
WWEE S RE 6
RIZEREE ATERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR
262,895 45,495
13,680 8,538
- 298,574
31,098 24,424
1,248 -
40,057 -
29,406 -
(99,5632) -
(46,897) -
(168,039) -
- (88,152)
73,916 288,879

Fair values

AT
HK$'000
FH

308,390
22,218

298,574
56,622
1,248

40,057
29,406
(99,532)

(46,897)
(158,039)
(88,152)

362,795

(77,407)
99,866

385,254

385,264

(385,254)

29,406
(355,848)
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(iil)

(Continued)

Zhongmin Zhongran is principally engaged in, among
other matters, wholesale of gas equipment and parts,
import and export business, technical consultation and
technical service provider and Fujian Anran is principally
engaged in the provision of gas fuel and gas pipeline
connection, transportation and distribution of LPG
and retail of bottled LPG and supply of video lottery
operating system and bottled equipment in the PRC.
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Briliant China
is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the gas
connection and sales of piped gas businesses of this

group.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at
August 31, 2009 by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The valuation
was arrived at using the depreciated replacement cost
method. The valuation has taken into consideration several
factors, including current price of materials, labour and
contractor’'s overhead which was available in the market
if the Group acquire or build the same assets as at the
valuation date after deduction of depreciation based on
the economic useful life of the assets and the current
condition of the assets.

The fair value of the intangible assets has been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out as at valuation dated
August 31, 2009 by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The valuation
was arrived at using multiple-period excess earning
method. The valuation was determined by discounting
the value of expected economic benefits that exceed an
appropriate rate of return on other assets being used to
generate anticipated economic benefits. The discount rate
of 14% used in the valuation comprises the cost of equity
and cost of debt of the entity.

Brilliant China contributed to the Group's revenue and profit
of HK$98,855,000 and of HK$21,732,000 respectively
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

(iii)

(#%&)
FRAMRZEEZERRB(EP R
FB)MBEMRARE R EY
OERS - BT R R R B AR
%o BELAZEBEERBNAF
HREHARERARER - &
HROHEBREARA  URTE
MER A RRREERIERE
R IR EE R o EUEEBrilliant
ChinaME4A v HERBEEH
MAREBRMEEEEMRAEL 2
TEETBHNRE N ©

ME - BEREHEZAFETIR
BHBRBEERAFTNZEE
NENAZ+—RETZHEE
B ZEERARFEEERAN
Fo MENEEESEREZ 2
FERAEEREREARR—&E
B IRBEZEEENGBERZK
EAFEAFEREET R - A
WERMBABZMAEE &
T KA HEERA o

BIVEEZ R FETREEALR
BHEBARATR-_ZZNF /A
=+ RETZAEER - &b
BERAZHBEBANE - HET
K IEFHE BN B H A AEL TR
AHEENm A EEZEE R
WERZBEMBAEE - AER
RZRE14%BAER 2 s
FXA R BFERAS ©

PRI BB E RS HAREAM -
Briliant China& 24~ & B # SR KA
Kom M E B9 B 598,855,000
TT}21,732,000/8 7T °
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(iv)  On April 8, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the Group acquired
80% equity interest in 5 H ¥A at a consideration of
RMB74,122,000 (approximately HK$85,198,000). The
acquisition was completed on April 30, 2009, on which
date the control of #EFZHFE was passed to the Group.

(iv) RZZZTNAFWMANR - A&EE
*%Wﬁgﬂéﬁi*%ﬁi%_ﬁ
I — MBI - BB - A%
I Uiz B8 7 b5 P MRSO% AR AN 25
REAARBE74,122,0007T(4
85,198,000 7T ) - ZEWIEE
R_ZEZTNFNA=+HER
PRz s EER T KR 2 B

FERK ©
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair values
WA RE 6t
AZEREE AFEAR A¥E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt s
NET ASSETS R FEE
ACQUIRED
Property, plant ) E NG
and equipment 64,908 - 64,908
Prepaid lease payments 815 & U8 25,336 - 25,336
Available-for-sale Tﬁf&tﬂﬁhé
investments 586 - 586
Intangible assets — mEE—
exclusive right of RARIBREEEHE
natural gas operation - 10,659 10,5659
Trade and other E SRR &
receivables E b U BRIA 29,345 - 29,345
Inventories FE 12,378 - 12,378
Bank balances RITHEF LIRS
and cash 11,908 - 11,908
Trade and other B ENERL
payables EfbETERIA (48,539) - (48,539)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (31,264) - (31,264)
Deferred taxation ERERL IR - (2,640) (2,640)
64,658 7,919 72,577
Minority interest DERE R R (14,515)
Goodwill EES 27,136
85,198
SATISFIED BY XA
Cash consideration ~ IR&NE 85,198
NET CASH OUTFLOW EWEmEELZ
ARISING ON REFRHFEE
ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid B IR & K& (85,198)
Bank balances and  FTHEE Z SR1TATF
cash acquired MRE 11,908
(73,290)
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(v)

(v)

(Continued)

FEREA IR principally engages in the installation of natural
gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas in PRC. The
goodwill arising on the acquisition of 5 F 4 is attributable
to the anticipated profitability of the gas connection and
sales of piped gas businesses of &5 #4.

FEZH IR contributed to the Group’s revenue and profit
of HK$74,152,000 and of HK$2,959,000 respectively
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

On November 11, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in #FHT RBIAR at a consideration of
RMB97,000,000 (approximately HK$111,494,000). The
acquisition was completed on December 16, 2009, on
which date the control of in BT KBAE, was passed
to the Group.

(iv)

(v)

(&)
EETMZEEXZBE RN TR R
RRARREBREBRBEERR
R FMBEGTRMELEZE
BREEGTRRRERELIHE
EBMREB 2B BNEEN

RUREE BB E RS AR EAM -
BEIGRMRARERFREA K
i A 9 Bl B74,152,000%8 T &
2,959,000/8 7T °

RZZEZhLF+—A+—H &K
EE-RMBATE—BBIE
= HEIM— W E R - B
AEEKBEHATRERRZ
100%RR A fE 2 - KB AARIE
97,000,0007T(£9111,494,000/%
T0) c ZBEWBER _TEThF
F+ZATARAHFTREREZ
PR T AL E 2 BT °
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(v)

(Continued)

NET ASSETS
ACQUIRED
Property, plant and
equipment
Prepaid lease
payments
Intangible assets—
exclusive right of

natural gas operation

Trade and other
receivables

Inventories

Bank balances
and cash

Trade and other
payables

Bank borrowings

Deferred taxation

Goodwill

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW

ARISING ON
ACQUISITION
Cash consideration

paid
Bank balances and
cash acquired

i REE
mE - BERERE
FNEERIA

BIEE—
RARBHRE e

B S EWARR N
H e Y AR IR
TE

RITBENRE

B I RENERSR R
Hitb R RRIR
RITEE
ERER IR

]

il

XAAR
Rer(E

HWEmEEL 2
BERHFHE

ENRER(E

PREE 2 RITEERIRE

v) (%)
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value
combination adjustments
WS RE 6
RIZEREE AT ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
112,917 -
13,250 15,721
- 12,091
3,653 -
6,854 -
1,164 -
(63,514) -
(13,985) -
- (6,953)
60,239 20,859

Fair values
AF{E

HK$'000
TAET

112,917
28,971
12,091
3,553
6,854
1,164
(63,514)

(13,985)
(6,953)

81,098
30,396
111,494

111,494

(111,494)

1,164
(110,330)
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(v)

(Continued)

H T KBIRE principally engages in the installation of
natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas in
PRC. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of #t/T
KBBRE, Is attributable to the anticipated profitability of
the gas connection and sales of piped gas businesses
of HIHT KBIAR.

HAHT RBIAR contributed to the Group's revenue and
profit of HK$10,114,000 and of HK$943,000 respectively
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
HAT RBIAR acquired were determined provisionally
during the year ended March 31, 2010. No fair value
adjustments were made to the carrying amounts of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of #FHT RBAR as a
result of completing the initial accounting during the year
ended March 31, 2011.

(v)

(%)
HATKBRR 2 E2EBE /RN
FEZERARE BRSNS
RAR - ARBH AT REMRE
MELZAEREHATRER
RMRER L HEEBRRER
ZIEETRMBEN -

PUEE BB E RS BAR AR -
FHIKBRRAAREE BRI A
KSa M9 Bl A10,114,000% 7T &
943,000/ 7T °

P PHT R BIA R AT B B
HERAsATEDRNEZE-Z—F
FA=T—HULFEEE - HE
—E-—F=A=1+—HILFER
ANF&atRIEE - WERSH T
RBRRATERIEERE B EZRE
BFERAFERE -
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(vi)

On December 18, 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party pursuant to which the Group acquired 80% equity
interest in B & A A at a consideration of RMB28,000,000
(approximately HK$32,184,000). The acquisition was
completed on January 31, 2010, on which date the control

of &M #A was passed to the Group.

NET ASSETS
ACQUIRED
Property, plant
and equipment
Intangible assets
Trade and other
receivables
Inventories
Bank balances
and cash
Trade and other
payables
Deferred taxation

Minority interest
Goodwill

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW

ARISING ON
ACQUISITION
Cash consideration

paid
Bank balances and
cash acquired

B REE
ME - BB KRB

BIVAE

B 5 YRR &
Hfth FEUL R IR
&
RITBEENRE

EEJANE S/ 95
Hith B RRIR
R IR

AR
ReHE

HWEmMEELZ
BER L FE

ENHRERE

PR 2 RITAET
NRE

Vi) RZZTZEANF+ZA+/N\H =K

ES

B —Z M B A R — 2

V=S

=HEIM—HWE R - B
NEBUYIER & R IR 2 80% AR A
- REAARY28,000,000
TC(#932,184,000/ 7T ) © %18
BERZ-_Z—ZF—F=+—8H
BERRIEHEER T AEE

2B -

Acquiree’s
carrying

amount before Fair value

combination adjustments
WWEE L RE 6t

RIZEREE ATERAER

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT

168 -

- 8,133

45 -

174 -

15,179 -

(100) -

- (2,033)

15,466 6,100

Fair values

ATE
HK$'000
FiET

168
8,133

45
174

15,179

(100)
(2,033)

21,666

(4,313)
14,931

32,184

32,184

(32,184)

15,179
(17,005)
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(vi)

(Vi)

(Continued)

B EF B principally engages in the installation of natural
gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas in PRC.
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of E&Hk is
attributable to the anticipated profitability of the gas
connection and sales of piped gas businesses of &

FRR.

B EF B contributed to the Group’s revenue and loss of
HK$139,000 and of HK$284,000 respectively between
the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
2 F IR acquired were determined provisionally during the
year ended March 31, 2010. No fair value adjustments
were made to the carrying amounts of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of B & HA as aresult of completing
the initial accounting during the year ended March 31,
2011.

On April 29, 2006, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with BT R MEE
BHBRAT (‘BARM) (formerly known as EFE
FERBAD AR AR]), the ultimate holding company of
HEEERAERETAR (‘FHEEE) (‘First Vendor’)
pursuant to which the subsidiary agreed to acquire 60%
equity interest in FEE & at an aggregate consideration
of RMB111,000,000 (approximately HK$127,586,000).
As at March 31, 2009, the transaction has not yet been
completed as it was pending for the completion of change
in the shareholders of FEEEE for A RM to get
the control of FEME%E & pursuant to the share transfer
agreement.

In January, 2010, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into another share transfer agreement with the minority
shareholder of MEE3E (“Second Vendor’) pursuant
to which the subsidiary agreed to acquire 20% equity
interest in FZE & & at a consideration of RMB33,000,000
(approximately HK$37,931,000). This acquisition was

completed in early March, 2010.

(vi)

(&)
METMZEBEBRRTEL
RRARREBREBRBEERR
R FANBREETMMELEZE
BREEMETHRMRREREIHE
EBMREB 2B BNEEN

RS A E RS HARARRE - ™
SR AEREESRIRATER &
SXEE D R A139,00008 T &
284,000/ 7T °

B e AT BRI EERE
EZRFHEDRBE_Z—FTF
ZA=T-RLFERBEE -
HE_Z——F=A=+—HIt
FEEKRTETRER W&
HEETMABIEERAE L
REEFERFEAE

R-ZZERFWHA - +NAR
AEEMBARREEEBRR
BEREEAR(IHEEE] &K
ERAREARE S RMERRND
ERAR(TRmAIRRE]) (AEE
AETERBROARAR) ([H
—BH DRI EE G
BUMBLARREREEEEE
BO%R A - BRERARE
111,000,0007T (49127,586,000
BIT) c AR AREEEETK
BRREE - AMER ST RBRER
EE R R EE I
BN _ZENF=ZA="1—
B ZRBEARTEK °

RZT—TF—H KEHE-—
RWBE AR HEEEE B8R
RIBEZEAFDIILS—RM
#HEpE BUWBARRE
Ui B8 R 2 20N AN HE A
R 1B A A R®33,000,0007T( %)
37,931,000 7T) ° WWHEWEE
R-ZZE—ZEF=A¥I%=K -
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(vii)  (Continued)

Because of the successful acquisition from the Second
Vendor, the Group decided to revise the share transfer
agreement with the First Vendor at March 11,

and acquire only 40% equity interest in FEE &
consideration was adjusted upward to RMB122,700,000
(approximately HK$141,035,000) to slightly compensate
the First Vendor on the increase in the fair value of the
net assets of FEEE since 2008. The acquisition of
40% equity interest from First Vendor was completed on
March 31, 2010, on which date the control of FI% & &

——H#=ZHA=+—-HIFE

was passed to the Group.

NET ASSETS
ACQUIRED

Property, plant
and equipment

Prepaid lease
payments

Intangible assets —
exclusive right of

B REE
FANEE IR
B EE—

RARBREERE

natural gas operation

Trade and other
receivables

Inventories

Bank balances
and cash

Trade and other
payables

Bank borrowings

Deferred taxation

Minority interest
Discount on
acquisition

SATISFIED BY

Cash consideration

hii3

JEUTAR Tk &%
b & Y BRI

rERAD

QT)HHE)MM

SBt

nH—

S
[N
?&m@ﬁ‘

e
Bk

=
B
N
e

%

AR
AEBENRERE

paid by the Group

Deposit paid for
acquisition

Deferred cash
consideration

BB RE
EERSHE

NET CASH OUTFLOW HAWEMEL 2

ARISING ON
ACQUISITION

Cash consideration

paid

Bank balances and

cash acquired

BER i FH
ENRER(E
PR 2 SRITAETF

E

(i) (4&)
BRI RS = F )7 ETTHRE
AEER _T-TF=-F4—
HRTE - f%ﬂ %ﬁi%—jﬁﬁﬂﬁ
ZBhERGE REEEE
B BA0%R A HE 2f o B £
£ A R #122,700,0007t( 49
141,085,000/ 7T ) * StmEE
BE—PEAEUAFEAEL A
FEE RS —EHHEIERE -
[[565 — B 7 W AB40% M A as B
E@::{*EEEH +—HB(8
MEEEZENEITAEEZ
H)5eHK °

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair values
WWEBERE6
RIZEREE AT ERE ATE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
:F/%TE :F/%TE :F/;F'STE
507,034 59,220 566,254

11,280 - 11,280
- 625,040 625,040

16,541 - 16,541

7,164 - 7,164
7,837 - 7,837
(432,254) - (432,254)

(39,046) - (39,046)
- (171,065) (171,065)

78,5656 513,195 591,751

(236,700)
(176,085)
178,966
37,5687
63,218
78,161
178,966
(37,587)
7,837
(29,750)
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(vii)  (Continued)

According to the share transfer agreement with the First
Vendor, the remaining cash consideration should be settled
within 5 business days after the legal title of FI 2 %& i has
been passed to the subsidiary of the Group. The deferred
cash consideration has been settled in April 2010. 2%
B8 principally engages in the installation of natural gas
pipeline network and sale of natural gas in PRC.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at
March 31, 2010 by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The valuation
was arrived at using the depreciated replacement cost
method. The valuation has taken into consideration several
factors, including current price of materials, labour and
contractor's overhnead which was available in the market
if the Group acquire or build the same assets as at the
valuation date after deduction of depreciation based on
the economics useful life of the assets and the current
condition of the assets.

The fair value of the intangible assets has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at March
31, 2010 by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The valuation was
arrived at using multiple-period excess earning method.
The valuation was determined by discounting the value of
expected economic benefits that exceed an appropriate
rate of return on other assets being used to generate
anticipated economic benefits. The discount rate of 14%
used in the valuation comprises the cost of equity and
cost of debt of the entity.

The directors of the Company have reassessed the
identification and measurement of fair values of Nanning
Pipeline’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities. The net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilittes and contingent liabilities of Nanning Pipeline
attributable to the 60% shareholding acquired by the
Company exceeded the cost of acquisition by an amount
of HK$176,085,000, which represented a discount on
acquisition of Nanning Pipeline, and has been recognised
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended
March 31, 2010.

(Vi)

(&)
RIBEE —B AL 2 %BARD
EEE - R I ReENERRE
BEBZAEMAREBRARE
BB ARREEERAAX
e REREREER T —F
FOAXN HEEBZEEX
BRARTERERAREBBE
RHERAR -

ME - BEREHEZATFETR
BHERBRETCERARNRE
—EFE=-A=+—B#TZME
BER - ZHEFRANESER
AEEW - HEKCEEZZE
Ex - BENASEBESEE
R—EER  RIEZSEEERE
BRZEERFEAFHAREER
S R ITE BT _EAS 2 MR
RE - BT RADEBERA -

BIVEAEZAFETREE A
BUEBRABDNR-_Z-—ZEF=H
=t RETZEEER - %
BEFRAZHBERAMNEE - {4
BTG TR AR F a2 A A2
ERARENGE c b EEZE
BEEmEZEEMRREE - 58
PIRA 2 R R 141%BIEERZ
AR BB

RABEBEEMTHHEEE
AHAEE AEERKABRE
2B METE o AR E T
ZB0%AREFEIGFEE T E I AR
BE BERIABEZATF
B 718 1B W % AKX 45 176,085,000
T ARREREEELE 2
WEEZZE—ZTF=A=+—H
IEFEZRAWERAER o
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(vii)  (Continued)

The management considered that the discount on
acquisition of HK$176,085,000 arising on the acquisition
of EEE was mainly due to the below market
consideration for the acquisition of 60% equity interest
in BEEE agreed in 2006 in which the Group was
willing to enter into the share transfer agreement with the
First Vendor, at which time a lawsuit on the First Vendor’s

ownership on FIEE#E was undergoing. In addition,
the fair value of the net assets of FIZEE# increased
between the date of share transfer agreement in 2006 to
the completion date of the acquisition as the economic
environment for operating natural gas business in the PRC
is getting more favourable. Although the consideration was
adjusted upward subsequently, the adjustment is not in
line with the increase in the fair value of the net assets

of HEEE.

The Group has applied the similar basis for the negotiation
of the consideration for the acquisition of the 20% equity
interest in FE & & from the Second Vendor in January,
2010 and a below market consideration was resulted as
well.

If the above acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 2010
had been completed on April 1, 2009, total group revenue and
profit for the year would have been HK$10,580,133,000 and
HK$1,080,039,000 respectively. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had above acquisitions
been completed on April 1, 2009, nor is it intended to be
projection of future results.

(i) (4&)

EEERA RWBEEEEM
2= 4 2 WHE T 58 176,085,0008
TEEZARAEER_TEARF
78 72 Bt Ui 7 22 B IEO0% AR AN
wmMEE—BE R RMNEE
WA ERATE 2 KRB R
B ENERE—BHUHEEE
EEAEEERTD - I B
BEEBFEEZATERZEET
NEZRWEE ST B EAEIRE N -
RERNAPBRLERATERZ
KOEIRIZITEE c REHKD LA
RIE EARHEEEEFEE
ZAFERIW AR o

AEBRR-_T—ZTF— ARSE
ZEHWNE R EE EOWR A E
W REETREERCFEABN
EE BAHBEERTEZR
{go

WREE—_E—ZEF=-A=+—HIL
FENETZ FREEEHBERZ
STAFENA—AZEN - AIFRZHE
Wz K om F1 FE 9 51 210,580,133,000
7 7t }.1,080,039,000 T > & &
BERIRZA BT EAMLE
MK EBEHERN -_ETAFENA—
H s « AEBERELES 2 e
NEBFEE BT T TBRIERKRK
EEZIEN -
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Pursuant to ordinary resolution passed in the shareholders’ () BESDEREFABRSEREGRAA

held on August 9, 2010, the Group applied to dissolve S5#E72
BERRBR. The dissolution was completed on September 7, 2010
and there was no gain or loss arising from the dissolution of

the subsidiary.

NET ASSETS OF SUBSIDIARY
DISSOLVED

Property, plant and equipment

Bank balances and cash

Non-controlling interests

Refund of capital upon the
dissolution

SATISFIED BY:
Cash received by the Group

NET CASH OUTFLOW
ARISING ON DISSOLUTION

Cash received by the Group

Bank balances disposed of

(IBEREFRDR-_F—FFN
ANBERAZBEREHELBBZER
RER ARBEHRBHEHBERE
ke MATHECR T —ZF 1A
Tt RK  BEZMEAR L EES

A& o
HK$'000
FHET
CEANEARZEEE
 E NG 1,362
RITEF RS 15,878
17,240
FEIE R R (3,448)
BRI 8] 2 B AN
13,792
AR :
AEEDYIRES 13,792
HERMEEZ
RERHFE
AEEBUIRE 13,792
& 2 RIT4ETF (15,878)
(2,086)
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(i)

OnDecember 16, 2009, the Group and the non-controlling interests
contributed RMB5,600,000 (approximately HK$6,437,000) and
RMB10,400,000 (approximately HK$11,954,000) to ik
#R, a subsidiary in which the Group originally held 60% equity
interest before capital contribution made on December 2009.
The capital contributed has led to a decrease in the Group’s
shareholding in HIARAR#R from 60% to 40% as well as a change
of the composition of the board of directors. According to the
new Article of Association, all the major financial and operating
decisions must require unanimous consent from all venturers.
TRIMRAR A was reclassified to a jointly controlled entity of the
Group. The net assets of BIMAFRR to be disposed of at the
date of disposal were as follows:

60% OF NET ASSETS OF EHERMP R Z60%FEE
kAR DISPOSED OF

Property, plant and equipment  #1% - 5 &%

Other receivables E b fE U BRIA

Bank balances and cash RITEF LIRS

Minority interests DR E R

Gain on disposal R

Capital contributed by other HEMRERFE
shareholder

NET CASH OUTFLOW AHEMEECRERHBEHE
ARISING ON DISPOSAL

Capital contributed by the HEMREEE
other shareholder

Bank balances and cash BUREEIRI T RIRS

acquired

(i)

RZZEZAE+_A+/,0 KX&EH
Ko FE PR % A% R 0 Bl M) A AR AR R (AN &=
ER-_ZENFE+-ATEMRER
BOOBEAER 2B AR EAAR
5 600,0007T( 496,437,000 7T ) &
A R #10,400,0007T( £911,954,000/%
TL) o S EEH AL ER BT 2 B
FEREOBREAI0N N EESHNEE o
BEHAHERMA MEXBHH
MEBREVAKAZEES —8H
oMM RECETOBEALAERZ
HRAEZEHEE RNEERE A&
MR FEENT ¢

HK$'000
FTAET

26
26
13,134

13,186
(1,373)

11,813
141

11,954

11,954

(13,134)

(1,180)
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Pursuant to ordinary resolution passed in the board of directors’
meeting of MRS held on December 25, 2009, the Group
applied to dissolve FBHAA,. The dissolution was completed
on December 31, 2010 and the loss which arises on dissolution
of jointly controlled entity was HK$932,000.

NET ASSET OF JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITY
DISSOLVED

Property, plant and equipment

Bank balances and cash

Loss on dissolution

Refund of capital upon the
dissolution

SATISFIED BY:
Cash received by the Group

NET CASH OUTFLOW
ARISING ON DISSOLUTION

Bank balances disposed of

Cash received by the Group

=55 Ea4ak ]
BERFEE

ME - BE R
RITBERRE

fRERE 1R
N G E o N

XFNAR:
REECRKRE

HBRMEEZ
BE&R
P& 2 RITHETE
REBEWRE

REREBERRR _-ZZN
THRBIZEEEER
BRFHE ARBECHF
R BETEER T —
=t+t—HZEX BB

F+ZA=
LBk E
% BRRS R
TF+-A

[ 2 i & 58

FEES 2 B REES1E /932,000 7T

HK$'000
TAET

811
18,109

18,920
(932)

17,088

17,988

(18,109)
17,988

(121)
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Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the board of
directors’ meeting of 28 EHR A A R B BR AT (‘4REF
#R”) held on September 30, 2009, the Group applied to dissolve
BEAFR PR The dissolution was completed on December 28,
2009 and the loss which arose on dissolution of jointly controlled
entity was HK$3,791,000.

NET ASSETS OF JOINTLY ERAAREMER
CONTROLLED ZBEE
ENTITY DISSOLVED

Property, plant and equipment — #1% « = M & &

Bank balances and cash RITEGF MRS

Loss on dissolution fRRUE 1B

Refund of capital upon the E)a Gk 5= wNEIEA
dissolution

SATISFIED BY ZR/FER

Cash received by the Group AEEBEBIRS

NET CASH INFLOW ARISING ~ EEmEEZ

ON DISSOLUTION BHERANFE

Cash received by the Group AEEDBR e

Bank balances and cash EHERTEFRRS
disposed of

(i)

RIBAEPRFETRARERER AR
([REFRDPR_ZZNFNLA=T
ARTEECER LBRZ ALY
BrREER AEECHBERBBES
B B IIEFER —_SETNAE+ A
—+NBERK - BRBRERZSER
FrEEE 2 B REE 18 23,791,000/ 7T ©

HK$'000
TAET

20,328
21,821

42,149
(3,791)

38,358

38,358

38,358

(21,821)

16,537
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(iii)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the annual general
meeting of PRI EBR AT (‘“FHAIEE") held on May 26,
2009, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with
EE S, an associate of the Group, to disposal of 49% equity
interestin EE S (L THR AR (‘EEHKM). The disposal was
completed on November 1, 2009 and the consideration received
from disposal of jointly controlled entity was HK$16,000,000.
The net assets of EE R at the date of disposal were as

follows:

49% NET ASSETS OF

EE R DISPOSED OF
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

LLoss on disposal

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration received
by the Group

NET CASH INFLOW ARISING
ON DISPOSAL

Cash consideration

Bank balances and cash
disposed of

EHEEERHEZ

49% FEE
YE V=N
&
B 5 USRS E e AR IR
RITHEENRE
BHREMNRRREMENRE

HEER

AR
REBC YRS RE

AHEMEE ZRESRAFHE

Rer(E
ERERTEFRES

(i)  WRIEBEPRIEEER AR HRIEE]D
R-ZEZAFRA -+ NEERT2R
REFRKEMBB —EHEBRE
B OALEEHSESE(AEECHE
RANFIM— R EERE  HES
BTt ITAERAT(ERREZ
40% A HER - RIEHEERZZTZTN
F+—A— A% HERRESE
BE BT Uk B 2 R {8 &16,000,000/%8 T °
NEEBH  SESFEFEENT

HK$'000
TAT

08,342
796
937

18

(12,070)

18,023
(2,023)

16,000

16,000
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises and equipment which fall due

as follows:

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth year inclusive £ - FEZERAF(BIHEEEMF)
After five years AFE

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group in
respect of leasehold land and buildings and equipments. Leases for
rented premises and equipment are negotiated for an average term
of two to six years with fixed rental.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall
due as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive B - FZERF(BIFEEMF)
After five years HFIE

Leases are negotiated for an average term of two to ten years with
fixed rentals.

RBER - NEBRBE T HREER 2
HEWE MRE 2 A A BEEE & A s
BRARRZ N 2 ZEESAT

2010
—ET-FTF
HK$'000
FH&T
31,978
54,603
27,191

13,772

REBEH2NFEARERMERZ L1 R
BFERRBENZ2ES - HEMEEOLE
EFYRBMENSF  HEEE -

RIEIR - RIBE NI BEERZ A H
EHEMELLHEY  AEECEBEP
TARRRKEESETEH

2010
—E-ZF
HK$'000
FHT
8,025
13,926

21,951

Bz FHFHEREAMETS - BEle
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The Group has entered into the following transactions, which have not
been completed at the end of the reporting period nor at the date these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issuance.

(i) On March 19, 2010, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into cooperation agreement with $RINTTIRIRE RSB EERE
Z& to set up a wholly-owned subsidiary. According to the
cooperation agreement, the registered capital of the subsidiary
will be USD3,000,000 (approximately HK$23,250,000) and the
total amount will be contributed by the Group in cash.

(i) On March 10, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement (‘Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with independent third parties to acquire 100%
equity interest in Panva Gas Holdings Limited (“Panva Gas”) at
a total cash consideration of HK$530,000,000. Panva Gas is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in retail business of LPG in the PRC. Total deposit
of HK$133,627,000 was paid for the year ended March 31,
2011. Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into supplementary
agreement with the vendor. The details of supplementary

agreement are set out in note 52(ii).

(i) OnMarch 13, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement with independent third
parties to acquire remaining 49% equity interest in JT &Rk
EITA{ERAR (TIE#FM’) at a total cash consideration
of RMB32,000,000 (approximately HK$38,095,000). Upon
the completion of the acquisition, together with the 51% equity
interest in JL& A hold by the Group, ;L&A will become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The transaction has
not been completed as March 31, 2011, and the consideration
payable is recognised as a commitment to acquire a non-
controlling interest as at March 31, 2011 under trade and other

payables (note 33).

In addition to those disclosed above, as at March 31, 2011,
the Group has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition
for property, plant and equipment and construction materials
for property, plant and equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial statements amounting to
HK$219,208,000 (2010: HK$146,754,000) and HK$28,157,000

(2010: HK$140,194,000) respectively.
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) WH-ZE—FTF=ZF+hB ARE—
FHBARIEBMNMIRIREREEE
EEZGUEIERZE  URILEE
B AR - RIBZAER®E  ZHEB
A A 2 &t & A /3,000,000 7T
(#928,250,000/8 7T ) + 2 & B #5 LA
WETABBESE -

i) HZE——F=F+H £ARQF—XK
2EWBRARIEB Y E = 5] ki
EEpR(RRERGR] - EER
£ R {E530,000,0008 TR BT A,
ERARAB(EIBLE]) Z2100%5
iz - BAIMKRAREERAR
EMBAREZEEPREUEERIEAH
RARTEEK -REBEE-_T—F=A
“+—HLEFE BEXH%RE&BE
133,627,000/ 7T o A & B KR 1% -
ARB—REEWBRARIEE HF]Y
HramEk AR cFBERWE
52(ii)

iy MZZE——F=ZA+=H ' ARQa—
REEMBRARIEBLE=FFI LK
BEZENS RARSREARE
32,000,0007T( #938,095,0007 7T ) U
BIgsPmRIACERAR(IE
FROH ) R 2 A0%BE AN AE RS o Wi BE T
g BRIAEENTIEHTHIEEZ
51%M%HE - JTERF BN ABARRARZE
BWBAR - RZE——F=A=+
—H ZEXZHEARTR - mEMR
B E 5 IR 30 R H A BR 3R
BRAR_TE——F=-—A=+—8Kk
B8 JRH AR i 26 2 G (MHRES3) o

B EFEEEN R ——F =
A=+—HB A&EERKEDE-
WMEREZEBRDE BERZEZ
EM DRI EH B $219,208,0007% 7T
— T — T 4F 1 146,754,000 T )
528,157,000 (= & — & & :
140,194,000/ 7T ) 2 B 5T 49 i 18 R 7
REMSRE EBE 2 EAREE o
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Carrying amount of the non-current and current assets pledged to
panks to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is as follows:

Long-term loan facilities ROEREE
Investment properties wEME
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MR
Prepaid lease payments AN E A
Short-term loan facilities EHERRE
Inventories FE

Trade receivables H SRR
Pledged bank deposits EEERITIFRK

With effective from December 1, 2000, the Group has joined a
MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect of the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years at
March 31, 2011 and 2010.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are covered by
the retirement and pension schemes defined by local practice and
regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and pension
schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contribution.

The calculation of contributions for PRC eligible staff is based on
certain percentage of the applicable payroll costs. The contribution to
the MPF Scheme is calculated based on the rules set out in the MPF
Ordinance which is 5% on the basic salary of the relevant employee
subject to a specific ceiling.

EERTRITEAREERR ZERREE
RZIFRBLRBEEREENAT

2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FAT
(restated)

(&5)

27,220
318,543
18,575

138,729
86,817
489,103

1,078,987

H-TETE+-A—Ai AEEAHE
EHESLMBHEAESHE - BES

BITVRE R RTES ST RSN - s HlE
AEETEEEREM - RS EE
HAEB7EEDABFETHBUZTEAE
B RIEBESHEZRA EXREBR
AR BIIEE 2 b ERZAT SRR - NEE
MBREETE BT AEZTEZEX
A - R _T——FR_T—FTF=-A=+
— B ¢ WL U AT MR R R SR B A

2K -

AEEBEAMBRARZEER BT EIIRR
ERE 2 BRIRFR K2 5 BIREE - HTE QA
ARERK MR AREFTEIEE TERA 2
JE B DA R - AREB LR KE M F 8
ZEEERERREMHRRK -

BHAEERE THRIDRIBER TEKRARR
EED LA E - HRED B ZHATIRIE
SRR ERPIFAIARAGFE - BAREER
2 5% IR E LR -
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The share option scheme was adopted by the Company pursuant to a
resolution passed on February 6, 2003 (the “Scheme”) for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to any directors of the Company, any
employees of the Group, or any employee, partner or director of any
business consultant, joint venture partner, financial adviser or legal
adviser of the Group.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the date of shareholders’ approval of the
Scheme (“Scheme Mandate Limit") or, if such 10% limit is refreshed,
at the date of shareholders’ approval of the renewal of the Scheme
Mandate Limit. The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme must not exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company then in issue. Each grant of options to any
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder must be approved
by independent non-executive directors. Where any grant of options
to substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
or any of their respective associate would result in the shares of the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of options already
granted and to be granted in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued
share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 in the 12-
month period up to the date of grant must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days from the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$10 per each grant. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date to be determined by the board
of directors to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant; (iij the average closing price of the shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.

The life of the Scheme is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until February 5, 2013.

ARALZ BERRERT &) ([ %518l 1) T AR R
BREAR_ZEZ=F_ARNBRBZIRER
MRA © Zt 2 RE VA EB AR BEM
5% ARETARERETFAEKER &
BRMN  UBBERIOERBERZEMES -
ABRARESE -

R %A B R R 2 BB TS S 2 B 48
B NABBRRIEZTEE B ARA
B a7 Z210% ([ 581 LR )R
10%MRE T LA H - Al AR R AL /B R 58
BELREARRRSHITRN Z210%
TERBEZFEMEEEERITRZAAR
ITIER AR T AT AE 31T 2 IR AR B LIRS
HBH AR BN B BT B Z30% ©
M—EFERTERALZBRERS K2
BROEE  TRERERARBSHITRN
HE1% BREBERETEMES  THA
BT BERRAGIELIFAITESE
EAHR A T = ER RS ERIBIIIEH
TEERHEEMBEALTESIBUNTERE
REMAEREZARED BT RABGET
IRy BB R R B EITRAC %M E ERE
H &1L+ =18 A {B{E#85,000,000/87T - &
EFRARDARE LA -

Bz BREARNKH B BT8R A&
B BARKBEREZRERIOET - BK
BUREEGAFTZAMEERIAHZ+
BEREERTE - TREERARAESE
E o UBTAERATZRSE - (DREA
HIARBBMKTHE : (DR B HBY EhE
BB RO Z P E R GiD B EE o

HE AN RARME - =5~
BALE+E -
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TRINHEE(BIEER)FEARQFERE
2HBREE T ——FZA=Z1+—HIM™W
BFEFEBEREZSEBEN -

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options
held by employees (including directors) and movements in such
holdings during the two years ended March 31, 2011:

Number Number Number
Exercise of share Granted  Exercised ofshare  Transfer ~ Lapsed Exercised  of share
price  options at during during options at during during during  options at
Date of grant  Vesting period Exercisable period per share 4.1.2009 theyear  theyear 3312010  theyear  theyear  theyear  3.31.2011
R-BBAE H-2-%% Rg--f
BE-BY ZR=1-A ZR=t-A
RHA% ik TR SRRE HREER EASRY  EMEOR  ZBRERE EACEE EMEXR ERSOR CMRREHE
HKS (Note 3 | Note ) (Notg6]  (Note3)
iy (Hit3) (We)  (hde) (W)
Directors
]
1.9.2004 1.9.2004 10.8.30.2004 9.1.2004 10 18.2014 080 31240711 - [4300000) 26,940,711 - (10,000,000 (7%40,711) 9,000,000
1.9.200428.30.2004 9.1.2004218.2014
10.6.2004 Note 1) Note 1) 0.71 220,000,000 - - 20,000,000 - (90,000,000 - 130,000,000
(k1) (Hzt1)
10.6.2004 10.6.2004 10 3.19.200 3202005 10 105.2014 071 7400000 - [700,000) 6,700,000 - - (6,700,000) -
(Note 2)
10.6.20043,19.2005 3202006%105.2014
(k)
10202000 1020.200510 10192010 10.20201010 10.19.2015 150 5,000,000 - - 5000000 6000000 (5,000000) - 6000000
10.20.2005%10.19.2010 10.202010£10.19.2015
8.23.2007 8.23.2007 10 9.18.200 9.19.2008 t 8.22.2017 28 - - - - 3000000 - - 3000000
8.23.2007%9.18.2008 9.19.2008%8.22.2017
8.3.2009 (Note 4) Note 4) 210 - 200,000,000 - 200,000,000 - {100,000,000) - 100,000,000
(Hste) ()
8.3.2009 8.3.2009082.2011 8320110822014 210 - 37,000,000 - 37,000,000 - (14,000,000 - 23000000
8320092822011 8320112822014
9.17.2009 9.17.2009 10 9.16.2012 9.17.2012109.16.2014 260 - - - - 2,000000 - - 2,000000
9.17.2009%9.16.2012 9.17.2012%9.16.2014
263640711 237,000000  (5,000,000) 499,640,711 11,000,000 (219,000000] (14,640,711) 273,000,000
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Date of grant ~ Vesting period

b FEE

Other employees

it

19.2004 1.9.2004 0 8.30.2004
1.9.200428,30.2004

106.2004 1062004 10 3,19.200
10.6.2004%3.19.2005

10.202006 1020200510 10.19.2010
10.20.2005210,19.2010

1.21.2006 127200610 126.2011
1.27.2006%1.26.2011

8.23.2007 8.23.2007 0 9.18.200
8.232007%9,18.2008

8.7.2008 8.7.2008 0 9.2.2009
87.200829.2.2009

8.7.2008 87,2008 10 9.2.2010
8.7.2008%9.2.2010

8.3.2009 (Notg 4)
i52)

8.3.2009 8.3.2009 10 8.2.2011
8320092822011

9.17.2009 9.17.2009 10 10.13.2009

9.17.2009%10.13.2009

9.17.2009 9.17.2009 t0 9.16.2012

9.17.2009%9.16.2012

WWelghted average exercise price

EVBARE

Exercisabl at the end of the year

TRERTTE
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Number
Exercise of share
price  options at
Exercisable period per share 4.1.2009
REENF
BA-B2
TR ShiRE  BREHE
HK§
iy
9.1.2004018.2014 080 47,180,000
9.1.2004%1.8.2014
320200610 105.2014 071 88,160,000
Note 2)
32020002105.2014
(i)
1020201010 10.19.2016 150 151,800,000
10.20.2010%10.19.201
121201110 1262016 158 6,500,000
1.27.2011%1.26.2016
9.19.2008 10 8:22.2017 2323000000
9.19.2008%822.2017
9.32009108,6.2018 177 1500000
9.3 2000%6.6.2018
9.32010108,6.2018 177 1,500,000
9.32010286.2018
(Note 4) 210 -
(k)
83.201 10822014 210 -
83201126.2.2014
10.14.2009 0 9.16.2014 260 -
10.14.200929.16.2014
9.17.201210 9.16.2014 260 -
9.17.201229.16.2014
299,590,000
563,230,711
HK80.97
097ATL
396,930,711

Granted
during
the year

ERBEY

100,000,000

93,394,000

5,000,000

5000000

163,304,000

0,302,000
He§2.11
21ET

Exercised
during
the year

EREAf
Note 3)
(H39)

(10260,000)

(3,160,000)

(13410000]

(18410,000)
HeS0.78
0767

Number

of share
options at
3.31.2010
H-g-%F
ZR=t-A
JBRERE

36,880,000

85,000,000

151,800,000

6,500,000

3,000,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

100,000,000

03,304,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

49574000 {11

51471
HK$1.42
14087

385,020,

Transfer
during
the year

FRoEg
Note |

(o)

6000000

(3,000,000)

(2,000,000)

200000

Number
of share
options at
3.31.2011
#=g--%
ZR=t-A
LEREYE

Exercised
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

EREaE
Note ]
(Kito)

EREff
(Note 3)
(Hit)

- [33,970,000) 2,910,000

- (61,000,000 34,000,000

- 21,800,000) 124,000,000

6,500,000

- (1,500,000) -

- (1500,000) -

100,000,000

03,304,000

- (3500,000) 1,500,000

3,000,000

- (13.270,000) 325,304,000

- (219,000,000 (127,910,711) 598,304,000

A
Tk

HSI  HK0%  HKB1SS
1468T  0%ET  196%T
316,910,000
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Notes:

The ¢

The exercise of the options will be subject to the condition that the
consolidated net asset value of the Company and its subsidiaries
which shall be certified by the auditors appointed by the Company
as at the date of the exercise of the options being not less than
HKS$1 billion. Exercisable period is between November 22, 2004
to October 5, 2014.

The original exercisable period was July 1, 2005 to October 5, 2014.
Pursuant to a resolution passed in the board of directors meeting
held on March 20, 2005, the exercisable period is changed to the
period from March 20, 2005 to October 5, 2014.

The weighted average share price on exercise dates and the
weighted average price immediately before exercise dates are
HK$4.11 (2010: HK$3.48) per share.

The exercise of option will be subject to the condition that the annual
consolidated profit after taxation of the Company and its subsidiaries
which shall be certified by the auditors appointed by the Company
as at the date of the exercise of the options being not less than
HK$1.5 billion. Exercisable period is between August 3, 2009 to
August 2, 2019.

The options transferred relates to appointment of a director, Mr.
Leung Wing Cheong, Eric, on December 23, 2010, who received
the options in his capacity as an employee before the appointment
as director.

The options lapsed were due to the board of directors resolved by
majority vote that Mr. Li Xiao Yun and Mr. Xu Ying be removed as
the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Company respectively
on March 3, 2011 and Mr. Kim Joong Ho, Mr. Rackets William
Hugh and Mr. R.K. Goel resigned as directors on April 13, 2010,
April 13, 2010 and February 28, 2011 respectively.

onsideration received during the year from the directors and

employees for taking up the options granted amounted to HK$10

(2010

: HK$10).

In accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, fair value of

share
expen

options granted to employees determined at the date of grant is
sed over the vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to

the Group’s employee share-based compensation reserve. In the current
year, an amount of share-based payment expenses in respect of its
share options of approximately HK$37,500,000 (2010: HK$32,870,000)
has been recognised with a corresponding adjustment recognised in
the Group’s employee share-based compensation reserve.

(1) TTEBREARTARBMBEIEE
BiD 517 {65 B A HE P AR, - N X A R LY
BRAEAIZEAEEREN I M0EE
T ATERA-_TEMFE+—A-+
ZHEEZZ-—ME+TARAL-

2 TEHREH-_ZTERFLA-HEZ
Z-NFE+AEA - RBER-_ZTZTLF
ZAZHHAREESSEMBBZR
BE TEHERR-_ZTTAF=AC
THEZZ-mOF+ARA-

(38) RIOFEBEHZMETFHRERZETE
BE R 2 N FHREAERL11E T
ZE—FFE 3488 ©

(4) (TEBREAENZGEER  ARAR
HEHMBARRNERETERBZFER
EBRBEEF(BEBHARRMEE ZZ
HEIZE) MM LRBEE T - TTE A
—EEANFENA=ZBEZZ—NAFENA
“He

6 BhEEEREERIAM  RKEX
ERZT-—ZF+-A=-+=0"  KH&
ZEREBEN  WREBNFA 2 HiHE
e -

6) HREFEURZHEBRERZZT——
FZAZHEETNELEEZ FREBA
RBREREZRIEFERL - MEEMEL
A+ Rackets William Hughst 4 KR.K.
GoelE £ RN T —ZTFMA+=
A —E2—ZFNNA+=HE=_ZE——
FZAZ+\BABEIEE—H-

NEEREEBEPNZERBEREMNTEALR
WaarkBAR1I0BT(ZE—ZF - 10087T) °

RIEB B B EER B2 ARND A
HRABRLEPHEEETREE ZERER
FEIREBHZE  ERYLAEEZEES
[ REN B EL AR ETARE - RAFE - 5t
B AR 2 DARR (9 i =045 3R B & 4937,500,000
BIT(ZZT—Z4F : 32,870,000/ 7T) B T HE
R ABEARD RS E RS R DR E
EE%;‘U °©
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The options outstanding as at March 31, 2011 have a weighted RZFB——F=A=+—H ®RITEER
average remaining contractual life of 4 years (2010: 5 years). During TEZ It TJ’E‘%AZ\’Jiﬁﬁ BAF(ZE—F
the year ended March 31, 2010, options were granted on August 3, F5F) REZE —ZEF=ZA=+—H
2009 and September 17, 2009 respectively. The estimated fair values uzift‘* BT D %‘Jﬁ’\_ ZTZNFNA=
of the options granted are HK$336,766,000 and HK$91,966,000. —EEAFAATEAERL - IREZ

Eﬁﬁxf&Zﬁ 5T F B /336,766,0007 Tt &
91,966,000 7T °

These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes-Merton ¥/‘$ﬁﬁgﬁﬁ15ﬁ?€ TR HT — BRUB H
Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: %E{Eﬁia o st AZEX ZEZEMT ¢

Share option grant date

BRER L A H
August September
3, 2009 17, 2009
—EEAE —EEAE
NA=H hA+tHR

Share price f& (& HK$2.1 HK$2.6

2ABTT 2.6/87T

Exercise price I E HK$2.1 HK$2.6

2.1787T 2687

Expected volatility (Note a) e iR (FfREa) 57.86% 58.05%

Expected life (Note b) TEETFER(HMi7ED) 2.5 years to 2.5 years to

5 years 4 years
2.5F ELEF 2.5FB4F

Risk free rate (Note c) R Be FI R (M 5Ece) 0.626% to 0.724% to

1.66% 1.502%
0.626%21.66% 0.724%%&1.502%

Expected dividend vield (Note d) ~ FBEAN% B (Ki5Ed) 0.667% 0.538%

Notes: izt -

(@  The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical (a) TEHORIETFESTERR RN EEER
volatility of the Company’s share price over 260 trade days EREHER2C0ER S B 2 FESL R iRkE
immediately before share option grant date. TE e

()  Expected life used has been adjusted, based on the management's o) FERZEHFREBEEERE  &EMR
best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions A TRAIEREZTE - TERVIRITA
and behavioural considerations. ZEREHFAE -

(c)  The risk free rate is determined by the reference to the Exchange ) EEARBFNEDNZ2EZTESMEBREITLZ
Fund Notes issued by Hong Kong Monetary Authority. INERSEIRETE ©

(d)  Theexpected dividend yield was based on historical dividend payment 0 FEHAREEXRTIRIBEARERE 2 LR EIR
record of the Group and consensus from analyst forecast. WEENROWMETBRZ —HERE -
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Apart from the amounts due from/to related parties and transactions
as disclosed in notes 28, 30, 33, 37 and 52 respectively, the Group
entered into the following transactions with major related parties that
are not members of the Group:

(i

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group purchased gas
for total amount of HK$143,186,000 (2010: HK$126,359,000)
from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group paid rental
expense to a shareholder of a jointly controlled entity in respect
of leasehold land and buildings for total of HK$13,633,000
(2010: HK$8,506,000).

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group received
interest income for total amount of HK$8,000,000 (2010:
HK$9,922,000) from an associate.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group paid
construction fee which are recorded as cost of property, plant
and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial position
for total amount of HK$71,054,000 (2010: HK$174,262,000)
to an associate.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group paid
interest expense for total amount of HK$3,455,000 (2010:
HK$7,132,000) to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary.

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as follows:

Short-term benefits
Post employment benefits
Share-based payments

The remuneration of key management is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market
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(i)

(i)

(i)

During the vear, the non-controlling interest of Luohe Zhongyu
withdrew registered capital of HK$7,934,000 from Loche Zhongyu
resulting in deemed acquisition of additional interest in Luohe
Zhongyu. The retumn of capital was satisfied by property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payment held by Luohe Zhongyu
with carrying amount of HK$816,000 and HK$5,354,000
respectively. Details are set out in note 40(A)(iii).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company has further acquired additional
interest of 4.5% in Zhongyou Hua Dian from a minority
shareholder at a consideration of RMB10,850,000 (approximately
HK$12,471,000). The consideration was satisfied by way
of transfer of an available-for-sale investment with a carrying
value of RMB10,850,000 (approximately HK$12,471,000) as
a consideration.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Bonds with principal
amount of US$2,000,000 had been converted into 9,012,000
Company’s shares. Details had disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On April 8, 2011, Zhongyu Gas entered into a placing agreement
with the placing agent, pursuant to which the placing agent
agreed to place up to 394,000,000 new shares of Zhongyu Gas
at a price of HK$0.41 per placing share. The board of directors
noted that the placing has been completed on April 18, 2011. As
a result of the placing, the Group's effective interest in Zhongyu
Gas was reduced from approximately 56.33% to approximately
46.96%. As a result, Zhongyu Gas ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Group and become an associate.

Subsequent to a subsidiary of the Company entered into the
Equity Transfer Agreement for the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in Panva Gas (details set out in note 46(ii)), on June 4,
2011, a subsidiary of the Company entered into the supplemental
agreement with the vendors, pursuant to which () a subsidiary
of the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
vendors have conditionally agreed to sell 49% of the entire shares
of Panva Gas for a total cash consideration of HK$259,000,000;
and (i) the vendors have agreed to grant the call option to
the Group for acquiring the remaining 51% issued shares of
Panva Gas held by the vendors at a total cash consideration
of HK$270,300,000 within 1 year after the completion of the
acquisition of 49% of the entire shares of Panva Gas by the
Group. The acquisition was completed in June 2011,

(i)

(i)
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Hai Xia Finance Limited

BRABARLA

lwai's Holdings (Hong Kong)

Limited

Wellgem Asia Limited
EETNERAR

Zhongran Gas (Shenzhen)
Company Limited*

PRBREX(RINARA

itRE

Beijing Zhongran Xiangke
Qil Gas Technology
Company Limited*

SERPRAR A RN
BRAR

I

ge=1l}

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations
A
Wit/
EEHY

Hong Kong
ik

Hong Kong

Bl

Hong Kong
Bk

PRC

i

PRC

PE

PRC

For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
REA

Incorporated

ERjZA

Incorporated

a1

Incorporated
SRR

\Wholly-foreign
owned
enterprises
("WFOE')

IEBELE

WFOE

SNEEALR

Sino-foreign

equity joint

venture

maELE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

HREET
R/ ERMES

Ordinary HK$2
LEkoAT

Ordinary

HK$1,000
Non-voting

deferred shares
HK$1,000,000
(Note 1)
LBMR1,0008T
ERFERT
#&131,000,000% T
(Bis1)

Ordinary HK$10,000
LR 10,0008 7T

Registered
1US$29,800,000

HREX
29,800,000% 7T

Registered
R\VB898,637,000
HMERARE
898,637,0007T

Registered
RMB20,000,000
HMERARE

20,000,0007T

TEMBARE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company
A
JiiEcink o
R/
EREELS
2011 2010
2% CZZ-%f%
% %
100 100%
1007 100%
100¢ 1007
100° 100
100¢ 100¢
60* 60

U

Principal activities

TEEH

Securities investment

EHRE

Investment holding,
property investment
and provision of
management services
to group companies

Property development

VL

Investment holding and treasury

RERERAE

Investment holding and treasury

REARREE

Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Elegant Cheer Limited
BEBRAT

Wuhan China Natural Gas
Investment Company Limited*

REPIMEEERARA

Yiyang Central Gas & City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

aEPIRTRRRE
ARAA

Wuhu City Natural Gas
Development Company
Limited*

BRg AT
BRERDA

AR AN RAR AT

EWARMRARAR

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

EEaTA
it/
EES

Hong Kong
ik

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

e

For the year ended March 31, 2011 EZ —E——F=A=+—HIEFE

Form of
business
structure

3 28
REA

Incorporated

il 12AvA

WFOE

HEEELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PR ELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PR ELR

Limited  liability
company
BREFAT

Limited liability
company

BREAAH

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BEDRS
R/ 2MER

Ordinary HK$10,000
L3EAZ10,000E7T

Registered
RMB69,980,000
HMEAARS

69,980,0007T

Registered
RMB44,000,000

AMERARE
44,000,00070

Registered
RMB100,000,000

AMERARS
100,000,007t

Registered
RMB2,000,000
HMERARE
2,000,00070

Registered
RMB1,000,000
HMERARS
1,000,0007T

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company
N
FEEEa
R/
EREELH
2011 2010
% CZEZ-%%
% %
100 100%
1007 100
80 80*
90 0%
80 80*
70% 707

Principal activities

IRER

Property holding
BENE

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction

EERARLMR
BRE

il

s

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BERARRMR
s

EiERE
Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BEERARRMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BERARRMA

BERE



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

BHTANERENES
BARARE

B AR AR ARAR

Yichang Zhongran City Gas
Development Limited*

EERIETIA
ERBRAA

RHAMMRARAT

Clever Decision Enterprises
Limited

plAzVEl
AR

™ mg

EHRRRIRR
-

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations
A
i,/
EEBY

PRC

RE

PRC

E

PRC

HE

BvI

ZBRK
#5

PRC

e

For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
REA

Limited liability
company
BREEAH

Limited ligbility
company
BREAAH

Limited liability
company
EREELR

Limited liability
company
BREEARA

Incorporated

MR

WFOE

HEBELR

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BEDRA
R/ 2MES

Registered
RMB500,000
HMERARS
500,0007

Registered
RMB2,680,000
HMERARE
2,680,000

Registered
RMB70,000,000
HMEAARS

70,000,0007C

Registered
RMB2,000,000
HMEAARS
2,000,000t

Ordinary US$100
LRERI00ET
Registered
RMVB20,000,000

AMERARE
20,000,0007T

TEMBRRFE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
N
FEEEa
R,/
EREELH

2011 2010
e

“2-%
% %

80" 80"

51 51%

0% 70

95% 96

100 1007

100 100%

o

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMA
TERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BEERARRMR
BERE

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBRRFEOT :

Proportion of

Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
A
AL HRBEA FEEEa
i,/ EBR RE/EMER R /st
WEARER EXBE 370 EXHELS TERH
2011 2010
T CZE-%%
% %
Huainan China Gas City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB72,000,000 pipeline construction
venture
ERTIATRRERARAR  PHE POEERE HMERARS EERARRMA
72,000,0007C BERE
SEHRETRRERAT PRC Sino-foreign Registered 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas
equity joint RMB3,000,000 pipeline construction
venture
i POEERE HMERARS EERARRMA
3,000,007 BERE
Suizhou Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB35,000,000 pipeline construction
venture
BB TR i POEERE HMERARS EERARRMA
BRERAT 35,000,0007C BERE
Xiaogan China Gas Co., Ltd.* PRC Sino-foreign Registered 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas
equity joint RMB48,950,000 pipeline construction
venture
ZRABAARBRAT i POEERE HMERARS EERARRMA
48,950,0007C BERE
Xiaogan (Zhongya) China Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered 100% 100%  Trading of natural gas and gas
Co., Lid* equity joint RMB16,002,000 pipeline construction
venture
ZRADHTRAERARAT  RE POEERE HMERARS EERARRMA
16,002,007 BERE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELARER

Hanchuan Jehina Gas Co., Ltd.”

BRI TRR AR
AROT

Yunmeng China Gas Co., Ltd."

ESPIATRRRRERA

Yingcheng Jiaxu China Gas
Co., Ltd.*

BRI TR ERER AT

Danyyang Znongran Gas
Co., Ltd.*
EETRRARARAT

Pizhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BHFRATRAER
BRAT

Suzhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BB RATRRER
BRAF

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

R TA
gttt/
EXBA

PRC

RE

PRC

RE

PRC

RE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

——F=ZA=t-ALFE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BREA

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PR ELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PR ELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PR ELR

WFOE

HEBELE

WFOE

NEEELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PHRELE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BRDERA
Ra/ERER

Registered
RMB11,274,000

AfEAARR
11,274,007

Registered
RMB9,708,000

AfEAARR
9,708,007

Registered
RMB10,074,000

AfEAARR
10,074,0007C

Registered
HK$20,000,000
FMER
20,000,000/ 7T

Registered
US$3,060,000
EMER
3,060,000 7T

Registered
US$3,625,000

EMER
3,625,000

“FF

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Company

LS
iR
B/
EXEfELA
2011 2010

—E-Z2E

% %

100% 1007

100% 1007

100% 1007

100% 1007

100% 100%

75+ 75"

Principal activities
TEEK

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

EERARRMSA
FiERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

EpRei)
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BEXARRAR
B

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline

EEXAARMEA
BE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

EERARRMR
BERE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELRER

Cangzhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*
BN ERBRLA

Nanpixian Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

ARERIITIE
BRERDA

Wuhuxian Znongran City Gas
Development Co., Lid.*

gL
BRERERAR

Qinzhou Znhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

PP RETRR
ERARAR

Yangzhong Znongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

HRR AR
BRERAA

Tianmen Znongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

RERRATRAER
BRAT

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

R TA
g/
EXNE

PRC

PE

PRC

RE

PRC

HE

PRC

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BER

WFOE

SNEEALR

\WFOE
NEBERE
Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture
mHRERE
\WFOE

HEEELE

WFOE

HEEELE

WFOE

HEBELR

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

HREEfT
RA/ERER

Registered
HK$2,000,000
HMEAR
2,000,000%7T

Registered
HK$2,000,000
HREX
2,000,000%7C

Registered
RMB10,000,000

A EAARR
10,000,007

Registered
RMB20,000,000
AMERARE

20,000,0007

Registered
US$1,000,000
FMER
1,000,000%7T

Registered
RMB10,000,000
AMERARS

10,000,0007C

E—F

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Company

RRF
FiEERT
R/
BXEERLS
2011 2010

I-%F

% %

100% 100

100% 100%

100% 100"

100% 1007

100% 1007

100 1007

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline

BEERARRMA
BE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BEERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
EEXAARMEA
EERE



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Baoji Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.

BB ITIRRER
BRAF

Nanjing Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BRR TR ERERA

Yulin Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

IHFRETHRA
BRERQA

SEETMITRRERARAR

Fushun Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BRI RAERERAT

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

EEaLTA
it/
EES

PRC

e

PRC

e

PRC

PRC

e

PRC

e

For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ - E——F=A=+—HILFE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
REA

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

POEERE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

POEERE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

POEERE

WFOE

HEBELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

POEERE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BREDRS
R/ 2RMES

Registered
RMB265,725,000

AMERARE
265,725,0007

Registered
RMB200,000,000

AMERARE
200,000,007

Registered
RMB20,000,000

AMERARE
20,000,007

Registered
RMB50,000,000

AMERARE
50,000,007

Registered
RMB133,330,000

AMERARE
133,330,0007C

—E—F

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Company

LA
FEERT
A/
AR EETA

2011 2010

I-%F

% %

64+ 64

100% 100%

100 100%

100% 100

100 100%

Principal activities
IEER

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BERARRMR
BERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRRMA
EERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRMA
EERE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELARER

Wuwel Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

ERTIRATHRR
BRARLA

ERMIBRARBREAMLA

BEMRRRARNRER AT

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

R TA
g/
EXNE

PRC

PE

PRC

PE

PRC

PE

PRC

E

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BEA

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PaELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PaELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PaELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PaELE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BRBERA
RE /&R

Registered
RMB18,000,000
HMERARS

18,000,0007C

Registered

RMB5,060,000
HMERARS
5,060,007
Registered
RMB183,800,000
HMERARS
183,800,0007

Registered
RMB30,000,000
HMERARS

30,000,000

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Company

AR
RS
Bx /&R
BXEERLS

2011 2010

5 Z2-%%

% %

100 100%

100 100%

80" 80°

80" 80°

Principal activities
IEEHR

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BEERAARMA

BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

BEERAARMA
BERE

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

EERARRMA
BERE

Natural gas refil services and
gas station administration

FARNERER
EEMRI
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELARERE

AEMREREETRERAR

Zhongyou Hua Dian

HEPaRERERAF

BN RRARAR

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

EEaTA
g/
EXb

PRC

PRC

PRC

RE

PRC

HE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BEA

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PaELE

Limited
ity
company

BREAAT

Limited
ity
company

Limited
liability
company

BREFAT

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

HREET
RA/ERER

Registered
RMB10,000,000

AMERARE
10,000,000

Registered
RMB220,000,000

AMERARE
220,000,0007%

Registered
RMB500,000,000%

AfER
A& #500,000,00075

Registered
RMB20,000,000

EMER
ARH20,000,0007

TEMBRRFE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

o

held by the Company Principal activities

A
Jiigcink o
B/
EREELS

2011 2010
“E——%  Z%-%%
% %
80% 80"
100 87.6%
100 100
100 87.6%
(note 2)
(M2)

TEEH

Design, construction
and maintenance of
city pipeline projects

WmEBEER 2
Rt BERRE

Trading of LPG

BERILARR

Investment in

petrochemical facilities
of storage and
transportation,
fundamental facilties
of pier, sales of raw
chemical materials and
construction materials

RERKERR
EE B
IRER -
BELEHHR
BEMH

Sale of inflammable
gas, LPG, inflammable
iquid and inflammable solid
HERMARE
RILERE - SINRER
SiEE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBRRFEOT :

Proportion of

Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
NG|
A HRBRA FEEEA
gim/ EBR BA/EMER R%/
WEARER 3 B EAREELH TEER
2011 2010
—T——% C%-%%
% %

B E AR AR PRC Limited Registered 1007 87.5%  PRetailing and wholesaling
ligbility RMB3,000,000 (note 2) of LPG and accessories
company

i BREAAH HMER (KizE2) RiCRBRRESETE k%
ARH3,000,0007

ENENRBRRERAT PRC Limited Registered 65" 56.9%  Manufacturing of highly
liability 1USD8,000,000 (note 2) purified LPG, highly
company purified propane and butane

i BREAAH HMER (KizE2) EERFURILARR -
8,000,000 7T BERRRT &

ERPHEEARAR PRC Limited Registered 86+ 52.5%  Storing and trading of
ligbility USD7,000,000 (note 2) LPG. Sales of chemical
company products, fillng of

LPG and delivery of
hazardous products
e BREEAT HMER (Miz2) RICRBREFREE
7,000,000%7T HELSER
RILAREMR
RiekmEs

TE PRC Limited Registered 50.86* 445 Producing and storing
liability US$10,000,000 (note 2) (note 3) PG and chemical
company product

ikt BREEAT AR (Mi2)  (W#E3) RCERERIEZEER
10,000,000%7T EEREE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEARER

EFF AR RER AR

China Gas Corporate Services

PERRLERBEARAT

lwai Style Limited
Limited

HEER

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations
A
Him/
s

PRC

T

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

&

PRC

el

For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ —E——F=A=+—HILFE

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BRER

Limited
liability
company

Incorporated
Limited
Bauiav

Incorporated

A

Limited

liability
company

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

ARBRA
R/ ERER

Registered
RMB21,250,000

HMER
AR#21,250,0007T

Ordinary
HK$2
EaER
2B

Ordinary
HKB2
Rk
BT

Registered
RMB60,000,000

EMERARS
60,000,0007C

TEMBRARFBENT

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities

NG|
B Rf
RA/ G
EXEELS TEEH
2011 2010
T4 CZT-%F
% %
707 61.256"  Operation of gas in cities,
(note 2) filing of LPG, delivery
of hazardous products
and wholesaling and
refaiing of chemical products
(M2) genmna
BICRBREME -
felamER
RHEREE
BEm
100% 100" Nominee and secretarial services
REARWER
100 100 Provision of management
services to the Group
RASEREERRE
100 100%  Shipping delivery

services, technical
development, providing
consultancy services and
services and agent of delivery
ERT - Rl R
BRREREERS AR
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 BEZ —E——F=A=+—HIEFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELAREE

{8

BB

Briliant China

Zhongmin Zhongran

PRAM

HAALARRA

EELE

160

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

R TA
Hitl/
BRI

PRC

RE

PRC

RE

RERAMS

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

Form of
business
structure

EHR
BEA

Limited
liability
company

BREAAH

Limited
liability
company

BREAAH

Incorporated

ERlIjZA

Limited
liability
company

BREEARA

Limited
liability
company

BREFAT

Limited
liability
company

BREFAT

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BRBERA
RA/ERER

Registered
RMB30,000,000

AfEAARE
30,000,0007

Ordinary
RMBG68,500,000

LERARE
68,500,0007T
Ordinary
US$50,000

L iBMk50,000% T

Ordinary
HK$30,000,000

£1#0%30,000,000%7

Ordinary
RMB40,000,000

TRRARE
40,000,0007C

Ordinary
RMB15,000,000

TRRARE
15,000,000

TEMBRRFE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company
A
28T
R/
EREELH
2011 2010
—T——% CZE-%%
% %
100 100
80" 80
1007 100
100% 100
100% 100%
80" 80

e

Principal activities

IEEH

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRMAEERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERRRRMAEERE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EEXAARMAEERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EEXAARMAEERE



For the year ended March 31, 2011 BZ - E——F=A=+—HILFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELARER

ek

-
i
mR
(it

Zhongyu Gas

PHITR

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations
A
Hxm/
3

PRC

PRC

Cayman Island

FERS

Form of Paid up issued
business share capital/
structure registered capital
BHRERT
EBR RE/EREA
B
Limited Ordinary
liability RMB20,000,000
company
BREAAH LARARY
50,000,0007T
Limited Registered
liability RMBG0,000,000
company
BREAAH HMEAARS
60,000,0007T
Limited Ordinary
liability HK$19,740,000
company
BRRERA  BEAR19,740,000% T

English name is for identification purposes only.

# The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered

capital/registered capital directly held by the Company.

#* The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered

capital/registered capital indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

TEMBRRFE

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
N
FEEET
R/
EAREELH

011 2000
“F5 3%

2%
% %

95 95

60 60"

56.33* -

LU

Principal activities

IREH

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRMAEERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRMAEERE

Investment holding,
trading of natural gas and
gas pipeline construction
RERE EERRR
kR EERE

. R ABEHRMR -

# RABEBEZEBITHRA/FEMELR
HIEMEAREELS -

e RARBBAZEBITRAGEMEARS
R MEAREELS -

CRESEERAHAREEMAEELE
BYRrARAGIENBAT - ¥R

R REEGHBARFES

=

BHERER
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For the year ended March 31, 2011 EZ —E——F=A=+—HIEFE
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Notes:

None

The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, practically
carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or
vote at any general meeting of the Company or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

The increase in effective interest in these companies, being
subsidiaries of Zhongyou Hua Dian, attributable to the Group was
due to the acquisition of additional interest of 12.5% in Zhongyou
Hua Dian during the year ended March 31, 2011 as disclosed in
note 40(A)(i).

The Group has 44.5% indirect effective interest in T &k A Jf through
the 50.86% direct interest held by an 87.5% owned subsidiary,
Zhongyou Hua Dian for the year ended March 31, 2010. Therefore
the Group has control over this entity and it is considered as a
subsidiary of the Company.

of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the

end of the both years.

(1) BEEEMHAIFEARESE  MER LI
T FSUERAL S, BIEAR D BMEMARR A
gRE  HEgadneg LREANEE
50 F DR 2R o

@ AEBRZERAR(THEEZMER
ADFTE 2 BREREN  NRABE-F
—— A=t —RILLFERBETHE
BEIMORERE - FHERME
40(A)0) »

@ #HE-_ZT-—ZEF=-A=+—-HLLHF
B AKEFE R R B O%Em 2
B B8 X B oh # E PTRES0.86%2 B
B R AR 0T &R P Om R 44 5% % '
D At AKREREERBHE
FEHg YHERAKNARZHE

AR

& BB 2~ R0 R B 2 A SR R I SR AR (B



Results
Turnover

Profit for the year
attributable to
owners of the Company

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the
owners of the Company
Minority interests

ES
CES

VNG
2PN
FRMEM

BERBRA
BEE

#BafE

ARAEE A
iR
LR ER

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—-HLEFE

2010 2009 2008
- —ZTNE ETNE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET
(restated)

(E%))

10,211,959 6,323,823 2,652,075

875,636 103,679 141,059
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—H

2010 2009 2008

—E-2F ZETHEFE  ZBTN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET FET

(restated) (restated)

(Z71)) 27

22,097,504 18,024,749 11,306,127
(17,767,357)  (14,042,621)  (7,620,120)

5,230,237 3,982,128 3,686,007

4,123,022 3,223,270 3,140,672
1,107,215 758,858 545,435

5,230,237 3,982,128 3,686,007

2007
—ETLF
HK$000
TET
(restated)

(E71))

1,236,469

200,789

2007
ZTTLF
HK$'000
TET
(restated)

(&%)

7,308,847
(4,616,042)

2,692,805
2,358,549

334,256

2,692,805
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Location

bk

Leasehold land and buildings

HELHRIEF

In Hong Kong:
AR

16/F., AXA Centre
No. 1571 Gloucester Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong
BB

BT
ELITE1515%

LR 1612

In the People’s Republic of China:

RAEARKAME

YT B KE50025%

HE EISBEE 1318 K 1818

ERTERPIEZ IR

Investment properties

REW*

No. 28-30 Kai Tak Road
Kowloon City
Kowloon
Hong Kong
B
B
JLEER
R {EiE28-30%%

Development site located
on western side of
Gongnong Bing Road
Huimin District

Hohhot City

Inner Mongolia
Autoriomous Region

the PRC

mNEs

WG BERE

S Vsl

B K&

TREKMASE ERRBM

164

Type
Rl

Office premises
P /NE 7S

Commercial

[GES

Office premises
MAEYE

Vacant land
=E T

Residential/
Commercial

E=V

Group’s interest (%)

AREEE 2 (%)

100

100

100

100

51

Lease term

Y

Long lease

RHEIMED

Medium term lease

hEIES

Medium term lease

AT

Medium term lease

AT LY

Medium term lease

AR A
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CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Room 1601, 16/F, AXA Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

www.chinagasholdings.com.hk
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